
 

 
 

To: Members of the  
PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 1 

 

 Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 
Councillor Christine Harris (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Kathy Bance MBE, Katy Boughey, Kira Gabbert, Samaris Huntington-
Thresher, Charles Joel, Tony Owen and Suraj Sharma 
 

 

 A meeting of the Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on 
THURSDAY 31 MARCH 2022 AT 7.00 PM 

 

 TASNIM SHAWKAT 
Director of Corporate Services & Governance 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 

 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Stephen Wood 

   stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk  

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8313 4316   

   DATE: 22 March 2022 

Members of the public can speak at Plans Sub-Committee meetings on planning reports, 
contravention reports or tree preservation orders. To do so, you must have 

 already written to the Council expressing your view on the particular matter, and 

 indicated your wish to speak by contacting the Democratic Services team by no later than 
10.00am on the working day before the date of the meeting. 

 
These public contributions will be at the discretion of the Chairman. They will normally be limited to 
two speakers per proposal (one for and one against), each with three minutes to put their view 
across. 
 

To register to speak please telephone Democratic Services on 020 8313 
4316 
     ---------------------------------- 
If you have further enquiries or need further information on the content 
of any of the applications being considered at this meeting, please 
contact our Planning Division on 020 8313 4956 or e-mail 
planning@bromley.gov.uk 
     ---------------------------------- 
Information on the outline decisions taken will usually be available on 
our website (see below) within a day of the meeting. 
 
 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

 
A G E N D A 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

3    CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 3RD FEBRUARY 2022  

(Pages 1 - 10) 

4    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 

Report 

No. 

 
Ward 

Page 
No.  

 
Application Number and Address 

4.1 Bickley 11 - 32 (17/02468/CONDT8) - St Hugh's Playing 
Fields, Bickley Road, Bromley  

 

4.2 Copers Coper 33 - 70 (20/05047/FULL1) - Woodhayes, 76A The 
Avenue, Beckenham, BR3 5ES  

 

4.3 Penge and Cator 71 - 102 (20/05254/FULL1) 85A Royston Road, 

SE20 7QW.  
 

4.4 Cray Valley East 103 - 116 (21/02546/FULL1) - Land Opposite Econ 

House, Old Maidstone Road, Sidcup, 
Bromley  

 

4.5 Bromley Town 117 - 136 (21/04122/FULL1) - 2 Bromley Avenue, BR1 
4BQ  

 

4.6 Copers Cope 137 - 148 (21/05366/FULL1) - 66 High Street, 

Beckenham, BR3 1ED  
 

4.7 Cray Valley East 149 - 192 (20/02234/FULL1) - Rosedale, Hockenden 

Lane, Swanley, BR8 7QN  
 

5   CONTRAVENTIONS AND OTHER ISSUES 
 

NO REPORTS  

 

6   TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS 
 

NO REPORTS  

 
 

 
 



1 
 

PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 1 

 

Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 3 February 2022 
 

 
Present: 

 

Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 
Councillor Christine Harris (Vice-Chairman)  

Councillors Kathy Bance MBE, Katy Boughey, Kira Gabbert, 
Samaris Huntington-Thresher, Charles Joel, Tony Owen and 
Suraj Sharma 
 

 
Also Present: 

 

 
 
78   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE 

MEMBERS 

 

There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 

79   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

None 
 
80   CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 25th NOVEMBER 

2021 

 

Confirmed 
 
 

81   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
81.1  Kinross, North End Lane, Downe, Orpington, 
BR6 7HQ.  
 

Description of Application: Minor material amendment 
comprising of variation of conditions 2 and 4 of planning 

Application Reference: DC/19/03568/FULL6 for 
demolition of existing conservatory and erection of single 
storey ground floor extension to the side, elevational 

alterations to provide roof over extended bungalow with 
habitable accommodation in the roof space and 

rooflights to sides/front - to allow for incorporating sliding 
doors and juliet balconies and the use of new slate tiles 
instead of retaining existing tiles. 

 
The Head of Development Management provided a brief 

introduction to the application and said that the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 
 

2 

application lay within the Green Belt. He showed 
Members some photos of the house as altered. It was 

noted that the application was retrospective. 
 
The officer recommendation was that planning 

permission be granted, subject to the conditions as 
outlined in the report. 

 
Oral representations were heard in support of the 
application.   

 
Ward Councillor Richard Scoates was not present at the 

meeting, but he requested that the following statement 
be read out and recorded in the minutes: 
 

‘I do not have objections to the minor alteration to 
condition 4, but i do object to the variation of condition 2 

to allow larger sliding windows and Juliet balconies. This 
condition was given in the previous permission to protect 
the neighbouring property's amenities from being 

overlooked. There is a only a small separation strip 
between Kinross and Little Orchard which will result in 
overlooking into the garden and through a bedroom 

window of Little Orchard.  
 

Condition 2 allowed the previous application to be 
acceptable, and removing it will defeat the object of 
conditioning an approval when considering the pros and 

cons of an application. I would therefore ask the 
committee to approve a split decision to allow changes to 

condition 4 for the roof tiles, but to refuse alterations to 
condition 2 on the grounds that it would be to the 
detriment of the neighbours residential amenity.’ 

 
The Council's legal representative advised the Chairman 

that it would not be possible to approve a split decision. 
Only a Planning Inspector could approve that.  
 

Members, having considered the report objections and 
representations RESOLVED THAT THE APPLICATION 

BE REFUSED for the following reason: 
 
The proposed alterations would have an 

unacceptable impact on the amenities of the 
neighbouring property, by reason of increased 

opportunities for overlooking and a loss of privacy, 
contrary to Policies 6 and 37 of the Bromley Local 
Plan.    

 
 

Page 2



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 

 

3 
 

81.2 Babington House School, Grange Drive, 

Chislehurst, Bromley, BR7 5ES  
 

Description of Application: Erection of single storey 

extension to south east elevation to provide permanent 
classroom. 

 
The Head of Development Management stated that the 
single storey extension had already been constructed 

and completed so in essence this was a retrospective 
planning application.  

 
The Planning Officers had recommended that the 
application be approved. 

 
It was noted that objections to the application had been 

received. 
 
Ward Councillor Katy Boughey commented that pupil 

numbers were due to increase from 401 to 420 by 
September 2022 and that the Highways Department had 

not raised any concerns. However Cllr Boughey was 
aware from her local knowledge of the area that parking 
on Grange Drive and the surrounding roads when pupils 

and staff arrive and depart was very busy, in fact it could 
be described as chaotic. This was mainly due to 

inconsiderate parking by parents.  
 
Councillor Boughey expressed the view that an up to 

date Travel Plan was definitely needed. She was 
concerned that a Travel Plan had not been submitted 

with the application and requested that an up to date 
Travel Plan be provided by the beginning of April 2022. 
Councillor Boughey noted that this was a retrospective 

application and was not impressed with the fact that the 
applicant was not paying proper attention to planning law 

and procedures. 
 
Councillor Boughey referred to a previous application 

from the school with respect to the sports pitch. As part 
of this planning application a condition for permission 

was that planting be undertaken along the boundary wall 
with Clifford Avenue. It was the case that one year later, 
despite two requests from the Planning Officers, this 

condition had not been complied with. There was no 
indication that the school had any intentions to comply 

with this condition as they had installed false grass right 
up to the Boundary Fence. Cllr Boughey felt that some 
form of action should be authorised by Committee to 

Page 3



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 
 

4 

elicit a positive outcome with respect to this condition, so 
that planting could be in place by April 2022.  

 
Councillor Boughey referred to Section 7.3.8 of the 
report where it mentioned the possibility of the school 

accessing he roof area in the future. She stated that if 
Members were minded to grant the application that a 

condition be added that stipulated that no structure 
should be added to the roof without prior planning 
permission.          

 
Ward Councillor Suraj Sharma agreed with the issues 

raised by Cllr Boughey with respect to the Travel Plan 
and expressed surprise that this structure had been built 
without seeking planning permission first. He said that he 

was not against the structure being there, but did see the 
need for a Travel Plan.    

 
Members referred back to the issue that had been 
previously raised with respect to the planting conditions 

that had not been complied with. They asked if 
enforcement action in this regard could be authorised by 
the Committee. The Council's legal representative 

advised that this request could be minuted and that it 
could be dealt with under delegated powers. He said that 

this request could be put forward to the Planning 
Enforcement Manager with the requested enforcement 
action be implemented if he considered it appropriate. 

 
It was agreed that a legal agreement be drawn up so that 

the temporary modular building would not co-exist with 
the new structure. 
 

A Member felt that this application would not be the end 
of the applications from the school and she suggested 

that the Council request that the school submit a master 
plan that would highlight planned future development. 
The Head of Development Management said that an 

informative to this effect to the school could be 
something that could be considered.    

 
Members, having considered the report, objections and 
representations, RESOLVED that the application BE 

DEFERRED to seek the submission of a Travel Plan, to 

request a Masterplan for future development proposals, 

and for a legal agreement to secure the removal of the 
modular building. The Planning Enforcement Manager 
was also to consider if enforcement action was expedient 

for the failure to comply with the condition for boundary 
planting. 

Page 4



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 

 

5 
 

 

81.3  Land Rear Of 165 And 167, White Horse Hill, 
Chislehurst  
 

Description of Application: Erection of a two storey, three 
bedroom, detached dwelling house with associated 

access, parking and amenity space. 
 

The Head of Development Management explained to the 

Committee that this application was originally brought to 
Plans Sub-Committee 3 on the 6th of January 2022. 

Members did resolve to grant planning permission. 
However, subsequently an error in the report was 
brought to the officers’ attention regarding the number of 

objections and support comments. This meant that when 
the report was originally presented it looked as if there 

were more support comments than objections. This had 
now been corrected and so the report was now being re-
presented to the Committee for consideration. 

 
The recommendation was to grant planning permission 

subject to the conditions outlined in the report. 
 
It was noted that a late objection had been received and 

the Head of Development Management explained the 
nature of the objection. 

 
Oral objections to the application were heard on the 
night. 

 
Ward Councillors Katie Boughey and Suraj Sharma 

noted that this application had originally been brought to 
the Plans 1 Committee on January the 6th and was 
being represented to this Committee because of an 

administrative error in terms of the number of recorded 
supporters and objectors. The Ward Councillors 

considered that this clerical error made no difference 
materially to the application and they recommended that 
the application be permitted as per the recommendation 

in the report. 
 

Members having considered the reports objections and 
representations, RESOLVED THAT PERMISSION BE 
GRANTED as recommended, subject to the conditions 

and informatives set out in the report  
 
 
81.4 59 Downs Hill, Beckenham, BR3 5ET 

 

The Description of Application was noted as follows; 

Page 5



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 
 

6 

 
T2 Ash - Remove. 

T3 Norway Maple - Remove. 
T4 Oak - Remove. 
SUBJECT TO TPO 1387 (2.7.1997) 

 
The application had been referred to committee on 

grounds of possible financial risk . 
 
The recommendation was consent in part for the removal 

of the T2 Ash Tree, 
 

The Chairman explained to the Committee that the application had incomplete 
information with respect to bore holes and more evidence may be required before any 
more trees should be felled.  

 
Members having considered the report, objections and representations RESOLVED that 

the application be DEFERRED without any prejudice to future consideration to seek 

further details regarding evidence of the boreholes. 
 

 
82 CONTRAVENTIONS AND OTHER ISSUES 

None. 

 
83 TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS: 

 
84 

COPERS COPE; 
CONSERVATION AREA 

 Oakhill House, 39 The Knoll, Beckenham, BR3     

5JH 

 
.  

Description of Application: T1 Oak tree - Section 
fell as close to ground level as possible and 

replace. 
 
Members had to decide whether or not to consent 

to the proposed tree removal. The 
recommendation of the Planning Officers was that 

consent be granted. 
 
Oral objections to the application were heard on 

the night.     
 

The Chairman stated that she had received a 
number of emails from local residents expressing 
concern for the well-being of the tree and she had 

also been contacted by Ward Councillor Stephen 
Wells who opposed the felling of the oak tree. 

 

Page 6



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 

 

7 
 

A  Member and the Chairman noted that the TPO 

for this tree had been confirmed on 25th November 
2021 and they therefore wondered why it was now 
being brought back to Committee when there were 

no material changes from the previous application. 
 

Members, having considered the report, objections 
and representations, RESOLVED that the 
APPLICATION BE REFUSED because the 

proposed works were considered unnecessary at 
this time, had not been sufficiently justified and 

would therefore have an undue impact on the 
amenity of the local area. This application would 
negate the objectives of the TPO and conflict with 

Policies 73 and 74 of the Bromley Local Plan 
(adopted January 2019) and Policy G7 of the 

London Plan (adopted March 2021.    
 
85 

CHISLEHURST;CONSERVATION 
AREA 

Confirmation of TPO 2727--Land adjacent to 

27 Holbrook Lane, Chislehurst  

 

Description of Application: Confirmation of Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) 2727. 
 

The officer recommendation was that the TPO be 
confirmed without modification.  

 
Oral representations in objection to the 
application were heard at the meeting.  

 
Photographs of the trees were circulated at the 

meeting. 
 
The application had been referred to the 

Committee as an objection had been received.    
 

The Chairman asked if it was correct that the 
TPO had been made collectively on 5 individual 
trees and 2 groups of trees. The Senior Tree 

Officer confirmed that this was the case as site 
access had not been possible. He also said that it 

could be possible to modify the TPO.   
 
Ward Councillor Katy Boughey asked if a site visit 

had been made. The Tree Officer explained that 
visits had been attempted but the site had not 

been accessible. Councillor Boughey asked how 
site access could be obtained as this was key in 
assessing which individual trees should benefit 

from a TPO. She suggested that before a 

Page 7



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 
 

8 

decision was made, perhaps arrangements could 
be made with the objector to arrange a site visit. 

The Senior Tree Officer replied that providing the 
6 month expiry was not exceeded, the application 
could be deferred for a site visit.  

 
Cllr Suraj Sharma motioned that the application 

be deferred so that a site visit could be 
undertaken and this was seconded by Cllr 
Boughey. 

 
The Chairman proposed that the TPO be 

confirmed for all trees and then a site visit be 
arranged with the objector to see which trees (if 
any) should be felled or trimmed etc. This had 

been motioned earlier by Councillor Bance.   
 

A Member wondered why an application of this 
nature could come to Committee without a site 
visit.  

 
The Tree Officer responded that two site visits 
had been made but it had not been possible to 

gain access. Councillor Samaris Huntington 
Thresher supported the proposal to confirm the 

TPO followed by a site visit. Councillor Boughey 
withdrew her motion for a deferral.  
 

There was a unanimous vote to confirm the TPO.  
 

Members having consulted the report, 
objections and representations, RESOLVED 
THAT THE TPO BE CONFIRMED for the 

reasons and subject to the conditions and 
informatives as set out in the report of the 

Assistant Director, Planning.  
 

Post Meeting Note: 

 
The landowner/objector has requested that the 

site description could be amended to being Plots 
29 & 31 Holbrook Lane rather than land adjacent 
to 27 Holbrook Lane to avoid ownership and 

communication confusion. 
 

The Tree Manager has responded to say that the 
Council need only name a parcel of land to 
identify it associated with the TPO plan. So 

therefore the original name is sufficient for this 
purpose.  

Page 8



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 

 

9 
 

 
86 
ORPINGTON; 

Confirmation of TPO 2734--17 Avalon Close 
Orpington Kent BR6 9BS 

 

Description of Application: Confirmation of Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) 2734 at 17 Avalon Close 

Orpington Kent BR6 9BS. 
 
The officer recommendation was that the Tree 

Preservation Order be confirmed. 
 

Members having consulted the report, objections and 
representations, RESOLVED THAT THE TPO BE 
CONFIRMED WITHOUT MODIFICATION for the 

reasons as set out in the report of the Assistant 
Director, Planning.  

 
87 
CHISLEHURST; 

Confirmation of TPO 2745-28 Holbrook Lane 
Chislehurst BR7 6PF 

 
Description of Application: Confirmation of Tree 

Preservation Order (TPO) 2745 at 28 Holbrook Lane 
Chislehurst BR7 6PF. 
 

The officer recommendation was that the Tree 
Preservation Order be confirmed. 

 
Members having consulted the report, objections 
and representations, RESOLVED THAT THE TPO 

BE CONFIRMED WITHOUT MODIFICATION for the 
reasons as set out in the report of the Assistant 

Director, Planning.  

 
88 

SHORTLANDS; 

Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 

2758 - 19 & 30 Broadoaks Way, Bromley, BR2 0UA 

 

Description of Application: Confirmation of Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) 2758. 
 

This matter had been referred to Committee and an 
objection had been received. 

 
The officer recommendation was that the TPO be 
allowed to lapse. 

 
Members having consulted the report, objections 

and representations, RESOLVED THAT THE TPO 
BE ALLOWED TO LAPSE for the reasons as set 
out in the report of the Assistant Director, 

Planning..  

Page 9



Plans Sub-Committee No. 1 
3 February 2022 
 

10 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
The meeting ended at 8.20 pm 

 
 
 

Chairman 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 10



 
Committee 
Date 

 
31.03.2022 
 

 
Address 

St Hugh's Playing Fields Bickley Road Bickley Bromley  

Application 
Number 

17/02468/CONDT8 
 

Officer  - Claire Brew 

 

Ward 
 

Bickley 
 

 

Proposal 
 

Details of conditions submitted in relation to planning 
permission ref: 17/02468/FULL1: Condition 24 - Community 

Use Agreement 
 

Applicant 
 

Bullers Wood Multi Academy Trust 
 

Agent 
 

Matthew Blythin 
DHA Planning  
 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

Call-In 
 

Councillor call in 

 
 

Yes - further degradation 
of residential amenities 

due to the additional 
hours/days being 
proposed for the 

community uses. 
 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

  

 

APPROVAL OF DETAILS 

 
KEY DESIGNATIONS  

 

Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area 
London City Airport Safeguarding 

Smoke Control 
Urban Open Space 

Adjacent to Conservation Area 
 
 

Representation  

summary  

 
 

The Local Planning Authority is not required to publicise 

applications for discharge of conditions or notify 
adjoining occupiers in the way that a planning application 
would be publicised.  Irrespective of this a significant 

number of representations were received. 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4.1



Total number of responses  174 

Number in support  46 

Number of objections 128 

 
1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  

 

 The community use of this new educational facility was established 

under the original planning permission for the school and is acceptable 
in principle  
 

 The use of the facilities in the manner proposed would not result in 
significant harm to the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring buildings 

and those of future occupants, by reason of noise and disturbance 
 

 No unacceptable impact on highway safety or severe residual 

cumulative impacts on the road network would occur 
 

2. LOCATION  

 
Fig. 1: Existing Site layout for Bullers Wood Boys school (as approved under 
application 17/04478/FULL1) (Source: Lloyd Bore) 

 
 

2.1 The site consists of Bullers Wood Boys School which has been operating 
from this site since September 2019. The site also forms the playing 
fields and partial sports provision for Bullers Wood Girls School to the 

north-east of the site.  All of the temporary modules providing school 

Page 12



accommodation while the permanent school was being constructed, 
have now been removed from site. 

 
2.2 The site is designated as Urban Open Space in the Bromley Local Plan.   

 
2.3 All the trees on the site are covered by a Tree Preservation Order. The 

boundaries to the site are largely comprised of trees and hedgerow.  

 
2.4 The site forms a triangular parcel of land with Bickley Road, Chislehurst 

Road and Pines Road bordering the site and there are residential 
dwellings the site on three of its sides.  To the south eastern corner are 
a number of large detached dwellings and their respective garden areas 

which back onto the site.  
2.5 Directly adjoining the western site boundary is the Stephen James BMW 

car dealership. 
 
2.6 The site is not in a conservation area.  Bickley Conservation area 

extends along Pines Road adjacent to the east of the site.   
 

2.7 Bickley Road is an A road (A222) and Pines Road is a one-way road 
access from the signalised junction on Bickley Road. The site is situated 
within PTAL Zone 2-3. 

 
3.  PROPOSAL 

 

3.1 This is an application for the approval of details pursuant to Condition 24 
of permission ref.17/02468/FULL1 which states:  

  
“The use hereby permitted shall not be commenced until a Community Use 
Agreement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The Community Use Agreement shall apply to the outdoor sports 
pitches, MUGA and sports hall and shall include details of pricing policy, hours 
of use, access by non - educational establishment users, management 
responsibilities and a mechanism for review. The development shall be used in 
compliance with the approved Community Use Agreement.” 

 

3.2 In order to discharge this condition, the following information was 
submitted:  

 

 Application form 

 Covering letter dated 16.12.2020 

 Letter from the School dated 25.05.2021 

 Email dated 15.10.21 

 Supplemental material for Bullers Wood School for Boys Community 
Use Agreement 

 Community Use Agreement March 2022 V3 
 
3.3 Since the initial submission, the applicant has submitted several 

versions of the Community Use Agreement (CUA) which have included 
various amendments made in order to try and address concerns raised 

Page 13



by neighbouring residents and consultees during the course of the 
application.  March 2022 V3 is the current version on which basis the 

applicant would like the condition to be determined.  It includes a limit on 
weekend use to between 9.00am and 4.30pm and sets out that the 

facilities will be closed on Bank Holidays.   
 
3.4 The CUA is based on the standard Sport England template.  It is a legal 

document and the definitions therein were developed by Sport England 

in association with a professional law firm.  Further information can be 

found at: 

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-

planning/planning-for-sport/community-use-agreements 

3.5 Schedule 2 of the CUA sets out the ‘Arrangements for Community Use’.  

Some of the key matters covered in the CUA are summarised below: 

 Facilities 
 

3.6 The indoor and outdoor sports areas and facilities to be made available 
for Community Use shall comprise the approved Multi Use Games Area 

(MUGA), the playing fields and the Sports Hall, as shown in the plan 
below, together with any ancillary facilities such as changing rooms. 

 
3.7 It is relevant to highlight that the proposed MUGA in the south of the site 

adjacent to Bickley Road (currently being considered under application 

ref 20/03904/FULL1) does not form part of the proposed Community Use 
Agreement (CUA). 

 

 
Fig 2: Facilities to be made available for Community Use (Community Use Agreement, 
Version 5, November 2021) 

Page 14

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/planning-for-sport/community-use-agreements
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/planning-for-sport/community-use-agreements


 

Proposed Hours of Access 

 
3.8  TERM TIME: 

 
Mon – Fri:   6.00pm – 9.00pm (MUGA and Playing field)* 

 

6.00pm – 9.30pm (indoor areas) 
 

Sat and Sun:  9.00am – 4.30pm 
 

* use of the MUGAs and playing fields will be seasonally constrained by 
the available daylight hours as there is no external floodlighting for 

these areas 

 
3.9 SCHOOL HOLIDAYS: 
 

Mon - Fri:  8.00am – 9.00pm (all areas) 
 

Sat and Sun: 9.00am – 4:30pm 
 

Bank Holidays: Closed 

 
Christmas Day to New Years Day (inclusive): Closed 

 

3.10 Lettings will be managed so as to avoid Community Use lettings taking 
place concurrently with any whole-school events, including Open Days, 

Parents’ Evenings and Sports Day 
 
Parking Arrangements 
 

3.11 All car parking on site comprising the main car park, visitor car park and 

disabled parking bays near the main entrance shall be available to park 
for all community users.  This provides a total of 69 parking spaces with 
capacity for an additional 20 vehicles in the drop-off bays.  For infrequent 

larger events, the hard play area near the Chislehurst Road entrance 
shall also be made available for overspill parking. 

 
3.12 Hirers and community users will be advised that they should, in the first 

instance, use the on-site parking and if none is available, they should 

park respectfully and not across driveways or in a manner which would 
cause a nuisance/danger to highway users.  

 
3.13 The school will make it clear to hirers and community users that there 

are a variety of public transportation options available via Bickley Station 

and bus stops along Bickley Road. Users will be directed to TFL for 
timetables and services. 

 
 
 

Page 15



4.  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

4.1 16/03315/FULL1: Proposed erection of a 6FE Secondary Boys School 

comprising a part 2 storey, part 3 storey school building of 8,443m2 

including a sports hall (also for wider community use) together with hard 
and soft landscaping, creation of a new vehicular access on Chislehurst 
Road, 68 parking spaces, drop off/pick up area and associated works. 

Erection of a temporary 2 storey classroom block on site for 12 months 
to accommodate 5 classrooms, a laboratory, offices and toilets - Refused 

and dismissed at appeal on 11th December 2017, the main issue being 
the effect of the proposal on highway safety in the surrounding area. 

 
4.2 17/02468/FULL1: Proposed erection of a 6FE Secondary Boys School 

comprising a part 2 storey, part 3 storey school building of 8,443m2 

including a sports hall (also for wider community use) together with hard 
and soft landscaping, creation of a new vehicular access on Chislehurst 
Road, 69 parking spaces, drop off/pick up area and associated works. 

Erection of a temporary 2 storey classroom block on site for 12 months 
to accommodate 5 classrooms, a laboratory, offices and toilets 

(amended submission of application DC/16/03315/FULL1) – Allowed at 
Appeal on 19th December 2018. 

 

4.3 20/01665/FULL1: Erection of substation (retrospective) - Permitted on 

30.06.2021 

 
4.4 20/03904/FULL1: Provision of Multi Use Games Area (MUGA), internal 

pathway, fencing and secondary pedestrian access onto Bickley Road – 

Awaiting Decision 
 
4.5 21/00442/ADV: 7 x non-illuminated free standing post mounted signs, 1 

x gate mounted non-illuminated sign and 3 x wall mounted non-
illuminated signs – Advertisement Consent granted on 25.11.2021 

 
5.  CONSULATION SUMMARY 

 
a) Statutory  

 

5.1 Sport England – No Objection 

 The CUA will need to be signed by both parties (school and council) as 

it is an agreement between the two 
 Once you have seen a document signed by both parties I am content for 

this condition to be discharged 

 Regarding the letter from the school, I have no issues with their 
partnering with certain local community groups; certainly there is no 

obligation for schools to allow casual users as part of a CUA and having 
arrangements with local groups can often work better 

 

 
 

 

Page 16



b) Adjoining Occupiers  
 

5.2 Principle / proposed uses 
 

 Would appear the school is trying to operate as a private sports and 

social business, the proposed Community Use Agreement must 

therefore be amended to prevent the use of the School's facilities for 

social events, such as weddings and parties, as well as music concerts 

(addressed in paragraph 7.2.16) 

 Not in accordance with the assurances given by the Applicant to secure 

approval in the first place (addressed in paragraphs 7.1.4, 7.1.10 and 

8.2) 

 Do not consider it appropriate for an educational establishment to use 

its facilities (other than sports-related ones) for commercial gain 

(addressed in section 7.1) 

 Not needed (addressed in section 7.1) 

 Will leave little time or space for the pupils to play sports (addressed in 

paragraph 7.1.9) 

 Definitions do not limit the use of the premises for sport (addressed in 

paragraph 7.1.8) 

 the Council should pass a resolution that says what was discussed 

during the planning application and that no further submissions be 

permitted for 5 years (addressed in paragraph 7.1.10). 

5.3 Hours of use 
 

 Allows much more use of the School's facilities by the Community - 

particularly the external spaces and at weekends - than the Applicant 

said would be the case during the planning process (addressed in 

paragraphs 7.1.4, 7.1.10 and 8.2) 

 The original hours as proposed at application stage should be 

maintained (addressed in paragraphs 7.1.4, 7.1.10 and 8.2) 

 Playing fields have not been historically used in the evenings (addressed 

in paragraph 7.1.1) 

 The MUGA should only be available during daylight hours as they will 

not be lit (addressed in paragraph 7.2.20)  

 At the very least, the latest version of the CUA must be amended so as 

to prohibit community use during Public Holidays and at weekends, 

except Saturdays from 9am to 12.30pm, and any community use in the 

week during School Holidays must finish at 5.30pm, rather than 9pm 

(addressed in section 7.2). 

5.4 Impact on Amenity (addressed in section 7.2) 

 Noise and disruption from early in the morning until late into the evening 

every weekday, and also during the day at weekends  

 Unreasonable in a residential area  

Page 17



 Not reasonable for MUGA to be used outside school hours as it is close 

to Chislehurst road 

 Noise, general disturbance and unruly behaviour  

 Lighting nuisance 

5.5 Traffic and Parking (addressed in section 7.3) 

 The revised application makes no mention of the current parking 

difficulties in the surrounding roads 

 Limited parking on the school site 

 Should be a restriction of no more than 75 community users to prevent 

overflow parking 

 The proposed Community Use Agreement should require that any 

Community users must use the on-site car parking spaces and not park 

in the roads surrounding the School site 

 Provision of onsite parking will encourage people to bring vehicles and 

increase traffic and pollution further 

 Road safety hazard 

 Likely to cause severe cumulative impacts 

 Illegal parking 

 A CPZ should be considered if parking problems persist 

 Traffic pollution 

 
5.6 Other 
 

 Impact on conservation area (addressed in paragraph 7.3.8) 

 Don’t understand process or why there are numerous versions of the 

CUA (addressed in paragraph 3.3) 

 Do not understand definitions (addressed in paragraph 3.4) 

 
6.  POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  
 

National Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 
 

6.1 Paragraph 11 states that plans and decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision-taking 

this means: 

 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan without delay; or 
 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 

policies which are most important for determining the application are out-
of-date, granting permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 

development proposed; or 

Page 18



 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
6.2 In accordance with Paragraph 47 of the Framework, planning law 

requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 

accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
6.3 Other relevant paragraphs are referred to in the main assessment. 
 

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

6.4 Relevant paragraphs are referred to in the main assessment.   

The London Plan (March 2021) 
 

6.5 Relevant policies: 

 
Policy D13 Agent of Change 

Policy D14 Noise 
Policy S3 Education and childcare facilities 
Policy T2 Healthy Streets 

Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
Policy T5 Cycling 

Policy T6 Car parking 
 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 

 

6.6 Relevant policies: 
 

26 Health and Wellbeing 
27 Education 

28 Educational Facilities 
30 Parking 

32 Road Safety  
33 Access for All  
37 General Design of Development  

55 Urban Open Space 
 
7.  ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 Principle of development – Acceptable 

 

7.1.1 Historically this site has been used by a number of local groups and 

sports providers including for Football coaching, Primary school Events 
such as Sports days, Moon Watch – Local Astrological Society, Summer 
School Football Coaching, Local (neighbours) Running Group Practice 

and, most recently, the Bromley 228 Squadron Air Training Cadets which 

Page 19



operated on the site immediately prior to the original planning permission 
for the school being granted at appeal.   

 
7.1.2 It is understood that the Bromley 228 Squadron Air Training Cadets 

previously used the site on Monday’s from 18:30 – 21:30 hrs, on 
Wednesday’s from 18:30 – 21:30 hrs and on Saturday’s from 09:00 – 
13:00 hrs (occasional Saturday use). 

 
7.1.3 At application stage the applicant presented a Bullers Wood School for 

Boys Community Use Statement 2016 which set out the following terms 
of lettings: 

 

 Facilities will be available to hire between 17:00 – 21:30 hrs Mondays 
to Thursdays and from 09:00 – 12:30 hrs on Saturdays 

 

 The site and premises will be closed during the Christmas School 

Holiday period as well as Bank Holidays 
 

 Hiring will be extended to daily use during other school holiday breaks 

from 09:00 – 16:00   
 

 Parking will be provided within the school grounds - the expectation is 
that most people will access the site by public transport 

 

 In the case of single and multiple lettings, there will be a limitation on 
numbers in order to ensure that all vehicles can be accommodated on 

the site 
 

7.1.4 The principle of community use of the site was subsequently allowed by 

the Planning Inspector with the precise details of the community use 

reserved for subsequent approval by the LPA under condition 24.  The 

applicant acknowledges that the current CUA differs in areas from the 

draft summary document that supported the original application, 

however, they are of the view “That document is now of some age and 

did not benefit from the on-site operational experience that the school 

now have.  It also does not reflect current funding conditions.” 

7.1.6 The proposed use of the sports hall and playing field is consistent with 
the potential facilities for after-hours which were identified at application 
stage.  While it is noted that the 2 MUGAs were not specifically referred 

to at application stage, there are no ‘in principle’ planning policy reasons 
to oppose the use of the MUGAs as this would enhance the community 

offer.  Overall there are fewer facilities included in the current CUA than 
was set out in the Bullers Wood School for Boys Community Use 
Statement 2016.   

 
7.1.7 Local residents have questioned the need for a community use of these 

facilities, the impact it will have on the amount of sports provision for the 
pupils themselves and who the intended end users/occupiers will be.  
They are concerned that it will become a stand-alone business.   

Page 20



 
7.1.8  The Community Use Agreement stipulates that the hirer shall not use 

the premises for any purpose other than that agreed upon in the licence, 
as set out on the hire request form. Furthermore, the community function 

would never be running concurrently with the school function so would 
not impact on sports provision for pupils.  Sport England are also 
supportive of the proposed arrangements. 

 
7.1.9  The principle of opening-up educational facilities to enable community 

use is supported both at the strategic and the local level and is a common 
condition of planning consents involving schools.  London Plan Policy 
S3 requires education development to “maximise the extended or 

multiple use of educational facilities for community or recreational use”, 
whilst Bromley’s own Local Plan Policy 28 states that “the dual use of 

educational facilities by the wider community will be encouraged”.    
 
7.1.10 With regard to the suggestion by a local resident of preventing the 

applicant from submitting further applications within 5 years; it is open 

for an applicant to submit details in relation to a planning condition, even 

if those details might differ from what was indicated during the 

application stage. It is for the Local Planning Authority to assess the 

details in accordance with the relevant planning policies and decide 

whether to approve or refuse.  The Inspector’s condition, as worded, 

does not refer to the document provided at application stage or require 

the final CUA to accord with it.  The Inspector’s wording leaves the hours 

of use, and other details, open and to be agreed by the LPA at the 

discharge of condition stage.   

7.1.11 The principle of opening-up these facilities to community use is therefore 

considered acceptable.  
 
7.2 Neighbourhood Amenity - Acceptable 

 
7.2.1 The applicant has had regard to other CUAs which have been approved 

at other schools and sites in the Borough.  While it is seldom possible to 
make a case that permission should be granted or refused on the basis 

of what has happened at another site (as planning law requires that each 
application be considered on its individual merits) officers have reviewed 
the CUAs at a number of other sites, as follows: 

 
St Olaves Grammar School, Goddington Lane, Orpington) (Condition 21, 

ref.18/04454/CONDT1, approved on 24.11.21) 
 
7.2.2 The proposed hours of community use are limited to term-time and 

school holidays with no Sundays or Bank Holidays as per condition 17 
of permission ref. 18/04454/FULL1 

 
7.2.3 The relationship of this site to the nearest residential properties is 

comparable to Bullers Wood Boys School which is flanked by residential 

Page 21



roads on its north, east and southern boundaries. It also proposes 
community use of its outdoor facilities.   

 
7.2.4 At application stage It is noted that Sport England objected to the 

application due to the omission of Sunday letting, given that many local 
clubs and organisations will wish to use the facility on Sundays. Sport 
England considered that “It would be inappropriate to restrict community 

access on a Sunday, particularly within hours that are not usually 
considered to be unsocial” 

 
7.2.5 Notwithstanding this, the Officer’s report to committee noted that the 

Applicant has proposed its Community Use Strategy in consultation with 
the local community and “as such the proposed level and hours of usage 
appear to be a reasonable balance between increasing opportunity and 

participation in sport and preserving the amenities of the local area and 
its residents and on this basis” and, on this basis, approval was 

recommended. 
 

7.2.6 Given Sport England’s objection, the application was subsequently 
referred to the Secretary of State who decided not to call in this 

application, being content that it should be determined by the local 
planning authority. 

 
 
Eden Park High School, Balmoral Avenue, Beckenham (Condition 22, 

ref.16/03145/CONDT5, approved on 9/6/2020) 
 
7.2.7 Again, this school has a similar relationship to the surrounding residential 

properties as Bullers Wood Boys School and also includes community 

use of its outdoor facilities.   
 
7.2.8 The approved CUA for Eden Park High School does not distinguish 

between term-time and school holiday letting hours.  The approved 
hours of community use are largely consistent with those proposed at 

Bullers Wood Boys School including use of the community facilities on 
Saturday and Sunday between 9am and 4:30pm. 

 

7.2.9 It is noted however that the approved weekday (Mon-Fri) hours approved 
at Eden Park High School are evenings only (6.00pm-9.00pm) whereas 

Bullers Wood Boys proposes all day use (8am-6pm) on weekdays during 
the school holidays. 

 

Langley Park Primary School, Hawksbrook Lane, Beckenham (Condition 21, 
ref.17/01652/CONDT3, approved on 13/06/2019). 

 
7.2.10 The CUA at Langley Park primary allows for later finishing at weekends 

than proposed at Bullers Wood Boys (until 6pm on Saturdays during 

term time and until 9pm in the school holidays on Saturday and Sunday).  
It is pertinent to note however that Langley Primary School is some 200m 

Page 22



away from the nearest residential dwellings to the south-west in South 
Eden Park Road. 

 

Track Pavilion, Norman Park, Hayes Lane, Bromley (ref.18/01660/CONDIT, 

approved on 1.10.2021) 
 
7.2.11 This relates to a replacement pavilion building to provide a modernized 

sport facility, including a new café, indoor warm-up track, changing 
rooms and physio rooms at Track Pavilion, Norman Park.  The approved 

hours allow later finishing at weekends (until 6pm) than proposed at 
Bullers Wood Boys. However, this site was already an established sports 
facility, well-used by local community groups prior to its redevelopment.  

Furthermore, the Pavilion is an indoor facility. 
 

National Westminster Sports Ground, Copers Cope Road, Beckenham 
(ref.08/00148/DET approved on 22.12.2008)  
 

 
7.2.12 The applicant has referred to the approved community use hours of the 

former five-a-side football pitches/5m high netting and eighteen 8m high 
floodlights at ‘Goals Soccer Centre’, National Westminster Sports 
Ground, Beckenham.  This allows use of the site until 5:30pm Mon-Fri; 

use on Saturday from 9am until 6pm and use on Sunday from 9am unti l 
5.30pm. 

 
National Westminster Sports Ground, Copers Cope Road, Beckenham 
(Condition 21, ref.19/04644/CONDT1, approved on 22.10.2021)  

 
7.2.13 This agreement relates to permission ref.19/04644/FULL1 for the 

erection of a covered full-size football pitch, creation of an artificial full-
size pitch with floodlighting, and regrading of the site to create a full-size 
show pitch with spectator seating & six training pitches (two full-size, two 

3/4 size & two half-size).   
 

7.2.14 These facilities include an external 3G pitch, which would be useable by 
the community up until 10pm on Friday and Saturday and up until 9pm 
on Sunday.  Furthermore, the 3G pitch is located in close proximity to 

two residential properties on Worsley Bridge Road.  However, condition 
27 of permission 19/04644/FULL1 limited the community use of the site 

to a maximum of 100 individuals at any one time. 
 
7.2.15 On the matter of the potential numbers of community users which could 

be accommodated at Bullers Wood Boys school at any one time the 
applicant has advised that “it is not possible for those types of uses to 

set out ‘capacity’ per se, as there would be a number of variables (e.g. 
younger users being accompanied by parents etc).”  Day to day use 
would be managed by the school and a scenario in which all facilities are 

being let out at the same time, they add, would be very infrequent.   
 

Page 23



7.2.16 The CUA expressly states that lettings will be managed so as to avoid 
Community Use lettings taking place concurrently with any whole-school 

events, including Open Days, Parents’ Evenings and Sports Day.  It also 
expressly excludes the use of the facilities for wedding receptions and 

private parties unrelated to the Trust or school, meaning the types of use 
will be limited to sports, health, community groups and education uses, 
as discussed in the Bullers Wood School for Boys Community Use 

Statement 2016.  
 

7.2.17 It is not considered that wedding receptions or private parties related to 
the Trust or school would occur on a regular basis or be frequent enough 
so as to cause significant noise nuisance at adjacent residential sites.   

 
7.2.18 Schedule 2 part 3 ‘Application Process’ of the CUA further states: 

 
Upon any confirmation of a booking, the school will make the hirer aware of 

the need for facilities to be used responsibly to avoid any undue disturbance 
to neighbouring residents, including the need for hirers and attendees to 

enter and leave the site in an orderly manner and for any external facilities 

to avoid any significant use or activity unduly close to the site boundaries. 
 

7.2.19 In the event that local residents were subjected to an unreasonable and 
significant nuisance this would be subject to separate powers of 

enforcement by the Council’s Environmental Health and Public 
Protection team under the Environmental Protection Act (1990). 

 

7.2.20 The external playing fields and courts are not floodlit, and the school 
says that they have no plans to do so.  In the absence of floodlighting 

the external use will be naturally regulated by the availability of daylight 
hours, regardless of the hours proposed, and would not give rise to any 
significant impacts on wildlife or protected species using the site. 

Furthermore, neighbouring residential amenities will not be impacted by 
any additional lighting.  Any additional lighting or floodlighting required 

would be subject to planning permission.  
 
7.2.21 The proposed reduction in hours of use at weekends in this latest version 

of the CUA, together with the restrictions on use on Bank Holidays would 
give surrounding residents a break from noise and general activity when 

it can reasonably be expected.   
 
7.2.22 Overall it is not considered that the use of the site in the manner 

proposed would give rise to any unacceptable noise or disturbance at 
neighbouring residential sites. 

 
7.3 Transport - Acceptable 
 

7.3.1 In accordance with paragraph 109 of the NPPF, development should 
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. 

Page 24



 
7.3.2 At appeal stage the Inspector did not anticipate any issues with parking 

required in connection with the community use, noting at paragraph 52 
of their report:  

 
There is no reason why the on-site car parking should not be used in 

connection with the community uses and therefore parking along 
surrounding roads would be unlikely to be necessary. 

 

7.3.4 All car parking on site comprising the main car park, visitor car park and 
disabled parking bays near the main entrance will be available to park 

for all community users.  This provides a total of 69 parking spaces with 
capacity for an additional 20 vehicles in the drop-off bays.  For infrequent 
larger events, the hard play area near the Chislehurst Road entrance 

shall also be made available for overspill parking. 
 

7.3.5 Schedule 3 part 2 ‘Parking Arrangements’ of the CUA sets out that the 
school will also make it clear to hirers and community users that there 
are a variety of public transportation options available via Bickley Station 

and bus stops along Bickley Road.  Encouraging sustainable travel 
modes would help to mitigate the potential impacts of the community use 

on pollution and air quality.   
 
7.3.6 The CUA includes a commitment by the School to advising all hirers and 

community users that they should, in the first instance, use the on-site 
parking and if none is available, they should park respectfully and not 
across driveways or in a manner which would cause a nuisance/danger 

to highway use.  While this would not be enforceable by the school any 
contravention of parking would be enforceable by the Council’s parking 

attendants.   
 
7.3.7 Paragraph 8.2 of the CUA also states “A review will also be undertaken 

in the event that a Community Use event has given rise to a significant 
number of complaints”. 

 
7.3.8 In considering the impact of traffic generation and parking in the 

surrounding highway network it is considered that community users can 

be satisfactorily accommodated on the site and parking in the 
surrounding roads is unlikely to be necessary. As such the 

characteristics of the adjacent conservation areas would be preserved. 
 

7.3.9 Taken together with the other measures the applicant is proposing for 
managing the community lettings, the proposals are considered 

acceptable from a highways perspective.  
 
8.  CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 The community use of this new educational facility was allowed under 

the original permission and is supported at the national level by Sport 

Page 25



England, at the strategic level by policies in the London Plan and, at the 
local level, by policy 28 of the Local Plan.  It is acceptable in principle. 

 
8.2 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed hours of use do represent 

an increase in hours from those originally specified, the hours originally 
specified were not written into any planning conditions and it was left 
open to the applicant to seek different hours as part of the CUA approval 

process. 
 

8.3 The proposed hours of use are similar to those that have been agreed 
at other schools and sports clubs in the Borough, also with residential 
development nearby.  

 
8.4 No technical objections have been raised from an environmental health 

or highways perspective and there are no planning reasons to resist the 
hours now proposed on amenity or highway safety grounds. 

 

8.5 Accordingly, the details submitted to discharge condition 24 (community 
use agreement) are recommended for approval. 

 
8.6 In reaching this conclusion Officers have had regard to the statutory 

provisions of Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which 
dictate that decisions must be undertaken in accordance with the 

development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
RECOMMENDATION - APPROVAL OF DETAILS 

 

 

The development shall be used in compliance with the approved Community 
Use Agreement 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

1 
 

Bullers Wood School for Boys Community Use Statement 2016 

Bullers Wood School for Boys will provide the local community with outstanding educational 

facilities. A new school in a brand new building also has the potential to benefit, as well as to 

serve the local community through the letting out of its amenities.  

Moreover, it will also bring valuable extra income into the School especially at a time when 

budgets are being squeezed and where the expectation for schools is to be much more 

resourceful and flexible in their approaches to generating additional revenue. 

Given that we will have brand new facilities from September 2018, we anticipate that there 

will be local community interest and we are committed to supporting appropriate after-hours 

use of our facilities for Sports, Health, Community Group and Educational purposes.  

We have no desire, interest or plans for after-hours social use of Bullers Wood School for 

Boys such as weddings, parties etc. 

Past Community Use of the School Site 

 Football coaching 

 Primary school Events such as Sports days (we can offer this again to Primary schools) 

 Moon Watch – Local Astrological Society ( will re-establish this on the site) 

 Summer School Football Coaching 

 Local (neighbours) Running Group Practice 

Current Community use of the Site: 

Bromley 228 Squadron Air Training Cadets 

Monday’s  18:30 – 21:30 hrs 

Wednesday’s  18:30 – 21:30 hrs 

Saturday’s  09:00 – 13:00 hrs (occasional Saturday use) 

The ATC has a long-standing tradition of operating from St. Hugh’s Playing Fields having 

operated from the site for the last 35 years. This year the Squadron celebrated its 75th 

anniversary and we are committed to ensuring that the Squadron continues to thrive and have 

a home with us in the new school. We have had several discussions with the Squadron and 

are implementing plans to bring it into the heart of the School. The ATC will operate, in the 

first instance from the temporary building and then from the permanent building once 

completed. This will provide the ATC with better facilities than those currently enjoyed.  

The ATC use the site for their regular meetings that include drill, parade practice, adventure 

training, field craft and sports such as football, rugby, cricket, athletics, cross-country running 

etc. The Squadron also run the Duke of Edinburgh’s Awards Scheme and deliver a number of 

educational qualifications including BTECs. Young people between the ages of 12 and 18 are 

able to join. 

Bickley Park Forest School 

Since September 2014, Bickley Park School has used the site during term time on Thursdays 

and Fridays for their Forest School. The area that the children currently use will remain 

undeveloped. Therefore, it will continue to be used by them in order to support their outdoor 

learning provision. The new building will provide the children with access to toilets and use of 

classrooms. The building will provide us with the scope to broaden this offer and further our 

links with primary schools in the local community. 

Page 27



 

2 
 

Potential Facilities for After-Hours Use (see demarcated areas on attached plans) 

 School Field (daylight hours only) 

 Sports Hall 

 Dining Hall 

 Main Hall with Bleacher seating 

 Activity Studio 

 Drama Studio 

 Music Suite 

 General Classrooms 

 IT & Technology Classrooms 

 

Potential Community Usage 

The demand for and type of after-hours community use has yet to be determined. However, 

based on the kinds of facilities that will be available in the new school, our thinking is that we 

would be able to accommodate the following activities: 

*Please note that these are examples only 

Sports 

 Badminton   

 Basketball   

 Netball    

 Hockey    

 Football   

 Rugby    

 Cricket    

 Martial Arts 

 Fencing       

Health 

 Yoga    

 Slimming clubs   

 Dance    

 Pilates    

 Zumba  

 Other exercise classes   

Community Groups 

 Scouts/cubs   

 Drama Clubs   

 Theatre Schools  

 Music Groups 

 Summer School Sports & Activities Programmes      

Educational 

 Adult Education Classes – range of academic, practical and aesthetic subjects 

 Summer School Programmes 

Page 28



 

3 
 

 Summer Schools such as EXEL (Cultural and language experiences for Japanese 

and Chinese students staying with host families) 

Terms of Lettings 

The terms of our lettings will be set out in our Lettings Policy, which will be finalised prior to 

us moving in to the permanent building. However, our general principles will be: 

 

 Facilities will be available to hire between 17:00 – 21:30 hrs Mondays to Thursdays 

and from 09:00 – 12:30 hrs on Saturdays. The site and premises will be closed 

during the Christmas School Holiday period as well as Bank Holidays 

 Hiring will be extended to daily use during other school holiday breaks from 09:00 – 

16:00  

 Each letting will be agreed and vetted by the Business Manager and Headteacher 

 The Lettings Policy will be implemented, managed and monitored by the Business 

Manager 

 It will include a detailed pricing policy which will also include a cost to cover public 

liability insurance 

 The policy will include a compliance clause in order to ensure that hirers give 

consideration to local residents and in the case of complaints will be at risk of losing 

their deposits 

 The Business and Site Managers will be available to be contacted in the event of any 

problem 

 A member of the site team will be present at all times during a letting for security 

purposes 

 Lettings will be limited to the ground and first floors of the School  

 Parking will be provided within the school grounds - the expectation is that most 

people will access the site by public transport  

 In the case of single and multiple lettings, there will be a limitation on numbers in 

order to ensure that all vehicles can be accommodated on the site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 29



This page is left intentionally blank



© Crown copyright and database rights
2021. Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:150022 March 2022

 

Page 31



This page is left intentionally blank



Committee Date 
 

31/03/2022 Agenda Item: 
 

 

 
 

Address 
 

 
 

 

Woodhayes  
76A The Avenue 

Beckenham 
BR3 5ES 
 

Application 

number  

 

20/05047/FULL1 
 

Officer   

Jessica Lai 

 

Ward  
 

Copers Cope 
 

 

Proposal  
 

 

Demolition of the existing dwellings (No.76A and 76B 
The Avenue), erection of a five storey building to provide 
18 flats (comprising 10 - one bed and 8 - two bed), 

provision of 18 parking spaces with cycle and bin 
storage and hard and soft landscaping (Revised 

Description and proposal).  
 

Applicant  Agent  
 

Devonshire Developments 

Woodhayes  
76A The Avenue 

Beckenham 
BR3 5ES 
 

 

Alexandra Bamford 

Boyer Planning 
2nd Floor, 24 Southwark Bridge 

Road 
London 
SE1 9HF 

Reason for  
referral to  

committee 

 

Major Application Councillor call in 

No  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

  

 

Full planning permission be granted, subject to 
planning conditions and completion of a 
section 106 legal agreement. 

 

 

KEY DESIGNATIONS  

 Adjacent to Downs Hill Conservation Area 

 Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  

 London City Airport Safeguard  

 Open Space Deficiency  

 Smoke Control  

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4.2



Residential Use  

Number of Unit  1 2 Total 
 

Market 10  8  18 
Total  

 
10 0 18 

 
Vehicle parking  Existing 

number of 

spaces 
 

Total proposed 
including 

spaces retained  
 

Difference in 
spaces  

(+ or -) 

Standard car spaces N/A 
 

16 +16 

Disabled car spaces  
 

0 2 +2 

Cycle  0 
 

32 +32 

 

Electric car charging points  20% active and 80% passive  
 

 
Representation  
summary  

 
 

A 21 days neighbour consultation letters were sent on 
the 23rd February 2021. Following the receipt of 

additional and amended documents, a 14 day 
neighbouring consultation letter was sent on the 23rd 

July, 2021, 14th October 2021 and 20th January 2022. 
 

A site notice was placed on the 18th February 2021. The 

application was advertised in the News Shopper on the 
24th February 2021. 

 

Total number of responses  168  

Number in support  27 

Number of objection 139 

Number of comment  2 

 
Section 106 Heads of 
Term  

 

Amount Agreed in Principle 

Carbon offset  £ 28, 357 including Be 
Seen measures  

Yes 

Affordable Housing 

Review mechanism  
Early and Late Stage 

Review Mechanisms   

Yes 

Total  £ 28, 357  
 
  

Page 34



SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  

 

 The principle to redevelop the site to make more efficient use of the land 
and deliver more housing is supported. It would positively contribute to the 

Council’s housing supply.  

 The design, layout and scale of the revised proposal is considered to be 

acceptable, taking into account the building typology and the established 
pattern of development of the surrounding area.  

 The proposal would provide a good standard of internal and external living 

space, including an inclusive living environment for the future occupiers, 
without causing a significant harmful impact on the residential amenities 

enjoyed by the neighbouring proprieties.  

 An adequate level of parking, bicycle storage, waste storage provision and 
new planting and landscaping has been provided 

 Having considered the benefits and harm arising from the proposal and in 
the absence of 5-year housing land supply it is considered that planning 

permission should be granted as the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development is applied unless there are material considerations to suggest 

otherwise.  

 Subject to the planning conditions and completion of a section 106 legal 
agreement, it is considered that the benefits of the proposal would outweigh 

the impact arising from this proposal and it is recommended that planning 
permission should be granted.  

. 
1. LOCATION  

 

1.1 The Avenue is an unmade road and is a public unadopted highway. The 
application site (No. 76a and 76b The Avenue) measures approximately 

1,924sq.m (0.19 hectares) in area and is located on the southern side of 
The Avenue.  

 

1.2 The site comprises of two domestic detached houses with two garages, 
with sizeable front and rear gardens. The site is located on a slope. The 

ground level drops down from east to west along The Avenue and the 
ground level drops down from north to south from The Avenue towards 
the railway line which lies to the rear of the application site.  

 
1.3 The site is surrounded by a mixture of residential properties of a varying 

building scale design and style of appearance. Nightingale Court is a 4 
storey residential building located to the west of the site. Number 76C 
The Avenue is a two-storey detached house located to the east. 

Opposite to the site are modern residential flats that range between two 
to four storeys in height.  

 
1.4 The application buildings are traditional suburban houses and there are 

no listed buildings. Downs Hill Conservation Area is located 

approximately 50 metres east from the application site.  
 

1.5 The site lies within Flood Zone 1, meaning the site has a low probability 
of flooding from river tidal sources (less than 1 in 1,000 annual 

Page 35



probability). The site is subject to low surface water flooding risk. Ground  
water flooding is possible in the local area when ground water levels are 

high. 
 

1.6 The public transport accessibility of the site is rated at 1b, on a scale 
between 0 to 6b where 0 is worst and 6b is excellent. Ravensbourne 
Railway Station is located approximately 630 metres from the site.  

 
2. PROPOSAL 

 

2.1 Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing 
houses, erection of a part four and part five storey building to provide 18 

private residential units. The residential flats would comprise of 10 x 1 
bed and 8 x 2 bed flats.  

 
2.2 The access to the proposed building, car park and outdoor spaces would 

be step free. An internal lift would be provided and would be accessible 

to all floors.  
 

2.3  The proposed building is designed with a flat roof. The proposed building 
would measure approximately 18.6 metres maximum in length, 21.5 
metres in width and 15.2 metres in height.  A green roof would be 

incorporated and solar panels would be installed at the roof level.  
 

2.4  The outdoor areas of the site including a child play area would be 
landscaped with new planting to promote biodiversity and address 
climate change.  

 
2.5 A total of 18 off-street parking spaces, including 2 disabled parking 

spaces would be provided. A total of 30 secured cycle storage areas 
including 2 short-stay cycle storage spaces would be provided. 
Dedicated communal storage facilities would be provided.  

 
2.6 The internal floor spaces of the proposed units including the private 

balconies are well designed and would meet the required internal and 
outdoor living space requirements,. 

 

2.7  The proposal has been revised in response to the planning consultees’ 
comments. The key differences are as follows: 

 
-  Removal of three terraced houses to the rear of the proposed 

building; 

- Removal of partial re-surfacing and street works on the 
unadopted highway, The Avenue.  

Page 36



 
 Fig 1. Site Location and proposed site layout plan. 
 

3.  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

3.1 A full planning permission was refused on the 2nd November 2018 for 
the demolition of 2 no. detached houses (76a and 76b) and construction 
of 3 storey / part 4 storey building containing 11 no. self-contained 

apartments (8 x 2 bedroom / 3 person and 3 x 2 bedroom / 4 person) 
Provision of a new access road and 13 no. car parking spaces to rear. 

Associated secure covered cycle store for 22 cycles and bin store to front 
(18/02816/FULL1). The application was refused for the following 
reasons: 

 
1. The proposal, by reason of its roof profile design, excessive number 

of front and rear dormer windows in different dormer window styles 

and sizes would appear as a top heavy and discordant feature on the 

building, representing a poor design quality, out of keeping with its 

surrounding area, contrary to London Plan Policy 7.4, UDP Polices 

BE1 and H7, Draft Local Plan Policies 4 and 37. 

 

2. The proposal would fail to provide adequate private outdoor space 

for each of the proposed units. In the absence of boundary treatment 

details and cross section drawings confirming the ground level of the 

Page 37



proposed communal and private gardens, the impact on residential 

amenities and proposed rear access arrangement cannot be fully 

assessed, contrary to the London Mayor's Housing SPD, London 

Plan Policy 3.5, UDP Polices BE1 and H7, Draft Local Plan Policies 

4 and 37. 

 

3. The proposed building, by reason of its scale, mass and close 

proximity to the rear windows of 76c The Avenue would have an 

adverse impact on the residential amenities in terms of loss of outlook 

and sense of enclosure, contrary to UDP Polices BE1 and H7 and 

Draft Local Policies 4 and 37. 

 

4. In the absence of an air quality and noise impact assessment 

together with the inconsistent information contained in the energy 

statement, the proposal would fail to demonstrate that the site would 

be suitable to provide new residential accommodation and fails to 

demonstrate that adequate carbon emissions can be achieved. As 

such, this part of the proposal cannot be fully assessed and the 

proposal would be contrary to London Plan Polices 5.2, 7.14 and 

7.15, Draft Local Plan Policies 120 and 124. 

 

5. The proposal would result in an over-concentration of 2 bedroom 

private units and in the absence of adequately justification, the 

proposal would fail to offer a good range of housing choice in terms 

of housing mix and achieve a mixed and balanced community, 

contrary to London Plan Policies 3.8 and 3.9, UDP Policy H7, Draft 

Local Plan Policies 1 and 4. 

 
76a THE AVENUE  

 

3.2 An outline planning permission was refused on the 8th March 1989 and 

the subsequent appeal was dismissed on the 11th January 1990 for the 

erection of a 3 storey building comprising 5 x 2 bed with 5 garages and 

2 parking spaces (ref: 88/04373/OUT). 

76b THE AVENUE  

 

3.3 A tree works application was granted on the 5th February 2015 for the 
felling of one London Plane (TPO 2505A) on the land adjacent (grass 

verge) to 76B The Avenue 14/00578/TPO (ref: 14/00578/TPO). 
 
4. CONSULATION SUMMARY 

 
a) Statutory  

 
4.1 Highways – No objection 
 

Page 38



The Avenue is an unadopted highway. The surface of the road is 
unmade and formed of loose materials.  

 
Access 

 
The vehicular access to the car park would measure approximately 3.8 
metres width with a 5 metres passing place at the top and bottom of the 

ramp. A separate 1.4 metre walkway is provided on the western side of 
the ramp for pedestrian and cyclist. The head clearance height 

measures approximately 3.7 metres. The proposed access arrangement 
is considered to be acceptable. 

 

Parking  
 

A total of 19 car parking spaces including 2 disabled parking spaces 
would be provided. The level of provision is acceptable.  
 

Waste 
 

Waste storage provision are indicated and is considered acceptable. 
The Council’ Waste Services should be consulted 
 

Should planning permission be granted, the following planning 
conditions and informative should be attached: 

 
- Car parking 
- Refuse storage  

- Cycle storage  
- Repair of damaged roads 

- Construction management plan  
 
Informative   

 
- The cost of any modification/creation of vehicular cross over 

shall be met by the applicant.  
 
4.2 Drainage - lead local flood authority – No objection  

 
Should planning permission be recommended, a pre-commencement 

condition requiring the detailed design measures in line with the 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment Report (Ref No.3760-201102-SS 
carried out by LUSTRE Consulting dated November 2020) should be 

submitted and approved by the Council. A landscape plan to show the 
construction materials for the access drive and car park areas should 

also be submitted and approved by the council. The area not covered by 
the building shall be permeable as stated in the Flood Risk Assessment.  

 

4.3  Thames Water – No objection 
 

Waste comment 

Page 39



 

There are public sewer crossing or close to the site. Developer must 

minimise the risk of damage should there be any significant works near 
to Thames water sewers. The site is located within 15 metres of a 

strategic sewer. A condition requiring piling method statements including 
the depth and method used shall be submitted and approved by the local 
planning authority in consultation with Thames Water.  

 
Surface water drainage 

 
If the developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of 
surface water we would have no objection.  Prior approval from Thames 

Water Developer Services will be required for any discharge to a public 
sewer. Developer will be expected to demonstrate what measures will 

be undertaken to minimise ground water discharges into the public 
sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and an 
informative should be attached. Developer is reminded that Building 

Regulation part H paragraph 2.36 should be incorporated within the 
proposal. 

 
There is no objection in relation to waste water network and sewage 
treatment works infrastructure capacity. 

 
Water comment 

 
The site is located within 5 metres of a strategic water main and no 
building would be permit to build over or constructed within 5 metres from 

the strategic waste mains. Should planning be granted, a condition 
requiring that no construction shall take place within 5m of the water 

main shall be attached. Information detailing how the developer intends 
to divert the asset / align the development, so as to prevent the potential 
for damage to subsurface potable water infrastructure, must be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in 
consultation with Thames Water. Any construction must be undertaken 

in accordance with the terms of the approved information. Unrestricted 
access must be available at all times for the maintenance and repair of 
the asset during and after the construction works.  

 
A pre-commencement condition prior to any site clearance requiring an 

integrated water management strategy detailing, what infrastructure is 
required, where it is required, when it is required (phasing) and how it 
will be delivered, shall be submitted to and approved by, the local 

planning authority in consultation with the water undertaker.  
 

There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames 
Water do NOT permit the building over or construction within 3m of water 
mains. Should there be any significant works within 3m of the mains, 

Thames Water will need to check the development would not reduce 
capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities during and after 

construction, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The 

Page 40



applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our 
pipes. 

 
Water network and water treatment infrastructure capacity 
 

No objection and an informative be attached to this planning permission 
remining the developer should take account of the development should 

enable Thames Water to maintain a minimum pressure of 10m head 
(approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it 

leaves Thames Waters pipes. 
 
4.4 Network Rail – No objection  

 
The developer must ensure that their proposal, both during 

construction and after completion does not:  
 

 encroach onto Network Rail land  

 affect the safety, operation or integrity of the company’s railway and its 
infrastructure  

 undermine its support zone  

 damage the company’s infrastructure  

 place additional load on cuttings  

 adversely affect any railway land or structure  

 over-sail or encroach upon the air-space of any Network Rail land  

 cause to obstruct or interfere with any works or proposed works or 

Network Rail development both now and in the future  
 

Should any vibro-compact/displacement piling plant be used, details of 
the machinery and a method statement shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning authority. Any scaffolding within 10 

metres from the boundary must be erected in a manner that ensures no 
scaffolding poles over-sail the railway and protective netting must be 

installed. No plant or material shall be capable of failing win 3m of the 
boundary with Network Rail. A minimum of a 1.8 metres boundary fence 
shall be installed and the vegetation withing the railway land must not be 

disturbed. Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto Network 
Rail’s property or into Network Rail’s culverts or drains except by 

agreement with Network Rail. Details of surface water drainage shall be 
submitted for approval to the Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer. 
Suitable foul drainage must be provided separate from Network Rail’s 

existing drainage. Soakaways, as a means of storm/surface water 
disposal must not be constructed within 20 metres of Network Rail’s 

boundary or at any point which could adversely affect the stability of 
Network Rail’s property. After the completion and occupation of the 
development, any new or exacerbated problems attributable to the new 

development shall be investigated and remedied at the applicants’ 
expense. Buildings are required to be at least 2 metres from Network 

Rail;;s boundary. The construction and future maintence of the site shall 

Page 41



be carried out without the need to access the operational railway 
environment. Any lighting associated to the development must not 

interfere with the sighting of signalling apparatus and /or train drivers’  
vision on approaching trains.  

 
b) Local groups  
 

4.5 Ravensbourne Valley Residents – objection  
 

Planning permission is sought for the installation of new street lights and 
repair and resurfacing of part of The Avenue. The applicant does not 
own this private road and there is no agreement from the land owner and 

the frontages for the proposed works as indicated in the application.  As 
such, even if permission were to be granted, the applicant cannot fulfi l 

on its delivery of the proposed works which forms part of this application. 
The description of the development for the purpose of this application 
should be amended to remove any reference to the road and should only 

refer to the demolition and building of the flats and houses. We think this 
is important but doubly so because already some residents are writing 

in support of the application under the erroneous belief that the road is 
going to be upgraded. 

 

Officers comment: The terraced houses and partial resurfacing and 
streetlighting works of the Avenue are removed from the current proposal. 

 
4.6 Copers Cope Area Residents’ Association – objection  

 

The site is presently occupied by two family houses, 76a and 76b The 
Avenue which, together with neighbouring properties 76c and 76d, are 

among the last remaining 1930s homes on the road. The proposed 
development involves the demolition of both houses, replacing them with 
a five-storey block of 18 flats, and three terraced, mews-style houses, 

and also the resurfacing of a section of The Avenue, between the site 
and Westgate Road. The Resident’s Association objects to the proposal 

for the following reasons: 
 
1.  The overall size, scale, massing, bulky design and five-storey height 

results in a dominating building at odds with other blocks on the road, 
which are only four storeys high. 

 
2. The proposed scheme would have the potential for up to 70 people 
overall, which we believe is unsustainable for a site of this size and 

location. 
 

3. Inadequate parking provision with 16 parking spaces for 21 
households with no visitor’s parking and is likely to cause additional 
strain on existing parking provision on The Avenue.  

 
4.  Most of the proposed units in the residential block are very small, 

particularly some of the two-bedroom units, which have cramped living 

Page 42



areas for up to four adults to cook, eat and relax in.  Of the total 18 units, 
13 of them barely meet the DCLG’s minimum space standards.  Some 

of the flats are denied a double aspect, adding to the sense of lack of 
space.   

 
5.  It is again very disappointing to see in the Affordable Housing Viability 
Statement submitted that, despite proposing new 21 units, the 

application doesn’t include any affordable housing provision.  The 
reason given, that the applicant cannot afford to provide affordable 

housing in the scheme, is unacceptable. 
 

6. If permission is granted, and frontages on the Avenue can’t be agreed 

particularly the proposal to resurface the road, it isn’t clear how the 
scheme in its entirety can be implemented without invalidating the 

permission. 
 
On a final point, the application includes a Statement of Community 

Engagement which says that a consultation was conducted with the local 
community, local groups and others.  As the largest residents’ group in 

Beckenham, we were disappointed not to have been invited to 
participate in the consultation. 

 

Officers comment: The terraced houses and partial resurfacing and 
streetlighting works of The Avenue are removed from the current proposal. 

 
 
c) Adjoining Occupiers  

 
4.7  One hundred and fifteen (139) letters of objection have been 

received and the grounds are including the objections associated 
to the terrace houses and partial resurfacing and street lighting 
works of The Avenue are summarised as follows: 

 

1. Overdevelopment  

a. An earlier application was refused in 2018 and the proposal is 

now more than the previous scheme. 

b. Out of scale, and out of keeping with its surroundings. 

c. Excessive density, poor design. 

The proposed 5 storey building would be excessive in height. 

d. Basement parking should be incorporated. 

e. Revised plan does not appear make adequate changes when 

compared with the original proposals. 

f. Communal bin storage in the front garden is unsightly 

g. The buildings are supported by large rear gardens, green spaces 

and trees and the proposal would appear out of keeping 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



2. Housing 

 

a. No affordable housing. There is a demand for houses and 

development similar to Spingbourne Court and West Oak would 

be more suitable at this location. 

 

3. Highway  

 

a. Maintenance is currently managed by The (Unmade) Avenue 

(BR3) Association Ltd. and the cost is borne by those living on the 

road. More new buildings (with many more people) means more 

traffic, more maintenance and escalating costs. 

b. The partial improvement of the road would not encourage 

cycling. 

c. Also, as owner of a share in the freehold of Briary Lodge, I'm 

aware that consent has NOT been sought from Briary Lodge 

Management Co. Ltd (as freeholder of the property at 56 The 

Avenue) to change the surface of the area of The Avenue for 

which we are responsible. 

d. Inadequate details regarding the road resurfacing. 

e. CEMP may not be enforceable given the road and the nature of 

the road. The condition of the road would be deteriorated with 

HGV’s. THE CEMP should be secured by a s106 legal 

agreement. 

f. As The Avenue is not a public highway and there are no plans 

for it to be adopted. S278 and S38 of the Highway Act are not 

applicable in this case. Therefore, this again needs to be 

secured via the S106 TCPA. 

g. The condition of the road is decent with the maintenance efforts 

provided by the Unmade Avenue (BR3) Association Ltd. 

h.  The standard of the road works is not guaranteed and the cost 

was not explained by the developer 

i. Inadequate parking spaces and impact on parking conditions 

j. Resurfacing of the road with hard surface will substantially 

change the character of the road and this will substantially 

increase its traffic and speed. This element would also increase 

air pollution  

k. There are no specifications of proposed work relating to the 

paving. Whilst an in-principle agreement has been reached to 

improve the road and agreed with the free holder, there is no 

details regarding the long term maintenance costs.  

l. The frontages/owners are still responsible for maintenance of its 

frontage and this is not mentioned in the submitted documents 

m.  It is difficult to quantify the loss and damage to the tree/grass 

verges. It is unnecessary and an expensive exercise to create a 

new road with traffic-calming measures. 

Page 44



n. Increase traffic  

o. partial repairs to sections of the road have proven not to last long 

and have inadvertently caused the unrepaired sections to 

deteriorate further. This was due to the increased water run-off 

from the freshly tarmacked sections, from speeding cars who 

"forget" to slow down once they have driven off the newly 

tarmacked areas and from increased traffic caused by 

improvements to the road 

p. Resurfacing the road would attract a rat run.  

q. The plan to resurface the road appears to be piecemeal 

r. The car ownership calculation is incorrect and should be 89% 

instead of 88.5% and 19 parking spaces should be provided. 

 

4. Waste 

a. Location of waste far from the road. A swept path analysis 

should be provided to confirm emergency vehicles can enter the 

site. 

 

5. Impact on biodiversity 

a. Impact on protected species 

b. Loss of trees 

 

6. Residential amenities 

a. The proposal would be closer to the road resulting in loss of 

privacy to the neighbouring properties.  

b. Loss of light 

c. Noise and disruption during construction 

 

7. Surface water flooding 

a. The proposal would increase service water flooding 

 

8. Lack of infrastructure  

a. No underground drainage link to Thames Water 

 

9. Lack of consultation with neighbours (the frontages) about the plans to 

resurface the road 

4.6  Twenty-three (27) letters of support have been received and the 

grounds as summarised as below: 
 

1. The unmade road is unsafe, inadequate and unsustainable. 

Improvement to lighting and pavement is very much welcome 

2. Improves road conditions for emergency and delivery vehicles.  

3. The design of the proposal is attractive and would provide housing.  

 

Page 45



4.7 Two (2) letters of comment have been received and the grounds are 

summarised as below:  

1. A few support letters have been submitted without an address 

2. The proposal would add value to the properties  

3. A four storey building would be more in keeping with the area. 

4. There are no storm drains or pavement repairs detailed. The 

commitment to resurfacing and lighting is attractive. The funds cannot 

be found elsewhere to complete works on the road. The council will not 

adopt the road, the freeholder does not maintain the road as it is not 

obliged to since the Leasehold reform act and the resident’s group has 

no realistic prospect of obtaining the funds for work like storm drains and 

lighting any other way. The obligation should be secured, and the 

Council should commit to traffic calming measures once these works 

have been completed. 

5. The proposal is not supported by any Highway safety or traffic modelling. 

The Council went through the process to adopt the road in 1990 and 

there was concern that the junction to Westgate road would become a 

hazard. The Council did not receive sufficient support from freeholders 

and the adoption was cancelled. Freeholder position has not changed to 

adoption. 

6. The proposal would Increase the cost for other the freeholder on The 

Avenue to maintain their frontages.  

5. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
 

5.2 National Planning Practice Guidance  
 

5.3 The London Plan 
 

Policy D3  Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 

Policy D4  Delivery good design 
Policy D5  Inclusive design 

Policy D6  Housing quality and standards 
Policy D7  Accessible housing 
Policy D11  Safety, security and resilience to emergency 

Policy D12  Fire safety 
Policy D14  Noise 

Policy H1  Increasing housing supply 
Policy H2 Small sites 
Policy H4  Delivering affordable housing  

Policy H5  Threshold approach to applications 
Policy H6  Affordable housing tenure 

Policy H7 Monitoring of affordable housing  
Policy H8  Loss of existing housing and estate redevelopment 
Policy H10  Housing size mix 

Policy S4  Plan and informal recreation 

Page 46



Policy G5  Urban Greening  
Policy G6  Biodiversity and access to nature 

Policy G7  Trees and woodlands 
Policy SI-1  Improving air quality  

Policy SI-2  Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
Policy SI-5  Water infrastructure  
Policy SI-13  Sustainable drainage 

Policy T4  Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
Policy T5  Cycling 

Policy T6  Car parking 
Policy T6.1  Residential parking  
Policy T6.5  Non-residential disabled persons parking  

Policy T7  Deliveries, servicing and construction 
Policy DF1  Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations 
 
5.5 Mayor Supplementary Guidance 
 

- London Housing SPG 2016 
- Affordable housing and viability SPG 2017 

-  Accessible London: Achieving an inclusive environment 2011 
-  Character and context SPG 2014 
-  Plan and informal recreation SPG 

- Energy Assessment Guidance 2020 
- The control of dust and emissions in construction SPG 
 
5.6 Bromley Local Plan 2019 
 

Policy 1  Housing Supply 
Policy 2 Provision of affordable hosing  

Policy 3  Backland and garden land development 
Policy 4 Housing Design 
Policy 8  Side space 

Policy 30 Parking 
Policy 31  Relieving congestion 

Policy 32  Road Safety 
Policy 33 Access for all 
Policy 37 General design of development  

Policy 59  Public open space deficiency area  
Policy 72 Protected species 

Policy 73 Development and trees 
Policy 79 Biodiversity and access to nature 
Policy 112 Planning for sustainable waste management 

Policy 113 Waste management in new development  
Policy 115 Reducing flood risk 

Policy 116  Sustainable Urban Drainage systems  
Policy 118  Contaminated land 
Policy 119  Noise Pollution 

Policy 120 Air Quality 
Policy 122  Light pollution 

Policy 123  Sustainable design and construction 

Page 47



Policy 124 Carbon dioxide reduction, decentralised energy networks and 
renewable energy 

Policy 125  Delivery and implementation of the Local Plan 
 

5.7  Bromley Supplementary Guidance   
 

- Bromley Affordable housing SPD and subsequent addendums  
 
6. Assessment  

 
6.1 Principle of development – Acceptable  
 

6.1.1 The application site comprises of two detached houses and is not 
allocated for any particular use in the Bromley Local Plan. The existing 

buildings are neither listed nor located within or adjacent to a 
conservation area. There are no identified heritage assets within the site. 

 

6.1.2. The proposal would positively contribute to the Council’s housing supply 
providing a net increase of 16 residential units and meeting housing 

need within the Borough. Given that the site is surrounded by a number 
of modern residential developments of varying design, scale, style and 
appearance, it is considered that the principle to redevelop the site to 

make more efficient use of the land would be acceptable in land use 
terms. The proposal to introduce residential flats would also optimise the 

land use of the site and would be compatible to its surrounding area.   
 
6.1.3 It is noted that an earlier full planning application for the redevelopment 

of the site was refused in 2018. The current proposal is designed to 
address the previous reasons of refusal and to comply with the current 

development plan.  
 
6.1.4 The planning merits of the current proposal in terms of housing, design, 

residential amenities, highway safety, sustainability, and other issues 
including whether the proposal adequately addressed the previous 

reasons of refusal are outlined in the following sections of this report. It 
should be noted that the current National Planning Policy Framework 
was published in 2021, The London Plan was adopted in March 2021 

and the Bromley Local Plan was adopted in January 2019.  
 

6.1 Housing - Acceptable  
 

6.2.1 The current position in respect of Bromley’s Five Year Housing Land 

Supply (FYHLS) was agreed at Development Control Committee on 2nd 
November 2021. The current position is that the FYHLS (covering the 

period 2021/22 to 2025/26) is 3,245 units, or 3.99 years supply. This is 
acknowledged as a significant undersupply and for the purposes of 
assessing relevant planning applications this means that the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply. 
 

Page 48



6.2.2 The NPPF (2021) sets out in paragraph 11 a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. In terms of decision-making, the document 

states that where a development accords with an up-to-date local plan, 
applications should be approved without delay. Where a plan is out of 

date, permission should be granted unless the application of policies in 
the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 

Framework taken as a whole. 
 

6.2.3 According to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF in the absence of a 5 year 

Housing Land Supply the Council should regard the Development Plan 
Policies for the supply of housing including Policy 1 Housing Supply of 

the Bromley Local Plan as being 'out of date'. In accordance with 
paragraph 11(d), for decision taking this means where there are no 
relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

 
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 

assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 

refusing the development proposed; or  
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 

6.2.4 London Plan Policy H1 sets Bromley’s housing target at 774 homes per 

annum. In order to deliver this target, boroughs are encouraged to 
optimise the potential for housing delivery on all suitable and available 
brownfield sites. This approach is consistent with Policy 1 of the Bromley 

Local Plan, particularly with regard to the types of locations where new 
housing delivery should be focused.  
 

6.2.5 Policy H2 requires Boroughs to pro-actively support well-designed new 
homes on small sites (below 0.25 hectares in size). Policy D3 requires 
all development to make the best use of land by following a design led 

approach.  
 

6.2.6 This application includes the provision of 18 residential dwellings (net 
increase of 16) and would make a positive contribution to the Council’s 

housing targets. This element is considered to be a significant benefit of 
the scheme. 
 

Affordable housing 
 

6.2.7 London Plan Policy H4 sets a strategic target of genuinely affordable 

homes at 50 percent across London and requires that these should be 
provided on site. London Plan Policy H5 set the threshold approach to 

applications with an initial and minimum level of 35 percent by habitable 

Page 49



room. The Mayor of London’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG 
(2017) states that applications not meeting the 35 percent affordable 

housing and tenure threshold are considered under the Viability Test 
Route and will be subject to an early and late-stage review. This 

requirement will be secured by way of a legal agreement should planning 
permission be granted. 
 

6.2.8 BLP Policy 2 seeks 35 percent of affordable housing to be provided by 

habitable room with a split of 60 percent affordable rent and 40 percent 
for intermediate units. London Plan Policy H6 sets the following 
affordable housing tenure threshold: 1) A minimum of 30 percent low 

cost rented homes, at either London affordable rent or social rent, 
allocated according to the need and for Londoners on low incomes. 2) A 

minimum of 30 percent intermediate projects which meet the definition 
of genuinely affordable housing, including London Living rent and 
London Shared ownership 3) The remaining 40 percent to be determined 

by the borough as low cost rented homes or intermediate product based 
on identified need 
 

6.2.9 An updated Financial Viability Assessment is submitted which indicates 
that the proposal would not be viable to provide on-site affordable 
housing. The updated viability assessment has been reviewed and 

assessed by an independent viability consultant appointed by the 
Council and they have confirmed the development would not be able to 

provide affordable housing. 
 

6.2.10 A sensitivity analysis was also carried out by the independent viability 

consultant, which indicates that the scheme can be viable if there is a 
change in build cost and/or sales values in the future. In line with the 

London Plan and London Affordable housing viability SPG, the proposal 
will also be subject to an early and late-stage review mechanism. This is 
to ensure the maximum level of affordable housing can be provided at 

the point of implementation.  
 

6.2.11 Should planning permission be granted, the review mechanisms will 
need to be secured by a legal agreement. 
 

Wheelchair unit and inclusive living environment 
 

6.2.12 Many households in London require accessible or adapted housing to 
lead dignified and independent lives. London Plan Policy D7 requires at 
least 10 percent of proposed new dwellings to meet Building Regulation 

requirement M4(3) Wheelchair users dwelling standard. The remaining 
dwellings should meet Building Regulation M4(2) accessible and 

adaptable dwellings.  
 

6.2.13 Paragraph 2.3.10 under Standard 11 of the London Housing SPD states 

that LPAs should seek to ensure that dwellings accessed above or below 
the entrance storey in buildings of four storeys or less have step-free 

access 

Page 50



 
6.2.14 In line with the policy requirement, a minimum of two wheelchair units 

would be required. A total of two 2 bed / 4 person units wheelchair units 
(Building regulation Part M4(3)) would be provided. The remaining will 

be required to comply with the accessible and adaptable dwellings 
standard (Building regulation Part M4 (2)). These provisions will be 
secured by a planning condition.  

 
6.2.15  An internal lift would be provided in the proposed building. Two disabled 

parking spaces would be provided near the entrance of the site. Overall, 
it is considered that an inclusive living environment can be provided, 
subject to the planning condition.  

 
Housing mix  

 
6.2.16 Pursuant to London Plan Policy H10, schemes should generally consist 

of a range of unit sizes. The proposal would provide a mixture of 1 to 3 

bed units.  Paragraph 2.1.17 under BLP Policy 1 states the 2014 SHMA 
which highlights that the highest level of need across tenures within the 

Borough up to 2031 is for one bedroom units and is then followed by 2 
bedroom units. 
  

6.2.17 The proposal would provide a mixture of 1 to 2 bed units. Whilst there 
are no large family units (3 bedrooms) provided, it should be noted that 

the proposed housing size and mix would range between 2 to 4 person 
occupancy. Given that there is a higher housing need for 1 and 2 bed 
units, it is considered that the proposed housing mix would not be 

unacceptable at this location.   
 

6.3 Standard of living environment – Acceptable  

 
Standard of accommodation - Internal floor area 

 
6.3.1 In March 2015, the Government published 'Technical housing standards 

- nationally described space standard.' This document sets out 
requirements for the gross internal floor area of new dwellings at a 
defined level of occupancy as well as floor areas and dimensions for key 

parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage and floor to ceiling height. 
This is supported by the Mayor's 'Housing' SPG 2016 to reflect the 

national guidance and BLP Policies 4 and Policy 37. 
 

6.3.2 The proposed residential units would meet the National Housing 

Standards and adequate internal living space would be provided. The 
ranges of the proposed internal floor areas would be as follows: 

 
 Policy requirements Proposed internal 

floor area 

1 bed/ 2 person 50sq.m 50.5 sq.m to 62.4sq.m 
2 bed/ 4 person 70sq.m 70.4 sq.m to 76.2 sq.m 

 

Page 51



6.3.3 The accommodation of the proposed units have been well laid out and 
are designed to ensure that outlook, privacy, outdoor private spaces and  

adequate sunlight and daylight can be provided for the future occupiers. 
It is considered that a good standard of living environment can be 

provided for the future occupiers.  
 

 Amenity space  

 
6.3.3 Standard 26 and 27 of the London Housing SPD requires a minimum of 

5sq.m private outdoor space to be provided for a 1 to 2 person dwelling 
and an extra 1sq.m to be provided for each additional occupant. The 
minimum depth and width of all balconies and other private extension 

spaces should be 1,500mm. 
 

6.3.4 Paragraph 2.3.31 of the Housing SPD states "Private open space is 
highly valued and should be provided for all new housing development. 
Minimum private open space standards have been established in the 

same way as the internal space standards, by considering the spaces 
required for furniture, access and activities in relation to the number of 

occupants". 
 

6.3.5 Each of the proposed residential flats would be provided with a private 

balcony and will comply with the required external space standards. The 
size of the residential balcony on the top/fourth floor would be up to 

17.6sq.m for the one bed unit and up to 19.1sq.m for the two bed unit. It 
should be noted that there are two areas of outdoor spaces which would 
be provided to the rear of the proposed building. Overall, it is considered 

that the proposal would provide a good quality of living environment for 
future occupiers.  

 
Child play 
 

6.3.6 London Plan Policy S4 states that development proposals that are likely 
to be used by children and young people should: 1) increase 

opportunities for play and informal recreation and enable children and 
young people to be independently mobile; 2) for residential 
development, incorporate good-quality, accessible play provision for all 

ages. At least 10 square metres of play space should be provided per 
child.  

 
6.3.7 The child yield associated to this development is 4.3 children and a play 

area of 43.sqm should be provided. Two outdoor areas would be 

provided to the rear of the proposed building. It should be noted that the 
outdoor area of the car park would measure in excess of 420sq.m and 

is of sufficient size to accommodate a dedicated play space. Subject to 
the details of play equipment to be secured by a planning condition, it is 
considered that the proposal would provide a good standard of 

accommodation. 
 

 

Page 52



Summary  
 

6.3.8 The proposal would comply with the Nationally Described Space Standard  
with adequate outdoor communal spaces to accommodate child play 

areas. 
 

6.4 Design - Acceptable 

 
6.4.1 The historic mapping record indicates that The Avenue was once occupied 

by suburban houses and is spaced out with larger front and rear gardens. 
The modern residential redevelopment started to emerge around the 
1980s and many detached houses have been replaced by modern 

apartment blocks. It is noted that there is a varying degree in terms of built 
form, architectural style and density along the road. There is also a general 

unity in terms of building height, pattern of development and the general 
suburban setting can be observed in the area and along The Avenue as 
the residential buildings are well spaced out and surrounded by abundant 

planting. New development should fully take into account its local context, 
in line with BLP Policy 37 which requires development to be attractive to 

look at, of a good architectural quality and should complement the scale, 
proportion, form, layout and material of adjacent buildings and area. 
 

Site layout  
 

6.4.2The most successful streets and places are normally defined by a 
consistent building line that delivers a clear sense of enclosure, a shared 
coherent identity and local distinctiveness. The proposed building would 

replace the existing houses facing The Avenue. The proposed front 
building line would be broadly in line with the adjacent residential buildings 

to the west and east. The forecourt would be landscaped with two disabled 
parking spaces and communal waste storage area. The main car park and 
outdoor spaces associated to the proposal would be located to the rear of 

the proposed building. The siting and layout of the building is considered 
to be acceptable and would follow the established pattern of development 

along the road.  
 
6.4.3 Objections have been received concerning the pattern of the development 

and the proposal would constitute tandem development, overdevelopment 
and out of keeping with its surroundings. It should be noted that the 

terraced houses in the original scheme have been removed from this 
current revised proposal. The layout of the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable and would be in keeping with the established urban grain and 

would comply with BLP Policy 37.  
  

Design, scale and massing  
 
6.4.3 The proposed building would be up to five storeys in height and 

measures approximately 15.2 metres to the top of the flat roof.  It is noted 
that the proposed building would be approximately 3.7 metres (73.88m 

AOD) higher than the Nightingale Court. However, it should be noted 

Page 53



that the proposed building would be located on a slope and the proposed 
building would be part four and part 5 storeys in height. The floor plate 

of the proposed fourth (top) floor would be reduced when compared with 
its lower floors. The height of the proposed building would drop down to 

70.98m AOD, with a reduced height that measures approximately 0.8 
metres higher than Nightingale Court. Furthermore, it should also be 
noted that the proposed building would not be higher than Morley Court 

which measures approximately 75.11m AOD.  As such, it is considered 
that the scale of the proposed building including its building height would 

be acceptable at this location.  
 

6.4.4 It is acknowledged that the building would be taller than the adjacent two 

storey detached dwellings at 76c and 76d The Avenue, however as 
illustrated in the street scene elevation below the height and massing of 

the proposed building would generally accord with the general scale of 
development in the street. 
 

6.4.5 Due to the topography of the site and the relationship between the 
proposed building and its surrounding area, it is considered that the 

proposal would not appear out of scale or out of keep along this section 
of The Avenue. The proposal would be compatible with the buildings in 
the surrounding area.  

 

 
Fig.2. Proposed street scene 
 

6.4.6 The proposed building elevation is designed with a stagger of building 

lines. The proposed windows and balconies have been designed to 
increase the interest of its front elevation and break down the bulkiness 

of the building. The fenestration of the proposed building would present 
a good degree of symmetrical appearance. The windows and balconies 
are arranged with an emphasis on its verticality. It is considered that the 

design and appearance of the proposal would be acceptable.  
 

 Material palette 
 

6.4.7 The proposed external materials would mainly comprise of red colour 

brick, light white and grey colour concrete.  The materials of the 
balconies would be made of glass with louvres.  Green roofs along with 

solar panels would be introduced at the roof level. Given that there is a 
variation of architectural building styles along The Avenue, it is 
considered that the proposed external materials would be acceptable.   
 
 

Page 54



Fire Strategy 
 

6.4.8 The matter of fire safety compliance is covered by Part B of the Building 
Regulations. A fire strategy is submitted. However, to ensure that 

development proposals achieve highest standards of fire safety, 
reducing risk to life, minimising the risk of fire spread, and providing 
suitable and convenient means of escape which all building users can 

have confidence in, applicants should consider issues of fire safety 
before building control application stage, taking into account the diversity 

of and likely behaviour of the population as a whole (London Plan Policy 
D12).  
 

6.4.9 A fire strategy report which outlines the means of escape, fire detection 
and alarm systems, emergency lighting, signage, access and facilities 

for the fire services and the provision of fire hydrants is identified. 
  

6.4.10 Compliance to the fire statement will be conditioned however, 

compliance with the Building Regulations will still be required at the 
appropriate stage of the development. 
  
Secured by design 
 

6.4.11 London Plan Policy D3 states measures to design out crime should be 
integral to development proposals and be considered early in the design 
process. Development should reduce opportunities for anti-social 

behaviour, criminal activities, and terrorism, and contribute to a sense of 
safety without being overbearing or intimidating. Developments should 

ensure good natural surveillance, clear sight lines, appropriate lighting, 
logical and well-used routes and a lack of potential hiding places. This 
approach is supported by BLP Policy 37 (General Design). 
 

6.4.12 The proposed layout is designed with clear route and uses of spaces are 

well defined. The designing out crime officer was consulted, and no 
objection was raised in respect to the proposed layout, subject to a 
planning condition requiring the proposed development to achieve 

Secured by Design accreditation. As such, it is considered that the siting 
and layout of the proposal would be acceptable and would comply with 

the policy. 
  
6.5 Neighbourhood Amenity - Acceptable 

 

6.5.1 BLP Policy 37 requires development be expected to respect the amenity 

of the occupants of the neighbouring buildings and ensure they are not 
harmed by noise and disturbance, inadequate daylight, sunlight privacy or 
by overshadowing. Nightingale Court and number 76c The Avenue are 

adjoining to the application site and would be impacted by the proposed 
development.  

 
 
 

Page 55



 76c The Avenue  
 

6.5.2  Development should not result in an unacceptable material deterioration 
of the daylight and sunlight conditions of surrounding development. Nor 

should the development result in an unacceptable level of overshadowing 
to its surroundings. The BRE Guide states that the amount of daylight 
(VSC) and its distribution (NSL) are important. The reductions in daylight 

would be noticeable to occupiers if the VSC measured at the centre of an 
existing main window is less than 27%, and less than 0.8 times its former 

value. 
 
6.5.3 The ground level of the application site is approximately 1 metre lower 

than the neighbouring property. The flank wall of the proposed building 
would be positioned approximately 1.5 metres to its side boundary and 

projecting approximately 5.4 metres further from the rear wall of the 
neighbouring property. It is noted that a sunlight and daylight report is 
submitted, which indicates that adequate light would be maintained for 

the front and rear windows. The sunlight and daylight report indicates 
that the proposal would be within the BRE guidance.  

 
6.5.4 The projection of the building would interfere with the 45 degree line of 

the neighbouring rear windows at Number 76c The Avenue and the 

proposal would result in a reduction of availability of daylight and sunlight  
and overshadowing. Having considered its orientation and local context 

of The Avenue, it is on balance considered that the proposal would not 
result in a significant harm to the living conditions of the neighbouring 
properties. 

 
6.5.5 There are no side windows in the proposed building that would 

potentially allow views into the front and rear windows of the 
neighbouring properties. It is noted that the proposed building would 
result in an increased sense of enclosure. However, it should be noted 

that the proposed building would be positioned approximately 1.5 metres 
from its side boundary. The front boundary line of the proposed building 

would be broadly in line with the neighbouring property. It is 
recommended that privacy screening be secured by condition to prevent 
undue overlooking from the front-facing balconies adjacent to the 

boundary with No. 76c. 
 

6.5.6 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would result in a limited degree 
of a level of harm upon the neighbouring properties in terms of sunlight, 
daylight and enclosure. As the level of harm is considered to be limited 

it is on balance not considered to be sufficient to warrant a reason for 
refusal of the application. 

 
  

Nightingale Court 
 

6.5.7 The proposed floor plans indicate that the rear wall of the proposed 

building would project approximately 1.3 metres further than the rear wall 

Page 56



of the neighbouring property. The flank wall of the proposal would be 
located approximately 1 metre from its side boundary towards 

Nightingale Court. Due to its limited projection and relationship with the 
neighbouring properties, it is considered that the proposals would not 

have an adverse impact on neighbours’ residential amenities in terms of 
loss of light, enclosure, outlook and privacy.  
 

Kingfisher Court, Morley Court, Magnolia Court, Tern Court, Lorraine 
Court and 76d The Avenue.  

 
6.5.8 These properties are located further away from the application site. Due 

to the siting of the proposal and relationship with these properties, it is 

not considered that the proposal would have an adverse impact on 
residential amenities. 

  
6.5.9 The proposal would intensify the use of the site to provide more 

dwellings and introduce a car park to the rear of the proposed building.  

However, it should be noted that the proposed use and the layout would 
be compatible to its surroundings and Nightingale Court. Given that the 

proposed car park would be located approximately 8 metres to the rear 
of the proposed building and taking into consideration its relationship 
with the adjoining properties, it is considered that any noise and 

disturbance associated to the car park would be limited and would not 
be incompatible to its surroundings.  
 
 

6.6 Transport - Acceptable  

 

Access 

 
6.5.1 BLP Policy 32 states the Council will consider the potential impact of any 

development on road safety and will ensue that it is not significantly and 

adversely affected. The access to the site would measure 3.8 metres 
wide with a 5 metre passing place at the top and bottom of the access 

road. A separate 1.4 metre walkway is proposed on the western side of 
the access for pedestrian and cycles. The Council’s highway team was 
consulted and consider the proposed access arrangement would be 

acceptable. 
 

 Parking provision  
 
6.5.2 London Plan Policy T6.1 states new residential development should not 

exceed the maximum parking standard set out in Table 10.3. There is 
no minimum standard set in the London Plan, except disabled parking 

spaces and requirement for electric charging points.  For outer London 
with a PTAL rating between 0 to 1, a maximum of 1.5 spaces should be 
provided for each 1 or 2 bed. A maximum of 27 parking spaces is 

suggested in the London Plan. However, consideration should also be 
given to the minimum requirements of Local Plan, the proposed housing 

size and distance to the nearest railway station. 

Page 57



 
6.5.3 Table 1 in the BLP Policy 30 (Parking) sets the off-street parking 

standard for new residential development, subject to the particular 
characteristics of the development and the public transport accessibility. 

For sites with a PTAL rating between 0 to 2, a minimum of 1 space 
should be provided for each 1 or 2 bed unit. 

 

6.5.4 London Plan Policy T6.1 states disabled persons parking should be 
provided for new residential developments. Residential development 

over 10 units must as ensure 3 percent of the dwelling, at least one 
designated disabled persons parking bay per dwelling is available from 
the outset. Proposals must demonstrate as part of the parking design 

and management plan, how an additional 7 percent of dwellings could 
be provided within one designed disabled persons parking space per 

dwelling in future.  
 
6.5.5 A residential car park with 18 spaces would be located to the rear of the 

proposed residential building and to the front of the mews houses, in a 
relatively close proximity. Two disabled parking spaces would be located 

to the front of the proposed building.  
.  
6.5.6 The proposed parking provision would comply with the London Plan and 

Local Plan. It should be noted that Ravensbourne Railway station is 
located approximately 650 metres from the site.  The London Plan sets 

a maximum threshold and development should not exceed the 
suggested threshold. The Council’s highway division have advised that 
the level of proposed parking spaces is satisfactory and acceptable. 

  
 Electric charging point 

 
6.5.7 London Plan Policy T6.1 requires at least 20 percent of spaces should 

have active charging facilities with passive provision for all remaining 

spaces. This approach is consistent with BLP Policy which requires 1 in 
5 spaces be provided with electric charging points.  A transport 

statement is submitted which indicates that 20 percent active and 80 
percent of the parking spaces would be provided with passive charging 
facilities. Whilst these provisions are not indicated the proposed plan, in 

view of the proposed site layout, it is considered that these details can 
be secured by planning condition should planning permission is 

forthcoming.  
  
 Cycle parking 

 
6.5.8 London Plan Policy T5 set the standard for cycle parking. A minimum of 

36 long stay spaces (1.5 spaces per 2 person unit and 2 spaces per all 
other dwellings) and a minimum of 2 short stay spaces should be 
provided (2 spaces per 5 to 40 dwellings). Transport statement indicates 

that a total of 32 spaces would be provided, and 4 further spaces would 
be required to meet the minimum requirements. Having considered the 

layout of the proposal, it considered that additional cycle storage area 

Page 58



can be provided within the site. Among the proposed cycle storage 
areas, 2 spaces would be provided to the front of the residential block. 

Subject to the additional cycle storage details, it is considered that 
proposal would comply with the London Plan.   

 
 Construction phase  
 

6.5.9 The Avenue is an unmade road. Should planning permission be 
recommended, the demolition and construction works would have the 

potential to cause deterioration of the unmade road. A planning condition 
requiring maintence and repair of the road, during the construction phase 
and contained within a detailed management plan should be secured by 

a planning condition.  
 

Waste services 
 
6.5.10 BLP Policy 113 states major development proposals will be required to 

implement site waste management plans to reduce waste on site and 
manage remaining waste sustainability. New development will be 

required to include adequate space to support recycling and efficient 
waste collection. Standard 22 of the London Housing SPD states the 
location of commucnal waste storage should satisfy local requires for 

waste collecton. 
 

6.5.11 Under section 45 of the Enivornmental Protection Act 1990, as amended 
(EPA 1990), the local authority in England has a legal duty to collect 
domestic household waste without a charge and set requirements for 

waste storage size, location and set ups for its collecton or opeartional 
requirements.  

 
6.5.12 The Council published a guidance note for waste storage and collection 

in October 2011. On developments comprising 6 or more dwellings in 

one block it stipulates that the following be provided: 1 x 1100 litre bin 
for non-recyclable, 1 x 240 litre bin for bottle/plastic, 1 x 240 litre for paper 

including provision for food waste.  
 
6.5.13 Objections have been received regarding the siting and semi-open 

nature of the proposed communal storage area. The proposed site 
layout plan indicates that a communal waste storage area would 

measure approximatley 3.7 metres wide and 4.9 metres deep with a 
storage capacity of 4 x 1100 litre bins and 8 x 240 litre bins. It is 
considred that the siting of the communal storage area would be 

acceptable for waste collection. A planning condition requiring the bin 
storage to be secured for the residents use is recommended.   

 
6.5.14The Council’s waste services have reviewed the  revised proposal and 

considered that the location and size of the proposal would be 

acceptable for the Council to maintain its duty for domestic properites. 
Given that the terrace houses including arrangments for private 

Page 59



domestic waste collectors to collect the waste have been removed from 
this proposal, it is considered that the current proposal is acceptable.  

 
6.7 Environmental Health - Acceptable  

 
Air Quality  
 

6.7.1 The NPPF at para 170 states decisions should among other things 
prevent new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 

unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of air pollution. Development should, wherever possible, help to 
improve local environmental conditions such as air quality. Proposals 

should be designed and built to improve local air quality and reduce the 
extent to which the public are exposed to poor air quality.  

 
6.7.2 BLP Policy 120 states developments which are likely to have an impact 

on air quality or which are located in an area which will expose future 

occupiers to pollutant concentrations above air quality objective levels 
will be required to submit an Air Quality Assessment. Developments  

should aim to meet “air quality neutral” benchmarks in the GLA’s Air 
Quality Neutral report. London Plan Policy SI-1 also echo this 
requirement.  

 
6.7.3 The site is within Bromley Air Quality Management Area which means the 

site is located within an area that has been declared for exceedance of 
the annual mean Air Quality Objectives for nitrogen dioxide (NO2). An 
air quality assessment is submitted which assess the likely effects of the 

proposals for the proposed end-users, and to assess potential impacts 
as a result of the development. The assessment indicates that proposal 

would not exceed the legal limits at operational phase. There is no 
gas/energy plant for use on site and no neutral assessment is therefore 
undertaken. The Council’s Environment Health officers have considered 

the details and considered that the transport emission is not considered 
air quality neutral. The mitigation measures to include electric charging 

points along with a construction management plan will need to be 
secured by planning conditions, should planning permission be 
recommended.  

 
 Noise and vibration  

 
6.7.4 It is noted that the site is adjacent to a railway line. A noise impact 

assessment is submitted which indicates that the proposal would not be 

unsuitable for residential use and would achieve the requirements with 
glazing. The internal noise levels were calculated and compared to the 

internal noise recommendation contained in British Standard 8233: 2014 
Sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings – Code of practice and 

the WHO guidelines. Vibration was analysed using ‘BS6472: Guide to 
evaluation of human exposure to vibration in buildings’. The Council’s  

Environment Health was consulted and raised no objection,  

 

Page 60



6.8  Trees - Acceptable  

 

6.8.1 Trees play an important role within the urban environment. London Plan 
Policy G7 states development proposal should ensure that wherever 

possible, existing trees of value are retained. BLP Policy 73 states new 
development will be required to take particular account of existing trees 
on the site and on adjoining land, which in the interest of visual amenity 

and/or wildlife habitat. 
 

6.8.2 An Arboricultural Impact Assessment is submitted which indicates eight 
individual trees and a hedge would be removed. The condition of the 
trees/shrubs to be removed are as follows:  

 

 T15 – Hourse Chestnut (category U) 

 T17 – Apple (category C),  

 T18 – Pear (category C),  

 T20(Strawberry tree (Category C),  

 T1 unrecognised species (category C), 

 T4 – Magnolia (category C),  

 T5 Magnolia (category C),  

 T7- Pine(category C), 

 H8 – Beech (category C) 
 

6.8.3 The proposal would result in the loss of a moderate amount of low quality 
trees which cannot be directly migrated for in the short-term. A 

landscaping plan is provided which indicated replacement planting would 
be provided. The Council’s tree officers have considered the proposal and 
raised no objection. The proposals have indicated that replacement 

planting will be provided and these details should be secured by a planning 
condition. The details should include an updated tree protection plan and 

Arboriculture Method Statement. Subject to the planning conditions, it is 
considered that replacement planting of sufficient quality and quantities 
can be secured.  
 

6.9 Ecology -  Acceptable  

 

6.9.1 BLP Policy 72 states planning permission will not be granted for 
development that will have an adverse effect on protected species, unless 

mitigation measures can be secured to facilitate survival, reduce 
disturbance, or provide alternative habitats. London Plan Policy G6 states 

that development proposals should manage impacts on biodiversity and  
aim to secured net biodiversity gain. 
 

6.92 Beckenham Place Park is the nearest Local Nature Reserve located 
approximately 375 metres north of the application site.  Shortlands Golf 

Course and River Ravensbourne are located approximately 640 metres to 
the east of the site. A preliminary ecological appraisal and a bat survey 
haven been submitted which considers the likely impact of the scheme 

upon protective species. The report indicates the impact on the following 
protected species as follow: 

Page 61



 
o Amphibians – Negligible  

 
No evidence of amphibians was found. Therefore, no impacts will occur 

on local amphibian populations.  
 

o Badgers – Negligible  

 
No badger setts are present on site. Therefore, no impacts will occur on 

badgers.  
 

o Birds – High 

  
Birds could nest within the trees and scrub. Therefore, the proposed 

scheme of works may be of a high negative impact without any 
compensation and mitigation.  

 

o  Flora – Negligible 
 

No protected or rare floral species were identified on the survey site.  
 

o Hedgehogs – High  

 
The habitats on site have the potential to support the local hedgehog 

populations.  
 

o Reptiles – Negligible  

 
No suitable reptile habitats are connected to the site. Therefore, the 

proposed works will not affect reptile populations. 
 

o Bats – High  

 
There is a moderate likelihood of bat roosts on site. Therefore, the 

proposed scheme of work may negatively affect bats without any 
mitigation or compensation.  

 

6.9.3 Bat surveys and an emergence survey was carried out on the 23rd 
September 2021.  The emergences survey indicates that there was 

foraging activity by common pipistrelle along the treelines and between 
the onsite buildings. However, there was no emergences observed from 
buildings 76a or 76b and therefore, no mitigation is considered 

necessary in respects of the demolition of the buildings. As part of the 
mitigation works, the report recommends tree removal should be 

undertaken outside of the bird breeding season (the bird breeding 
season runs from March to August) or further inspection by a suitably 
qualified ecologist will be required no more than 24 hours before this 

vegetation is removed. The report recommends repeat surveys will 
potentially be required prior to any works commenced should works be 

commenced over 12 months. The site should be under supervision of a 

Page 62



qualified ecologist adequate measures can be provided should any 
nesting or evidence of protected species exists. Should planning 

permission be recommended, these details including installation of bat 
and bird boxes should be secured by planning conditions.   

 
 Urban greening  
 

6.9.4  London Plan Policy G5 states major development should contribute to 
the greening of London including urban greening as a fundamental 

element of site and building design, and by incorporating measures such 
as high-quality landscaping, green roofs, green wall and naturel- based 
sustainable drainage. The London plan recommends a target score of 

0.4 for developments that are predominantly residential. London Plan 
Policy G6 states development should manage impacts on biodiversity 

and aim to secure net biodiversity gain.  
 
6.9.5 Green roofs with replacement planting would be incorporated as part of 

this proposal. It is indicated that permeable hard surfacing would be 
incorporated, and the proposal would achieve an Urban Greening Factor 

of 0.4 and would meet the minimum requirements.  
 

6.10 Drainage and flooding - Acceptable 

 

6.10.1 The NPPF states that major development should incorporate 

sustainable drainage systems which should take account of advice from 
the lead flood authority; have appropriate proposed minimum 
operational standards; have maintenance arrangements in place to 

ensure an acceptable standard of operation for the lifetime of the 
development; and where possible, provide multifunctional benefits. 

London Plan Policy SI-13 and BLP Policy 116 states development 
proposals should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure that 
surface water run-off is managed as close to its source as possible. 

 
6.10.2 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 where the probability  

of river or sea flooding is less than 0.1% (1 in 1000) chance in any given 
year as defined by the Environment Agency. A Flood Risk Assessment 
is submitted which indicates that the site is located within an area subject 

to the low risk of surface flooding. A surface water drainage strategy has 
been designed in line with the most recent EA Climate Change Guidance 

to consider and manage the impact of a 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate 
change rainfall. The surface water will be accommodated within the site 
and therefore prevent potential exceedance flows off-site 

 
6.10.3 The proposed development has the potential to increase the flood risk 

on and off site if not mitigated. A flood risk assessment is submitted 
which indicates the proposal would follow the drainage hierarchy as 
outlined in the London Plan. The proposed drainage hierarchy would 

include the reuse of rainwater and grey water recycling. Green roofs 
would be incorporated to reduce surface water run-off rates. Attenuation 

of surface water on site will be required and this will be limited to 

Page 63



greenfield runoff rate. The submitted report also recommended 
permeable paving should be used. A 1 metre deep proposed sub-base 

with a porosity of 30% would provide approximately 60 cubic metres of 
attenuation underneath the paring and cycle paring area. 

 
6.10.4 The Council’s drainage officers have reviewed the flood risk assessment 

and considered that the proposed drainage strategy would be 

acceptable, subject to the design details. With regard to surface water 
drainage along The Avenue, the drainage details will need to be agreed 

by the Council. Should planning conditions be recommended the design 
details covering surrounding the proposed buildings and along the 
Avenue will need to be secured by planning conditions.  

 
6.11 Energy - Acceptable  

 

6.11.1 Paragraph 153 of the NPPF states that in determining planning  
applications, LPAs should expect new developments to comply with 

policies and requirements for decentralised energy supply unless this is 
demonstrated to not be feasible or viable.  

 
6.11.2 BLP Policy 124 and London Plan Policy SI 2 requires major development 

should be net zero- carbon, reducing greenhouse gas emissions in 

operation and minimising both annual and peak energy demand in 
accordance with the energy hierarchy: 

1) Be Lean: use less energy and manage demand during operation;  
2) Be Clean: exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) 
and supply energy efficiently and cleanly;  

3) Be Green: maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, 
storing and using renewable energy on-site; 

4) Be Seen: monitor, verify and report on energy performance.  
 
6.11.3 London Plan requires a net zero-carbon target for all new major  

developments with at least a 35% on-site reduction beyond Part L 2013 
of the Building Regulations. Under the Be Lean measures, residential 

development should achieve 10 per cent through energy efficiency 
measures. Where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero-carbon target 
cannot be fully achieved on site, any short fall should be provided in 

agreement with the borough, either: 1) Though a cash in lieu contribution 
to the borough’s carbon offset fund or 2) Off-site provided that an 

alternative proposal is identified and delivery is certain. Development 
proposals referable to the Mayor should calculate whole life-cycle 
carbon emissions through a nationally recognised Whole LifeCycle 

Carbon Assessment and demonstrate actions taken to reduce lifecycle 
carbon emissions.  

 
6.11.4 An Energy Assessment following the GLA’s energy hierarchy has been  

received and this has been reviewed by the Council’s Energy officer. 

Under the “Be Lean” category, a range of passive design features would 
be employed to reduce the heat loss and demand for energy. 

 

Page 64



6.11.5 The measures include enhanced building fabric, minimising heat loss  
through air infiltration, reducing reliance on artificial lighting, utilising low 

energy lighting and efficient space heating and hot water systems, 
coupled with advanced controls. 

 
6.11.6 These measures would meet the minimum 10 percent requirement for 

domestic development outlined in the GLA energy guidance and this is 

considered acceptable.  
 

6.11.7 As there is no district network in the area, it is not possible to achieve 
any carbon reduction under the “Be Clean” category at the present time 
and no carbon reduction can be awarded under this category.  

 
6.11.8 Under “Be Green” category, a range of on-site renewable energy 

technologies. It is considered that the use of air source heat pumps and 
solar photovoltaic (PV) would be the most feasible option for this site. 
The air source heat pumps would operate by extracting heat energy from 

the surrounding air and transferring that energy in the form of higher 
graded heat into the building using under floor heating or radiator 

systems or through an all-air system. A total of 33 solar panels (15.2kW) 
would be installed on the roof level. 
 

6.11.9 The total regulated onsite carbon saving as a result of the above 
measures would achieve 35.5 percent (8 tonnes) carbon saving against 

Part L 2013 of the Building Regulations Compliant Development. There 
is a shortfall of 64.9 percent (14.8 tonnes) and a planning contribution of 
£ 42,180 would be secured by a legal agreement. The breakdown is as 

follows:  
 On site regulated carbon dioxide emissions (Building Regs 2013 

Compliant Development) = 15.5 tCO2 per annum  
 Proposed on site reduction of carbon emissions from energy 

demand/renewables =5.5 tCO2 per annum  
 On site shortfall = 9.95 tCO2 per annum  

 Payment-in-lieu amount calculated as 9.95 (tCO2) x £95 (per tCO2) x 

30 (years) = £28, 500. 

 
6.11.10The original and revised energy assessment are prepared in line with  

the London Energy Assessment. The revised energy assessment and 
the required carbon offsetting assessment to be secured by a s106 legal 
agreement is being verified at the time of writing. Any update will be 

report at the committee, if required.  
 
7.0 Other Issues   

 
CIL  

 
7.1 The development is liable to London and Bromley Community 

 Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  
 
 

Page 65



Head of Terms  
 

7.2 The following planning obligations will need to be secured as part of an 
S106 legal agreement, which the applicant has agreed to in principle, 

should permission be granted: 
 

o Carbon off-setting and Be Seen measures 

o Monitoring fee  
 
8.0 Planning balance and conclusion 

 
 

8.1 The principle to redevelop the site to provide more housing is supported 
at this location. The proposal is designed to fit in the established pattern 

of development of the area with a building footprint compatible to the 
surrounding properties along The Avenue.  
 

8.2 The proposal is designed to optimise the development potential of the 
site providing adequate internal and external living spaces for the future 

occupiers without causing significant harm on the residential amenities 
enjoyed by the neighbouring properties.  
 

8.3 As the Council cannot at present demonstrate a 5 year land supply of 
deliverable housing sites, the housing policies of the development plan 

are out-of-date and the presumption of sustainable development set out 
in Para. 11 of the NPPF applies to the application. This means a 
presumption in favour of granting planning permission, unless any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies within the 

NPPF taken as a whole.  
 

8.4 There are no other adverse impacts of the scheme that are considered 

to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the economic, social and 
environmental benefits of the scheme when considering the NPPF as a 

whole. It is therefore recommended planning permission is granted 
 

8.5 Subject to compliance with the recommendations in the technical reports 

and implementation of the recommended works undertaken where 
necessary, it is considered that the application is recommended for 

permission, subject to the planning conditions, completion of a S106 
legal agreement 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 

PERMISSION SUBJECT TO S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT, PLANNING 
CONDITIONS. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES 

 

Page 66



Standard Conditions 
  

1. Time limit of 3 years  
2. Drawing numbers  

 
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 

3. Construction and Environmental Management Plan including 
maintence and repair works of The Avenue during construction period 

4. Surface Water Drainage  
5. Slab level 
6. Arboriculture method statement 

7. Pilling method statement 
 

Above Ground Construction Conditions 
 

8. External materials  

9. Green roof  
10. Hard and soft landscaping  

11. Child Play and strategy and management plan 
12. Electric charging points  
13. Water infrastructure  

14. Energy Statement  
15. Noise assessment including specification of glazing, balcony screen 

and all internal and external plant. 
16. Privacy screen to balconies 

 

Prior to occupation conditions:  
 

17. Car park management plan 
18. Servicing and delivery plan 
19. Secure by Design 

20. Swift nest bricks, bird and bat boxes 
21. Cycle storage 

22. Refuse storage 
 
Compliance  

 
23. Air quality assessment 

24. Fire Safety 
25. Non-road Mobile Machinery 
26. Parking spaces  

27. Wheelchair units 
28. Obscured glazing to flank windows 

 
Informative  

 

- Mayoral CIL 
- Secured by Design 

- Dust Monitoring 

Page 67



- Vehicle crossover  
- Thames Water (various) 

Page 68



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125023 March 2022

20/05047/FULL1

 

Page 69



This page is left intentionally blank



 
Committee Date 

 
31/3/22 
 

 
Address 

85 Royston Road 
Penge  
London  

SE20 7QW  
  

 
Application 
Number 

20/05254/FULL1 Officer  - Susanna Stevenson 

Ward Penge And Cator 
Proposal Construction of three storey residential building comprising six flats (1 

no one bedroom, 3 no. two bedroom and 2 no. three bedroom) with 
associated cycle and car parking, refuse storage and landscaping.   

Applicant 
 

Neale 

Agent 
 

Mr Alex Richards  

Countrywide House  

23 West Bar 
Banbury 

OX16 9SA 
 
 

31-35   

Kirby Street  
London  

EC1N 8TE  
  
 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

 
 

Call-In 
 

Councillor call in 
 

  Yes   

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

 

Permission 
 

 
KEY DESIGNATIONS 

 

Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  
London City Airport Safeguarding  
Open Space Deficiency  

Smoke Control SCA 51 
 

 
Land use Details  

 Use Class or Use 

description   
 

 

Floor space  (SQM) 

Page 71

Agenda Item 4.3



 
Proposed  
 

 

 
RESIDENTIAL  

 
437.2 SQM 

 
Residential Use  

 Number of bedrooms per unit 
 

1 2 3 4 Plus  Total  / Payment in lieu 

 

Market 
 

1 3 2  6 

 
Affordable  (shared 

ownership) 
 

     

 

Affordable (social 
rent) 

  

     

Total  
 

1 3 2  6 

 
Vehicle parking  Existing number 

of spaces 

 

Total proposed 
including spaces 

retained  
 

Difference in spaces  
(+ or -) 

Standard car spaces 0 

 

3 +3 

Disabled car spaces  
 

   

Cycle  0 

 

12 +12 

 
Electric car charging points  1 ACTIVE EVCP 

 

 
Representation  

summary  

 
 

 

Neighbour letter sent 21.12.21 (revised plans) 
Neighbour letter sent 19.07.21 
Neighbour letter sent 18.02.21 

 

Total number of responses  27 

Number in support  1 

Number neutral 1 

Number of objections 25 

 

Page 72



 
 

 
 

1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  
 

 The site optimisation of the proposal scheme is acceptable and the amended 

proposals would not be detrimental to the character, appearance or visual 
amenities of the locality. 

 The proposal would provide 6 residential units of an acceptable standard of 
amenity, design and layout, including with regards to internal noise levels. 

 The proposal would not have a significant unacceptable impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity 

 There are no highways objections to the proposal – the proposal would not have an 

adverse impact on the local road network or local parking conditions 

 The impacts of construction and upon the neighbouring culvert are capable of 

mitigation through suitable conditions. 
 
 

2. LOCATION 

 

 
 

       Application site  

 

2.1 The application site comprises a vacant piece of land to the south of the right-angle 
junction of Royston Road and Westbury Road.  The site is accessed via a narrow 

lane which leads from the bend in the street to the south west, towards the site of 
Royston Hall. The site is bounded to the north east by a gated narrow footpath 
which separates the site from the end of terrace maisonettes at 81/83 Royston 

Road and leads to a longer path at the rear, along the course of the culverted river. 
 

Page 73



 
      Site enclosed by metal palisade fencing 

 

 
 
2.2 To the north west of the site is the access lane leading to the hall, beyond which is 

the flank elevation and garden boundary of No. 1 Westbury Road. 
 

 

 
 Application site in centre of image 

Page 74



 
2.3 To the south west the site is bounded by the retained site associated with Royston 

Hall (also known as the Penge and District Trade Union and Social Club) and the 
site itself once hosted an extension to the hall building which has since been 

demolished. The social club site has a sizeable car park and ancillary caretaker’s 
residence (The Cottage) which is sited towards the south eastern side of the site 
approx. 45m from the application site and separated by the main bulk of the hall 

building.  
 

 
    3D View of application site with Hall building beyond 

 
2.4 To the rear of the site is an access track which leads between the dwellings fronting 

Royston Road and those fronting Ravenscroft Road, and this path runs along the 
course of a culverted river and also forms the local ward boundary. 

 
2.5 The site measures 351 sqm and is irregularly shaped. It is currently open, with a 

metal fence separating it from the access lane. The frontage width of the site is 

approx. 17m and the front to rear depth of the site ranges from approx. 25m along 
the north eastern boundary to approx. 15m along the boundary with Royston Hall.   

 
2.6 The site does not lie within a Conservation Area.  
 

 
3. PROPOSAL 

 

3.1 It is proposed to erect a three storey residential building comprising 6 no. residential 
flats.  

 
3.2 The footprint of the building would address the irregular shape of the site, 

incorporating a staggered/angled rear elevation which presenting a straight 

elevation to the front of the site. 
 

Page 75



 
        Roof Plan 

 

3.3 The building would lie immediately adjacent to the north eastern boundary with the 
passage/pathway next to 81/83 Royston Road. It would be separated from the flank 
elevation (retained) of the hall building by a distance of approx. 0.98m (as scaled from the 

block plan) at the front and approx. 1.9m at the rear. In this space between the building 
and the boundary (and the flank wall of the hall building) it is proposed to provide a canopy 

above vertical cycle storage stands. The passage would be gated at the front, and a 
further gate towards the rear would lead to the amenity space and further cycle storage. 

 

 
3.4 At ground floor level the proposal would include semi-undercroft parking bays set into the 

front elevation of the building, along with a brick arch feature entrance to the flats and a 
covered/enclosed refuse store. As scaled from the submitted drawings the parking spaces 
measure 2.78m in width and the depth from the front boundary of the site to the rear of the 

undercroft spaces measures approx. 5.08m. Three car parking spaces would be provided 
in total.  

 
3.5 The building would be positioned so as to retain 5m separation to the rear boundary, 

increasing to approx. 7m where the site is deeper. 

 
 

 

Page 76



 
        Street scene 
 

3.6 The building would provide residential accommodation over three storeys, with the ground 

and first floors having a vertical front elevation and the second floor relating to a short 
section of hipped roof at the front. The height of the building to “eaves” at the front would 

be approx. 7.2m and the height to the top of the pitched roof element would be approx. 
9.2m. The remainder of the roof would be flat, with a “brown” biodiverse covering.  

 

3.7 The building would be approx. 0.7m higher than the ridgeline of the end of terrace building 
comprising 81/83 Royston Road and approx. 3.3m lower than the ridgeline of the hall 

building. The separation between the flank elevation of the building and the main bulk of 
Royston Hall would be approx. 5.1m and the separation to 81/83 Royston Road would be 
approx. 1m. 

 

 
     Flank elevation facing north east (rear of 1 Westbury Road on left) 

  
3.8 The front elevation of the building would be set back from the front elevation of Nos. 81/83 

by approx. 1.58m and would be sited approx. 10.8m from the flank wall of No. 1 Westbury 

Road and approx. 7m from the flank boundary of that dwelling with the access road.  
 

3.9 Internally, the building would provide 6 no. residential flats, arranged with 2 dwellings per 
floor as follows: 

 

 
 

 

Page 77



 Ground Floor 
 

 Flat 1: 1 bedroom/2 person (GIA 55.5sqm) 
 Flat 2: 2 bedroom/3 person (GIA 67.8sqm) 

 
 

 
      Ground floor plan 

 First Floor 

 
 Flat 3: 2 bedroom/4 person (GIA 74sqm) 
 Flat 4: 3 bedroom/5 person (GIA 86.5sqm) 

  

 
  

      First floor plan 

  

Page 78



Second Floor 
 

 Flat 5: 2 bedroom/3 person (GIA 71sqm) 
 Flat 6: 3 bedroom/4 person (GIA 82.5sqm) 

 

 
       Second floor plan 

 

3.10 With regards to amenity space, the flats on the ground floor would have direct access to 
the proposed garden area at the rear which ranges in depth from 5m to approx. 7m. The 

flats on the first and second floors would have private amenity terraces, 2 of which would 
have an area of 7.4sqm and 2 of which would have an area of 8.7sqm. 

 
 
3.11 The application is accompanied by the following documents: 

 

 Covering letter (revised proposals 7/12/21) 

 Planning Statement  

 Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Assessment 

 Internal Daylight Report 

 Transport and Parking Strategy  

 Transport and Parking Strategy Addendum (7/12/21) 

 Flood Risk Assessment (including Drainage Strategy and Assessment) 7/12/21 

 Noise Assessment 2020 (and Addendum 7/12/21) 

 
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 Planning permission was refused in 2015 under reference 15/05451/FULL1 for 
development comprising the construction of four storey building comprising 9 residential 
flats (2 two bedroom and 7 one bedroom) with associated amenity space, balconies, 

refuse and cycle storage and 4 car parking spaces. 
 

Page 79



 
      Front elevation refused 15/05451/FULL1 

 
4.2      Permission was refused on the grounds: 
 

  
1. The proposal, by reason of its height, bulk, design and siting, would result in a 

cramped overdevelopment of the site incongruous and out of character with the 
prevailing pattern of development in the locality and detrimental to the visual 
amenities and distinctiveness of the surrounding area, thereby contrary to 

Policies BE1 and H7 of the Unitary Development Plan, SPG1 and SPG2, 
Policies 3.5 and 7.4 of the London Plan, the Mayor of London's Housing SPG 

and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. The proposal, by reason of its height, siting and design would have a significant 

detrimental impact on the residential amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, resulting in a loss of privacy, noise, disturbance and visual impact, 

thereby contrary to Policy BE1 of the Unitary Development Plan, adopted SPG1 
and SPG2, Policies 3.5 and 7.4 of the London Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

3. Insufficient information has been submitted regarding the finished floor levels of 
the ground floor flat and the relationship between the proposed development 
and the culverted main river, in the absence of which the impact of the 

development on the construction, stability and access to the culvert in particular 
and the flood risks of the development in general are unknown, thereby contrary 

to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance 
and Policy 5.12 of the London Plan. 

 

4. Adequate car parking facilities to provide for the needs of the development 

cannot be provided within the site and as such the proposal would be likely to 
lead to an increased demand for onstreet parking on the local roads to the 
detriment of the amenities of the area, thereby contrary to Policies T3 and T18 

of the Unitary Development Plan and Policy 6.13 of the London Plan. 
 

Page 80



4.3 Under reference 16/04224/FULL1 planning permission was refused for a revised 
scheme which reduced the number of flats from 9 to 6 and the number of floors 

from 4 to 3.  
 

 
   Front elevation refused and dismissed at appeal 16/04224/FULL1 
 

Planning permission was refused on the grounds: 

 
1. The proposal, by reason of its height, bulk, design and siting, would result in a 

cramped overdevelopment of the site incongruous and out of character with the 

prevailing pattern of development in the locality and detrimental to the visual 
amenities and distinctiveness of the surrounding area, thereby contrary to 

Policies BE1 and H7 of the Unitary Development Plan, SPG1 and SPG2, 
Policies 3.5 and 7.4 of the London Plan, the Mayor of London's Housing SPG 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2. The proposal, by reason of its height, siting and design would have a significant 

detrimental impact on the residential amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, resulting in a loss of privacy and visual impact, and would also fail to 
provide a satisfactory standard of accommodation for prospective occupants by 

way of private amenity space, thereby contrary to Policies BE1 and H7 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, adopted SPG1 and SPG2, Policies 3.5 and 7.4 of 

the London Plan, the London Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

4.4 A subsequent appeal against the refusal of planning permission was dismissed. 
The Inspector considered that the main concerns associated with the proposal were 

the design of the development, with specific reference to the ground floor front 
elevation, and the impact of the development on the amenities of No. 1 Westbury 
Road with particular emphasis on loss of privacy. 

 
 

4.5 While the Inspector considered that a contemporary design may (subject to design 
assessment) have been suitable in the context of the site/surroundings, and that 
the height and bulk of the building was acceptable, he considered that at ground 

Page 81



floor level the design lost its integrity, with the ground floor dominated by the 
frontage car parking and a sterile and utilitarian appearance.  

 
4.6 With regards to the impact on 1 Westbury Road, the Inspector noted that the line of 

deciduous trees would provide an effective screen other than when not in leaf. It 
was considered that the level of overlooking associated with the large glass 
stairwell (on the right hand side of the front elevation above) and the Juliet 

balconies in both upper floors of the block would have been unacceptable, harming 
the residential amenities of No. 1 Westbury Road.  

 
 

5. CONSULTATION SUMMARY 

 
A) Statutory  

 

Highways - No objection 
 

 Site is located in an area with a PTAL rating of 4 

 Taking into account parking stress findings, recommended that a condition be 

imposed offering membership of nearest car club for a period of 2 years 

 11 cycle parking spaces required 

 Refuse storage indicated 

 Access from Royston Road utilising existing arrangement is acceptable 

 
Drainage - No objection 
 

 Proposed use of green roof/permeable paving and rainwater butts acceptable 

 Pre-commencement surface water drainage condition recommended 

 
Environment Agency - No objection 

 

 Conditions recommended 
 

Environmental Health – No objection  
 

 The Noise Impact Assessment appears reasonable and it is considered that 
internal noise levels will be suitable subject to a compliance condition (trickle vent 
installation on windows facing Royston Road) 

 
 

B) Local Groups 

 
 

None commented. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 82



C) Adjoining Occupiers 
 

 
Impact on visual amenity (addressed at 7.2)  

 

 Three storeys would be excessive – building should be limited to two storeys with a 
pitched roof 

 Out of character with surrounding buildings 

 Building materials uncharacteristic (grey/glass/zinc) 

 Flat roof out of character 

 Overdevelopment and increased pressure on local services 

 Low standard of landscaping 

 Cramped siting relative to boundaries 

 Proposal would be backland development 
 

 
Impact on neighbouring amenity (addressed at 7.3) 
 

 Loss of privacy and light/overshadowing to adjacent residential property (Westbury 
Road, Ravenscroft Road, Royston Road 

 Impact on outlook, increased sense of enclosure, loss of views of distant trees and 
towards Ravenscroft Road 

 Increased noise and disturbance associated with number of residential flats 
 
Quality of residential accommodation (addressed at 7.4) 

 

 Lack of play space 

 Concern regarding louvre windows limiting daylight and sunlight to flats 

 Inadequate amenity space in balconies and small enclosed rear garden 

 Concern that secured by design measures not integrated into the development 

 Lack of adequate refuse storage provision 

 Concern regarding noise vulnerability 
 
Highways and parking (addressed at 7.5) 

 

 Increase in traffic and risk of accidents 

 Lack of parking 

 Would increase congestion 

 Controlled parking on opposite corner for refuse vehicles to manoeuvre 

 While no objection to lack of parking (fits with Bromley’s commitment to reducing 

reliance on the private car and Mayor’s Transport Strategy) it would be ideal if there 
were safe and segregated cycle routes in the area and bike hangars on Royston 
Road 

 Development not practicable due to limited site space – site does not have its own 
driveway but shares that of the Hall and the site lacks sufficient parking and turning 

space 

 Car parking spaces inadequately sized 

 
 

Page 83



Other matters 
 

 Potential loss of a community asset – Royston Hall (residents likely to complain 
about noise from the halls) 

 Lack of provision for on-site energy generation 

 Increased road pollution 

 Would set a precedent 

 There is a restrictive covenant precluding residential use 

 Plans show site context inaccurately – particularly 1 Westbury Road 

 Statement misrepresents engagement with neighbours 

 Previous appeal is irrelevant and should be disregarded 
 
 

Support 
 

 The revisions are exceptional and much better than previous design and others 
nearby  

 Proposal will improve the vacant and underused site 

 
Neutral 

 

 Design is improved compared to previous and in keeping with surroundings 

(including brick materials) 

 Residents concerns regarding limited parking provision likely to be ignored based 

on loose government guidelines. Should consider what powers available to 
introduce speed calming measures on the rat-run road, and perhaps a dedicated 
car sharing bay in the vicinity 

 
Members are advised that this is a summary of all representations received, following the 
submission of the original proposal in December 2020 and not limited to the re-notification 

following the submission of revised drawings. 
 

Full text of the submitted representations is available on file.  
 

 

6. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

National Policy Framework 2021 
 
NPPG 

 
The London Plan 

 

D1 London's form and characteristics  
D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 

D4 Delivering good design  
D5 Inclusive design 

D6 Housing quality and standards 
D7 Accessible housing 

Page 84



D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency  
D12 Fire safety 

D14 Noise   
H1 Increasing Housing Supply 

H2 Small sites  
H10 Housing Size Mix 
S4 Play and informal recreation 

G5 Urban greening 
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 

SI1 Improving air quality 
SI5 Water infrastructure 
SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 

SI12 Flood risk management 
SI13 Sustainable drainage  

T2 Healthy Streets 
T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding  
T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 

T5 Cycling 
T6 Car parking 

T6.1 Residential Parking 
 
Bromley Local Plan 

 

Policy 1 - Housing supply 

Policy 3 – Backland and garden development 
Policy 4 - Housing design 
Policy 30 - Parking  

Policy 32 - Road Safety 
Policy 33 - Access for All 

Policy 34 - Highway Infrastructure Provision   
Policy 37 - General design of development 
Policy 77 - Landscape Quality and Character 

Policy 112 - Planning for Sustainable Waste management  
Policy 113 - Waste Management in New Development  

Policy 115 - Reducing flood risk 
Policy 116 - Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)  
Policy 117- Water and Wastewater Infrastructure Capacity 

Policy 118 - Contaminated Land 
Policy 119 - Noise Pollution  

Policy 120 - Air Quality  
Policy 122 - Light Pollution 
Policy 123 - Sustainable Design and Construction 

Policy 124 - Carbon dioxide reduction, Decentralise Energy networks and Renewable 
Energy 
 
Supplementary Guidance 
 

Housing (March 2016) 
Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition (2014) 

SPG1 General Design Principles 

Page 85



SPG 2 Residential Design Guidance 
SPG for the Conservation Area 
 
 

7. ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 Principle of development/housing land supply – Acceptable 
 

7.1.1 Housing is a priority use for all London Boroughs, and Policies H1, H2, H10, D3, D4 

and D7 generally encourage the redevelopment of previously developed sites 
where development is designed to complement the character of the locality, the 
design and layout make suitable residential accommodation and the impacts of 

development on neighbouring amenity and on highways matters are acceptable. 
 

7.1.2 Policy 4 of the Local Plan advises that new housing developments will be expected 
to meet all of the following criteria in respect of; density; a mix of housing types and 
sizes, or provides house types to address a local shortage; the site layout, buildings 

and space about buildings are designed to a high quality and recognise as well as 
complement the qualities of the surrounding areas; off street parking is provided; 

the layout is designed to give priority to pedestrians and cyclists over the movement 
and parking of vehicles; and security and crime prevention measures are included 
in the design and layout of buildings and public areas. 

 
 

7.1.3 The current position in respect of Bromley’s Five Year Housing Land Supply 
(FYHLS) was agreed at Development Control Committee on 2 November 2021. 
The current position is that the FYHLS (covering the period 2021/22 to 2025/26) is 

3,245 units, or 3.99 years supply. This is acknowledged as a significant 
undersupply and for the purposes of assessing relevant planning applications 

means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply. 
 
7.1.4 London Plan Policy H1 sets Bromley's housing target at 774 homes per annum. In 

order to deliver this target, boroughs are encouraged to optimise the potential for 
housing delivery on all suitable and available brownfield sites. This approach is 

consistent with Policy 1 of the Bromley Local Plan, particularly with regard to the 
types of locations where new housing delivery should be focused. 

 

7.1.5  Policy H2 requires Boroughs to pro-actively support well-designed new homes on 
small sites (below 0.25 hectares in size). Policy D3 requires all development to 

make the best use of land by following a design led approach. 
 
7.1.6  NPPF paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

In terms of decision-making, the document states that where a development 
accords with an up to date local plan, applications should be approved without 

delay. Where a plan is out of date, permission should be granted unless the 
application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 

 

Page 86



7.1.7 According to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF in the absence of a 5 year Housing Land 
Supply the Council should regard the Development Plan Policies for the supply of 

housing including Policy 1 Housing Supply of the Bromley Local Plan as being 'out 
of date'. In accordance with paragraph 11(d), for decision taking this means where 

there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless: 

 
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

 

ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 

whole. 
 

7.1.8 The application site lies within a residential urban/suburban area where new 

development including housing is encouraged to be located, although it is not an 
allocated or identified site and therefore comprises a windfall site not necessarily 

expected to become available for development.  
 
7.1.9 While each case is considered on its merits, the planning history of the site is a 

material planning consideration. While the previous application was dismissed at 
appeal, it is considered that the principle of a residential development of the site 

would be acceptable, subject to detailed consideration of the specific proposal. 
 
 

7.1.10 This proposal would provide 6 new dwellings, which would represent a minor  
contribution to the supply of housing within the Borough. This aspect of the 

proposal will be considered in the overall planning balance set out in the conclusion 
of the report having regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

 
7.2 Design – layout, scale, height and massing, and impact on visual amenity 
 

7.2.1 Design is a key consideration in the planning process. Good design is an important 
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 

contribute positively to making places better for people. 
 

7.2.2  Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that the creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 

places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. 

 
7.2.3  Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to ensure that 

developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for 

the short term but over the lifetime of the development; are visually attractive as a 
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping and 

are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

Page 87



environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities). New development 

shall also establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 

distinctive places to live, work and visit; optimise the potential of the site to 
accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development 
(including green and other public space) and support local facilities and transport 

networks; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and 

future users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 
the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

 

7.2.4 Policy 77 of the Bromley Local Plan states that development proposals will seek to 
safeguard the quality and character of the local landscape and seek the appropriate 

restoration and enhancement of the local landscape through the use of planning 
obligations and conditions. 

 

7.2.5 Proposals for the development of the application site were first submitted in 2015 
and the current application represents the third formal application relating to the 

construction of flats at the application site. Within this application, the proposals 
have been amended a number of times, either to attempt to address concerns 
raised by the Environment Agency or, more recently, to attempt to refine the design 

and appearance of the building. 
 

7.2.6 It is noted that comments have referred to the site as being a backland site. It is 
acknowledged that the site shares some characteristics common to backland 
development (i.e. set off the main roadway) but taking into account its siting relative 

to the adjacent terrace fronting Royston Road and the short distance from the 
carriageway it is not considered wholly a backland site. It was formerly occupied at 

least in part by buildings and would be considered a suitable brownfield site for 
development subject to detailed consideration of any specific scheme.  

 

7.2.7 As originally submitted the scheme proposed a sheer front elevation with the use of 
contrasting materials, including grey brick, grey vertical zinc cladding and full height 

windows to each floor. The car parking spaces were positioned to one side of the 
building which also included cantilevered/staggered detailing to the front elevation. 
The building was also positioned with less space retained to the rear. The footprint 

of the development followed the geometry of the site and resulted in a convoluted 
building form with materials and detailing resulting in an imposing development.  

 

Page 88



 
       Superseded front elevation 

 

 
7.2.8 The application was subsequently amended, with the external appearance and 

layout of the building being made more consistent with the layout of the 
neighbouring dwellings in Royston Road (removing the staggered design elements 
at the front). The amended proposal incorporates a hipped roof feature which 

visually lessens the overall bulk of the development, and the materials and design 
detailing more readily complements the prevailing pattern and appearance of 

development in the locality. 
 
 

 
       Revised front elevation (8/12/21) 
 

 
 

7.2.9 While the proposal would still provide three floors of accommodation, the formation 

of the hipped roof element within the front elevation reduces the extent to which the 
building immediately presents as such, and the reduction in fenestration at second 

(top) floor level in conjunction with the hipped roof represents an improved design 
that more readily responds to local context.  

 

7.2.10 The proposed building would still occupy a significant proportion of the application 
site, although its siting relative to the flank elevation of Nos. 81/83 and the flank of 

Page 89



the hall building would limit the extent to which the depth of the building would be 
widely appreciable. The revised scheme would also be slightly higher to the top of 

the roof than the neighbouring maisonette building, and in terms of the separation 
of the building to the boundary the development remains immediately adjacent to 

the gated pathway between the site and the maisonettes (although greater 
separation is shown to the other side, adjacent to the hall buildings).  

 
 

 

 

 
      Axonometric view - front     

  

 
7.2.11  With regards to Policy 8 of the Bromley Local Plan, this seeks to ensure that 

development does not result in a cramped appearance, unrelated terracing or a 
detrimental impact on neighbouring amenity by normally requiring proposals for 

development of two or more storeys to provide a minimum of 1m side space.  
 

Page 90



7.2.12 The proposal would fail to provide 1m side space to the north eastern boundary. 
However, taking into account the pattern of development in the locality (and the 

similar narrow gaps along the terrace fronting Royston Road, including adjacent to 
No. 41) and the relationship with the neighbouring buildings it is not considered that 

the proposal would result in the unacceptable impacts that Policy 8 seeks to 
prevent. 

 

7.2.13 There remains some concern from a design perspective regarding the provision of 
part undercroft parking in view of the appearance of these recesses when empty, 

and given that the site has some “backland” characteristics in view of its situation at 
the end of Royston Road, with limited activity and no active frontage opposite the 
site. While it would be preferable for the building to be set further back into the site, 

it is acknowledged that the proximity of the culverted river represents a significant 
constraint in this respect.  

 
7.2.14 It is also noted that the proposal provides limited opportunity for softening 

landscaping to the front of the building, with only the shallow bed proposed 

between the middle and right hand recesses. However, taking into account the 
overall design of the development and the existing site context, including its 

position back from the main rows of residential development in adjacent streets, it is 
considered that the proposal would not have a significantly detrimental impact on 
visual amenity such that would warrant the refusal of planning permission on this 

basis. The proposal would represent a significant development on a site of 
constrained shape and proportions, but on balance it is considered that the design 

is acceptable.  
 
 

7.3 Neighbourhood Amenity - Acceptable 
 

 
7.3.1 Policy 37 of the Bromley Local Plan seeks to protect existing residential occupiers 

from inappropriate development. Issues to consider include the impact of a 

development proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss 
of light, overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and 

disturbance. 
 
 

7.3.2 It is noted that concerns have been expressed regarding the potential impact on the 
residential amenities of neighbouring dwellings, including No. 1 Westbury Road. In 

dismissing the appeal against the refusal of planning permission under reference 
16/04224/FULL1) the Inspector’s focus in this regard was entirely upon the 
amenities of No. 1 Westbury Road; it was not considered in his analysis of the 

scope of the proposals that the development then proposed would have had a 
detrimental impact on the amenities of properties fronting Ravenscroft Road, nor 

upon other dwellings in Westbury and Royston Roads. 
 
7.3.3 This assessment remains applicable in the consideration of the current proposals – 

that the main potential impact on neighbouring amenity relates to the relationship 
between the proposed building and the side and rear garden of No. 1 Westbury 

Road. 

Page 91



 
7.3.4 The proposal would not project to the rear of the neighbouring maisonettes and the 

rear first and second floor terraces are positioned so as to be screened from Nos. 
81/83 by the bulk of the proposed building. With regards to the impact on dwellings 

fronting Ravenscroft Road, it is considered that sufficient separation is provided to 
the rear of those dwellings, and the impact is further mitigated by the tree cover 
within the end of the neighbouring gardens. 

 
7.3.5 The proposed front elevation of the building would include 5 vertical windows in the 

first floor front elevation of the building. These windows would serve a total of 5 no. 
bedrooms (4 double and 1 single). The three windows on the middle and right of 
the front elevation would face towards the rear garden of No. 1 Westbury Road. 

While it is noted that concern is expressed regarding overlooking from these 
windows to the rear facing windows at that dwelling, it is considered that the angle 

of vision would be significantly oblique and therefore unlikely to result in direct 
views into the dwelling itself.  

 
      1 Westbury Road (L) and proposed building (R) 

 
 
7.3.6 The separation between the front elevation of the building and the nearest part of 

the rear garden of the neighbouring dwelling would be approx. 7m. The flank 
boundary of the neighbouring dwelling is marked by a high fence atop a concrete 

“kerb” beyond which is a timber pergola structure and trees which extend along the 
boundary line. These trees are deciduous but have quite dense bare branches 
outside of spring/summer.  

 

Page 92



               
        Side fence 1 Westbury Road 

  
7.3.7 The roof lights to the front of the second floor of accommodation would be at least 

1.59m above the finished floor level of the rooms at this level.  
 

 
7.3.8 It is considered that there will be some perceived and potential actual loss of 

privacy at certain times of the year within the neighbouring rear garden, and 

consideration is also made in respect of the level of occupation of the site in that 
noise and disturbance will increase from a previously unoccupied open site. On 

balance there will be a limited increased impact of this nature, however, in an urban 
environment the increase in terms of potential occupier noise is not considered 
unduly unacceptable at this location. The separation between the front facing first 

floor windows and the boundary with 1 Westbury Road, the intervening fenceline 
and the tree screening observed along the boundary is cumulatively considered to 

adequately limit the impact of the proposal in terms of loss of privacy. With regards 
to daylight and sunlight and overshadowing, taking into account the appeal history 
of the property and the separation between development and the neighbouring rear 

garden it is not considered that the proposal would have an unacceptable impact in 
this respectt. 

 
7.3.9 In conclusion, taking into account the comments in the appeal decision, which 

raised particular concern over the overlooking impact associated with the glazed 

stairwell and Juliet balconies to first and second floor, and did not express concern 
regarding daylight and sunlight or loss of outlook, it is considered that the current 

proposals adequately address the deficiencies of the previous proposals with 
regards to impact on neighbouring amenity. It is not considered that the refusal of 
planning permission on this basis would represent a strong ground of refusal in this 

instance.  
 

 
7.4 Quality of residential accommodation – Acceptable 
 
 

7.4.1 In March 2015 the Government published The National Technical Housing 

Standards. This document prescribes internal space within new dwellings and is 
suitable for application across all tenures. It sets out requirements for the Gross 
Internal (floor) Area of new dwellings at a defined level of occupancy as well as 

Page 93



floor areas and dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage 
and floor to ceiling height.  

 
7.4.2 Policy D6 of the London Plan relates to ‘Housing quality and standards’ states that 

housing development should be of high quality design and provide adequately 
sized rooms with comfortable and functional layouts which are fit for purpose and 
meet the needs of Londoners. The policy also prescribes internal space within new 

dwellings and external spaces standards that are in line with the National Technical 
Housing Standards. 

 
7.4.3 Policy 4 of the Local Plan sets out the requirements for new residential 

development to ensure a good standard of amenity for future occupiers. The 

Mayor’s Housing SPG sets out guidance in respect of the standard required for all 
new residential accommodation to supplement London Plan policies. The standards 

apply to new build, conversion and change of use proposals. Part 2 of the Housing 
SPG deals with the quality of residential accommodation setting out standards for 
dwelling size, room layouts and circulation space, storage facilities, floor to ceiling 

heights, outlook, daylight and sunlight, external amenity space (including refuse 
and cycle storage facilities) as well as core and access arrangements to reflect the 

Governments National Technical Housing Standards. 
 

7.4.4 The proposed flats would exceed the minimum floorspace requirements of the 

technical housing standards. The shape and room size in the proposed units is 
generally considered satisfactory for the units where none of the rooms would have 

a particularly convoluted shape which would limit their specific use. The ground 
floor single bedroom to Flat 2 is somewhat awkwardly sited relative to the 
neighbouring parking spaces, but its size would seem sufficient for its purpose. The 

first floor flats would have long corridors which would represent a somewhat 
inefficient use of space, but viewed as a whole the layout of the development is 

considered acceptable.  
 
7.4.5 The proposed residential units would also have access to outside amenity space 

which would exceed the minimum required standards, and while it is acknowledged 
that the depth of the rear garden is not considerable, taking into account the width 

of the area and the overall shape of the amenity space, it is considered to provide 
an adequate external amenity facility.  

 

7.4.6 The flats would be accessed via a doorway entrance with brick feature. The 
entrance would be clearly identifiable and accessible from the front of the site.  

 
7.4.7 Comments were sought from the Environmental Health team regarding the 

submitted Noise Assessment/Information and the relationship between the site and 

the neighbouring community hall, with the aim of ascertaining whether the proposed 
occupants would be unacceptably vulnerable to or impacted by adjacent uses. No 

objections were raised regarding concern that occupiers would be particularly 
vulnerable to noise associated with the hall. The proposed building is separated 
from the main bulk of the community space. Planning permission (conditional) was 

recently granted under reference 21/01705/FULL1 for the demolition of the 
caretaker’s cottage attached to the hall building and the construction of 6 no. flats 

arguably in closer proximity to the main hall activities.  

Page 94



 
7.4.8 Comments were also received from the Metropolitan Police SE Design out Crime 

Office which confirmed they would not be seeking a planning condition, while noting 
that there appears to be no reason why the proposed development cannot achieve 

the physical security requirements of Secured by Design.  
 
 

7.5 Highways - Acceptable 
 

7.5.1 The NPPF recognises that transport policies have an important role to play in 
facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability 
and health objectives. The NPPF clearly states that transport issues should be 

considered from the earliest stage of both plan making and when formulating 
development proposals and development should only be prevented or refused on 

transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe. 

 

7.5.2 The NPPF states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of 
movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should 

be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely 
impacts of the proposal can be assessed. 
 

7.5.3  London Plan and Bromley Local Plan Policies encourage sustainable transport 
modes whilst recognising the need for appropriate parking provision. Car parking 

standards within the London Plan and Bromley Local Plan should be used as a 
basis for assessment. 
 

 Car parking 
 

7.5.4 Policy T6 of the London Plan recommends that car-free development should be the 
starting point for all development proposals in places that are (or are planned to be) 
well-connected by public transport. Developments elsewhere are expected to be 

designed to provide the minimum necessary parking. 
 

7.5.5 The application site has a PTAL rating of 4. Taking into account the information 
available on parking demand and parking stress within the neighbouring streets, 
there are no technical objections from a highways perspective to the proposal, 

which provides 3 no. off street parking spaces to serve the 6 proposed flats. 
 

7.5.6 However, in the interest of reducing reliance on private cars it is recommended that 
should permission be granted, it include a condition requiring that the developer 
provide the first occupiers of the residential units with car club membership. 

 
7.5.7 Concern has been expressed regarding the size of the parking bays to be provided. 

As scaled from the submitted drawings the proposed parking bays would appear to 
meet the minimum dimensions for spaces providing “front on” parking – with the 
scaled spaces being approx. 2.7m in width by 5.08m in depth. 

 
7.5.8 Members are advised that while not indicated on the submitted drawings, the 

applicant has agreed to provide 1no. active electric vehicle charging point. 

Page 95



 

 Construction Management 

 
7.5.9 It is noted that concerns have been expressed regarding the limited accessibility of 

the site for larger vehicles and for turning/manoeuvring. Since the proposed 
development of this site was first submitted in 2015 it is recognised that planning 
permission has been granted for the redevelopment of the caretaker’s cottage 

within the community hall site, and that gates have been erected on the entrance 
into the hall car park.  

 
 
7.5.10 It has been recommended that should planning permission be granted it should be 

subject to a pre-commencement condition requiring the submission and approval of 
a detailed plan for the management of the construction phase, including with 

regards to vehicle sizes and types, routes, operative parking and hours of 
construction. The applicant has agreed to the use of such a condition.  

 

 Cycle parking 
 

7.5.11 For long-term stay (residents), London Plan Policy T5 Cycle Parking states that one 
cycle space should be provided for one bedroom dwellings and two cycle spaces 

provided for dwellings with more than one bedroom. The Highways Officer has 
stated that 11 cycle parking spaces should be provided. The submitted drawings 
indicate the location of a total of 12 car parking spaces within the site, 10 at the side 

of the building and 2 no. within the rear garden. A planning condition is 
recommended for further details of a secure and lockable containment structure for 

the car park area provision. 
 

 Refuse storage 

 
7.5.12 All new developments should have adequate facilities for refuse and recycling. The 

submitted drawings indicate the provision of an enclosed refuse storage area at the 
front of the building, adjacent to the front entrance to the building. A planning 
condition is recommended in this regard for further details of the containment 

structure and its capacity and an informative drawing the applicant’s attention to the 
2014 document “The Storage and Collection of Refuse from Residential and 

Commercial Buildings” would also be appropriate. 
 

 

7.6 Drainage/Flood risk/maintenance and repair of culvert – Acceptable  
 

 
7.6.1 The application site lies partially in Flood Zones 1 and 2 and close to the culverted 

river that runs along the rear of the site. 

 
7.6.2 Revised plans received in the course of the application clarified and increased the 

separation between the rear elevation of the building and the rear boundary, 
providing a defined minimum offset to the culvert of 5m. On this basis the original 
objection to the development submitted by the Environment Agency has been 

addressed and the agency has confirmed no further objections to the proposal 

Page 96



subject to a number of safeguarding conditions which have been agreed by the 
applicant.  

 
7.6.3 No objections are raised by the Drainage Officer to the proposals – a pre-

commencement surface water drainage condition has been recommended and 
agreed by the applicant.  

 

7.7  Sustainability - Acceptable 

 

7.7.1  The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to adopt proactive strategies to 

mitigate and adapt to climate change. London Plan and Local Plan Policies 

advocate the need for sustainable development. All new development should 

address climate change and reduce carbon emissions. 

 

7.7.2  Paragraph 9.2.3 of the London Plan sates that Boroughs should ensure that all 

developments maximise opportunities for on-site electricity and heat production 

from solar technologies (photovoltaic and thermal) and use innovative building 

materials and smart technologies. This approach will reduce carbon emissions, 

reduce energy costs to occupants, improve London’s energy resilience and support 

the growth of green jobs. 

 

7.7.3  Local Plan Policy 123 states that all applications for development should 

demonstrate how the principles of sustainable design and construction have been 

taken into account. 

 

7.7.4  An informative is recommended with any approval to ensure that the development 

strives to achieve these objectives. The proposal includes a biodiverse roof and it is 
noted that the applicant has agreed to provide electric vehicle charging points.  

 
 

7.8  Air quality - Acceptable 

 

7.8.1  Policy SI 1 Improving air Quality states in summary that development proposals 

should not lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality and shall minimise 

increased exposure to existing air pollution and make provision to address local 

problems of air quality in preference to post-design or retro-fitting. 

 

7.8.2  Policy 120 of the Local Plan states that developments which are likely to have an 

impact on air quality or which are located in an area which will expose future 

occupiers to pollutant concentrations above air quality objective levels will be 

required to submit an Air Quality Assessment. 

 

7.8.3  The site is located within the Bromley AQMA. In this case, given the location it is 

considered prudent for the development to incorporate Ultra Low NOx boilers for 

the flats. A condition is recommended in this regard. 
 
 

Page 97



7.9 Other matters 
 

 
7.9.1 Concerns have been expressed by local residents regarding the potential that the 

residential development might undermine the long term operation of Royston Hall 
through introducing noise-sensitive development close to a building which has a 
history of uses that generate noise. This is partly addressed in paragraph 7.4.7 but 

is expanded upon below. 
 

7.9.2 The applicants submitted a Noise Assessment on the 20 th December 2020 and with 
the submission of revised drawings on the 8th December 2021, an Addendum to 
Noise Assessment. 

 
7.9.3 The submitted document notes that since the original assessment was prepared, 

the Royston Hall has reopened as the Matico Dance Studio. A further noise survey 
was undertaken from the 29th November to the 2nd December 2021, in addition to 
that originally undertaken in October 2020. 

 
7.9.4 The addendum summarised that the development is unlikely to generate noise that 

will effect neighbouring dwellings once constructed. Construction noise will be short 
term and temporary in nature, capable of mitigation by construction management 
best practices. 

 
7.9.5 With regards to the noise experienced by future occupiers of the development,  the 

original noise assessment recommended mitigation measures – specifically the 
installation of trickle vents to any living rooms/bedrooms facing the road.  

 

7.9.6 No objections have been raised to the proposals by the Environmental Health 
Officer, subject to a compliance condition. 

 
7.9.7  Concern has also been raised regarding a restrictive covenant on the land. This is a 

private legal matter that lies outside of Planning Control. 

 
 

7.10 CIL - Acceptable 

 

7.10.1 The Mayor of London's CIL and the Borough CIL (adopted 15/6/21) is a material 

consideration. CIL is liable on this application. The applicant has completed the 

relevant form. 
 
 
8. CONCLUSION 

 
 

8.1 The provision of 6 residential units is given significant weight in the planning 

balance. The proposal would represent an efficient use of the site.  
 

8.2 The scale of the building and the footprint of development relative to the 
constrained size and shape of the site would be significant, and the relationship 
between the proposed development and the residential garden and dwelling at No. 

Page 98



1 Westbury Road is acknowledged. Residents’ concerns regarding the quantum of 
parking spaces for the development and the location of the site in context with the 

neighbouring narrow streets are also noted.  
 

8.3 The standard of accommodation provided would be acceptable and the proposal 
would not have a detrimental impact on the neighbouring culverted river or 
additional flood risk. 

 
8.4 On balance, it is considered that the minor contribution of the scheme to housing 

supply, along with the positive aspects of the development and the efficient use of a 
vacant site, are of sufficient weight to approve the application with regard to the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development to increase housing supply. It is 

therefore recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the 
imposition of suitable conditions.  

 
8.45 Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all 

correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, 

excluding exempt information. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: APPLICATION PERMITTED 
 

As amended by documents received 8/12/21, 9/12/21 & 21/12/21 
 

Subject to the following conditions: 
 

Standard conditions  

 
1. Standard time limit of 3 years  

2. Standard compliance with approved plans  
 
Pre-commencement  

 
3. Details of sustainable surface water drainage.  

4. Details of a Construction Management Plan.  
5. Demonstrate development will not reduce floodplain storage or the flow path  
 

Prior to above ground works  
 

6. Details of landscaping for hard and soft areas.  
7. Details of materials.  
8. Details of refuse storage  

9. Details of lighting scheme.  
10. Details of cycle storage  

11.No construction within 8m of the culvert until loading plan approved 
 
Prior to occupation/use  

 
12. Parking arrangements to be installed as approved.  

13. Details of electric car charging point(s).  

Page 99



14.Compliance with Part M of the Building Regulations.  
15. Installation of ultra-low NOx boilers.  

 
Compliance 

 
16. Flood Risk Assessment compliance 
17. Noise Assessment compliance 

 
 
Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Assistant Director of 
Planning  

 

Informatives:  
 

1. Reminder regarding submission of pre commencement conditions.  
2. Contact street naming and numbering Officer at the Council.  
3. Reminder of CIL payments.  

4. Reminder regarding Part M compliance.  
5. Construction machinery emission  

6. Any street works are at applicants’ costs.  
7. Compliance with the Control of Pollution and Noise from Demolition and Construction 
Sites Code of Practice 2017  

8. Contact Environmental Health re contamination.  
9. Thames Water - water pressure standard.  

10 .Thames Water – working near our pipes 11. Secure by Design measures. 12. Energy 
efficiency measures 
11. Flood risk activity permitting 

12. Attention drawn to guidance on refuse storage 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 100



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125022 March 2022

 

Page 101



This page is left intentionally blank



 
Committee 
Date 

 
31.03.2022 
 

 
Address 

Land Opposite Econ House 
Old Maidstone Road 
Sidcup 

Bromley 
Application 
Number 

21/02546/FULL1 Officer  - David Bord 

Ward Cray Valley East 
Proposal Relocation of general waste materials store to Land Opposite Econ 

House (from Land at The Chalk Pit, Old Maidstone Road), together 
with retention of existing buildings and activities on Land Opposite 

Econ House 
Applicant 
 

Mr David Cheriton  

Agent 
 

Mr Jeff Haskins  

C/O Agent 
 

Civic Centre 
St Mary's Road 

Swanley, Kent 
BR8 7BU  

  
 

Reason for referral to 

committee 

 

 

 

Councillor call in 

 

   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 

 
Application Refused 

 

 

KEY DESIGNATIONS 
 

 
Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  
Green Belt 

London City Airport Safeguarding  
Smoke Control SCA20 
 

 
 
Vehicle parking  Existing number 

of spaces 
 

Total proposed 

including spaces 
retained  
 

Difference in spaces  

(+ or -) 

Page 103

Agenda Item 4.4



Standard car spaces 2 
 

2 0 

Light good vehicles / 

Public carrier vehicles 
 

3 3 0 

 
 
Representation  

summary  

 

 

 Neighbour notification letters were sent on the 15th October 

2021. 

Total number of responses  3 

Number in support  0 

Number of objections 3 

 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  
 

 The development would result in a harmful impact to the openness and visual 
amenity of the Green Belt.  

 In the absence of a noise assessment to demonstrate otherwise, the 
development would adversely affect the living conditions of neighbouring 
residents by reason of noise and disturbance. 

 
2. LOCATION 

 
 

2.1 The application site comprises of two separate areas of land fronting Old 

Maidstone Road which are in the same ownership. These comprise of the 
following: (1) Land Opposite Econ House (to the west) to where it is intended 

to relocate a general waste materials store and existing waste management 
activities; and (2) Land at “The Chalk Pit” in relation to which it is intended to 
vacate the existing waste materials store and associated activities. Both these 

sites fall within the Green Belt.     
 

2.2 The land opposite Econ House is located immediately opposite the main office 
of the applicant, Econ Group Ltd. It currently accommodates various containers, 
lorry trailers and storage building plus general parking facilities, although the 

use of the site for these purposes is unauthorised. The site is partially screened 
by trees along its western, northern and southern boundaries. There is an 

established vehicular and pedestrian access onto Old Maidstone Road.  
 
2.3 The “Chalk Pit” land is located to the rear of the Chalk Pit Caravan site and in 

close proximity to two residential properties along the NW boundary. There is 
an established access route onto Old London Road to the north. The site 

currently accommodates containers and ancillary offices and facilities, together 
with general parking for lorries. The site benefits from a Certificate of 
Lawfulness for an Existing Use in respect of storage and sorting of scrap metal 

Page 104



and demolition waste and siting of two portable buildings for ancillary offices 
and two caravans for ancillary storage in connection with demolition contractors 

business and parking of 6 lorries. 
 

2.4 The facing side of the road to both of the sites the subject of this application is 
made up predominately of detached bungalows.  

 
 

 

 
Figure 1: Site location plan  

 
 

3. PROPOSAL 

 
The proposal seeks planning permission for the following:  

 Relocation of general waste materials store to Land Opposite Econ House (from 
Land at The Chalk Pit, Old Maidstone Road), together with retention of existing 

buildings and activities on Land Opposite Econ House. 

 The lawful use of the land at The Chalk Pit site would be extinguished and this 

would then revert to ‘open space’. The proposals include the planting of new trees 
and landscape features to provide an enhanced natural ecology for the land.  

 The commercial activity would then be transferred across to the site that is located 

immediately opposite the main office of the applicant Econ House. Part of this site 
has an established commercial use (details of which are included within the 

Planning History section below) and the proposals are to relocate the commercial 
activity from the Chalk Pit and to extend the current site opposite Econ House. All 
of the operations would be consolidated within one site. 

Page 105



 The extent of the commercial activity would be contained within the red line area 
as shown on the submitted drawing 122-PD-01. The area to the east and south of 

the application site would remain as open land as part of the Green Belt definition 
and some additional planting would form part of this scheme. 

 

 
 
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

The following planning history is considered to be of relevance:  

 85/01130/FUL – Planning permission granted for the field between Old Maidstone 
Road and the New By-Pass Disposal of Sub-Soil in connection with the 
construction of the A20 trunk road and restoration of the land for agricultural 

purpose (Section 32 Application). 

 99/03005/ELUD – Certificate of Lawfulness for an Existing Use granted for the 

Chalk Pit site in respect of the following: “Use for storage and sorting of scrap metal 
and demolition waste and siting of two portable buildings for ancillary offices and 

two caravans for ancillary storage in connection with demolition contractors 
business and parking of 6 lorries.” 

 12/01293/ELUD – Certificate of Lawfulness for an Existing Use granted for Land 

Opposite Econ House in respect of its use for the storage of furniture, bricks, 
window frames, container lorry trailers and portable building. 

 14/04870/FULL1 – Planning permission refused for Land Opposite Econ House 
the use of land as a waste transfer station and recycling facility involving minor 
change of land levels, the erection of a facilitative building, associated plant, site 

office, and provision of car parking and associated landscaping. The Chalk Pit site 

Page 106



would be given over to open amenity space. Planning permission was refused on 
the following grounds: 

 
“1. The proposal constitutes inappropriate use in the Green Belt, and in the 

absence of very special circumstances is contrary to Policy G1 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework - 
'Protecting Green Belt Land', and the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014. 

2. By reason of the close proximity to neighbouring residential development, the 
development would adversely affect the living conditions by reason of noise 

and disturbance associated with the proposed use, thereby contrary to Policies 
BE1 and ER2 of the Unitary Development Plan.” 

 

 16/03973/ELUD – Certificate of Lawfulness for an Existing Use granted for Land 
Opposite Econ House in respect of its use for crushing and screening brick, 

concrete, hard core, wood, metal and other inert demolition waste for refuse and 
recycling. 

 17/02506/DEMCON – Prior Notification in respect of Land Opposite Econ House 

was granted for demolition of an existing single storey storage building 
(Consultation under Class B of the Schedule 2, Part 11 of the Town and Country 

General Permitted Development Order 2015). 

 17/04741/FULL1 – Planning application in respect of Land Opposite Econ House 

concerning erection of a sleeper wall and metal post security fence withdrawn. 

 17/04948/PLUD – Certificate of Lawfulness for an Existing Use granted for Land 
Opposite Econ House in respect of re-surfacing of yard area with concrete. 

 19/01328/PLUD – Certificate of Lawfulness for a Proposed Development for Land 
Opposite Econ House in respect of replacement of an existing industrial building 

(B8 USE) with a purpose-built building (B8 USE). A Certificate was denied on the 
basis that the proposal did not constitute permitted development.   

 The Land Opposite Econ House is the subject of an Enforcement Notice dated 7 
June 2021 requiring the removal of a sleeper wall and 3.8m high boundary 
enclosure which also form a storage unit.  

 
 

5. CONSULTATION SUMMARY 
 

A) Statutory  

 

 The Council’s Drainage Engineer did not comment on the application.  

 The London Borough of Bexley commented as follows: 
 

“Having assessed the application documents and given its location, which is 
roughly 100m away from the borough’s boundary and behind a number of 
houses and Maidstone Road, it is considered that the proposed works would 

not harm the character of the area in respect of the London Borough of Bexley, 
nor would it be detrimental to the amenities of neighbouring Bexley residents, 

or have a harmful impact upon traffic, parking or highways safety within the 
borough. In terms of contamination and environmental health issues, any 
problems which are likely to be considered unacceptable would likely be picked 

up by Bromley Council.” 
 

Page 107



 The Council’s Highways Engineer commented as follows: 

“The proposal will increase the overall size of the waste material site by 0.1 
hectares which is unlikely to significantly increase the operation of the site in 
terms of vehicular movements. I assume, if permitted, the lawful use will  

transfer from one site to the other. The Land opposite Econ House has an 
existing access. The Land at the Chalk Pit also has a large access. The 

application indicates this land is going to be retained as open space green belt 
with the lawful use extinguished. Is the existing access going to be retained as 
it is as I presume it is no longer needed?” 

 

 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer commented that the contaminated 

land report submitted reports in 2013 and 2014 and based on the findings it 

seems that there is a low risk of the site representing a significant risk to human 

health. In addition, the site does have potential to negatively impact the 

surrounding residents due to noise, especially due to proximity. A noise 

assessment was recommended. It was unclear not all the noise will be due to 

plant noise, so it is questioned whether there a way the condition can cover 

noise generating activities. 

 
B) Local Groups 

 
None  

 

 
C) Adjoining Occupiers 

 

 Site not authorised for the use. 

 Numerous infringements stand to me addressed. 

 Structures have been put up with electric cables and lighting on poles which shine 
into neighbouring window at night. 

 The processing of any waste will adversely affect the health of the neighbouring 
residents.  

 The noise levels on that land at present are high and adversely affect the 
neighbour’s health. 

 Processing general waste will most certainly increase the noise levels. This will 
impact on quality of life. 

 There will no doubt be an increase in the number of vehicles on this small road 

which is already busy. 

 This will increase pollution levels and thereby impact the health of all neighbours.  

 Moving from a well known and established SUITABLE site that has housed a 
business for many years to a new invasive area makes little sense beside 

convenience for the applicant.  

 It would seem more appropriate to relocate the smaller storage facili ty opposite 

Econ House to the Chalk Pit site. This would then allow the green belt field to be 
restored from the abuse it has received from this company. 

 Over the last couple of years we have many complaints have been submitted about 

the illegal activity by Econ at the land opposite Econ House. They have consistently 

Page 108



abused the land and flagrantly ignored Bromley Councils planning procedures and 
policies.  

 Residents we have sat alongside the Chalk Pit site since it was established many 
years ago and never complained, however this site as suggested in the name "PIT" 

is set well below ground level where the dust, noise and machinery are kept to a 
limited interference.  

 The land opposite Econ House is at ground level, The dust, noise and general 

disruption created since the unlawful use of this land recently has been unbearable 
for residents and demonstrates its complete unsuitability for the use submitted.  

 This new site at ground level is situated next to the road and also close to several 
residents not just two on the Chalk Pit site. 

 Relocation for convenience of Econ Is not a reason for" special circumstances 
sufficient to allow consent" 

 

The full text on comments received are on file. 
 

 
6. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

National Policy Framework 2021 
 

The London Plan 
 

 D1 London's form and characteristics 

 D4 Delivering Good Design 

 G2 London’s Green Belt 

 SI7 Reducing Waste and Supporting the Circular Economy 
 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 
 

 37 General Design of Development  

 49 The Green Belt 

 114 New Waste Management Facilities and Extensions and Alterations to 
Existing Sites 

 119 Noise Pollution 
 
7. ASSESSMENT 

 
7.1  Green Belt Openness and Visual Amenity – Unacceptable  

 

7.1.1  Paragraphs 137 - 151 of the NPPF sets out the Government's intention for 
Green Belt. The NPPF states that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is 

to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 

 

7.1.2 Paragraph 138 sets out the five purposes of the Green Belt: 
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas. 

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another, 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, 

Page 109



d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns, and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict 

and other urban land. 
 

7.1.3 Paragraphs 147-151 deal specifically with development proposals in the Green 
Belt. Inappropriate development in the Green Belt is by definition harmful (i.e. 
in principle) and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 

When considering any planning application local planning authorities should 
give substantial weight to any harm to the Green Belt.  

 
7.1.4 Paragraph 149 of the NPPF states: 
 

“A local planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to this are:  

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;  
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of 
land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and 

burial grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness 
of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within 

it;  
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;  

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use 
and not materially larger than the one it replaces;  

e) limited infilling in villages;  
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in 
the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and  

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 

buildings), which would:  
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or  

‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting 

an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning 
authority.” 

 

7.1.5 Paragraph 150 of the NPPF states: 
 

“Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the Green 
Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes 
of including land within it. These are:  

a) mineral extraction;  
b) engineering operations;  

c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a 
Green Belt location;  
d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and 

substantial construction;  
e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport 

or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and  

Page 110



f) development, including buildings, brought forward under a Community Right 
to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.” 

 
7.1.6 As outlined above, the proposal involves the relocation of general waste 

materials store to Land Opposite Econ House from Land at The Chalk Pit, Old 
Maidstone Road, both areas of which are in the applicant’s ownership. Whilst 
the proposal involves relocation of the existing waste facility, it nonetheless 

amounts to inappropriate development in the Green Belt, since it does not fall 
within one of the categories of “not inappropriate” development in the Green 

Belt. Moreover, the proposal would conflict with one of the overriding objectives 
of Green Belt policy which is to assist in safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment.  

 
7.1.7 The applicant appears to acknowledge that the proposal amounts to 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt, as a consequence advancing 
arguments of “very special circumstances” (VSC) so as to justify the proposal. 
These arguments are largely contained within a supporting letter dated 18 

November 2021, the contents of which are considered in further detail below. 
 

7.1.8 Turning to the effect of the proposal on the visual amenity and openness of the 
Green Belt, although it is acknowledged that there would be a reduction in the 
number of sites from two to one which are utilised in connection with the 

applicant’s business along Old Maidstone Road, it has to be borne that much 
of the existing activity opposite the applicant’s Econ House office is presently 

unauthorised and is liable to enforcement action. As regards the level of built 
development, the applicant’s supporting documents indicate that there would 
be an overall increase of 14% in terms of buildings’ footprint and an 8% increase 

in their volume; as regard hardstanding, there would be a negligible reduction 
of 1% and no permission appears to have been granted historically for hard 

surfacing at the site.  It is also noted that the applicant’s figures for the existing 
built development at the Chalk Pit site appear to exceed that which has the 
benefit of the lawful development certificate granted under ref. 99/03005/ELUD 

which refers only to the siting of two portable buildings for ancillary offices and 
two caravans for ancillary storage. 

 
7.1.9 It is considered that the development would result in an overall detraction in 

terms of the level of openness of the Green Belt. Perhaps more significantly, 

the applicant’s business shift to a more exposed and conspicuous location 
along Old Maidstone Road where it would appear much more prominent along 

the streetscene, especially from views from the east. In contrast, the current 
operations along the Old Chalk Pit site are far more concealed and located to 
the side and rear of an existing cluster of built development which includes a 

mobile homes site and two bungalows. Accordingly, there would be an adverse 
effect on Green Belt openness, and this harm should be afforded significant 

weight. 
 
7.1.10 Paragraph 148 of the NPPF advises that LPAs should give substantial weight 

to any harm to the Green Belt. It adds that “very special circumstances” (VSC) 
will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 

inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other 

Page 111



considerations. As regards VSC, the following have been advanced by the 
applicant in support of the proposal:        

 The change of use of 2820.5m² of land (The Chalk Pit site) from a lawful 
commercial use to a landscaped area for the following (as confirmed under 

reference DC/99/03005/ELUD). 

 Removal of all hardstanding from site adjacent to the Chalk Pit site. 

 Removal of all existing buildings with floor area of 112.2m² from the Chalk 
Pit site. 

 An improvement to the residential amenities of neighbours in the Chalk Pit 

mobile home site and the two neighbouring detached dwellings.  

 New extensive landscaping for both sites and the entire boundary to the 

landholding.  

 Potential for ecological enhancement – net gain for biodiversity.  

 The potential for conditions to be imposed to control the operation of the 
site.  

 The creation of a more efficient local business to benefit the local economy.  
 
7.1.11 For the reasons already outlined in regard to the openness and visual amenity 

of the Green Belt it is not considered that the relocation of the applicant’s 
business operations and associated removal of structures and hardstanding 

would amount to VSC. It is considered that potential landscaping and ecological 
enhancements would be an expectation, rather than a justification, for a 
development of this nature. The proposed landscaping scheme may be 

expected in most similar sorts of larger-scale developments, regardless of 
whether or not they fall within the Green Belt. This is not considered to represent 

very special circumstances. Improvements to the residential amenities of 
neighbours in the Chalk Pit mobile home site and the two neighbouring 
detached dwellings may be regarded as a benefit of the proposal, although for 

reasons outlined below, there are concerns that this proposal in its totality could 
result in additional harm in terms of noise and disturbance. 

 
 
7.2  Highways – Acceptable 

 

7.2.1 The proposal would increase the overall size of the waste material site by 0.1 

hectares which is unlikely to significantly increase the operation of the site in 
terms of vehicular movements. The Land opposite Econ House has an existing 
access. The Land at the Chalk Pit also has a large access. Overall, it is not 

considered that the proposal would adversely affect highway conditions.  
 

 
7.3  Neighbourhood Amenity / Noise – Unacceptable 

 

7.3.1  In relation to neighbouring amenity, Policy 37(e) is relevant in terms of requiring 
that all development proposals respect the amenity of occupiers of 

neighbouring buildings and those of future occupants, providing healthy 
environments and ensuring they are not harmed by noise and 
disturbance,  inadequate daylight, sunlight,  privacy or by overshadowing. 

Policy 119 of the Local Plan states that in order to minimise adverse impacts 
on noise sensitive receptors, proposed developments likely to generate noise 

Page 112



and or vibration will require a full noise/ vibration assessment to identify issues 
and appropriate mitigation measures. The policy adds that new noise sensitive 

development should be located away from existing noise emitting uses unless 
it can be demonstrated that satisfactory living and working standards can be 

achieved and that there will be no adverse impacts on the continued operation 
of the existing use.  

 

7.3.2 As already noted, the Environmental Health Officer has commented that the 
site does have potential to negatively impact the surrounding residents due to 

noise, especially due to proximity. A noise assessment has been 
recommended. It is unclear not all the noise will be due to plant noise, so it is 
questioned whether there a way the condition can cover noise generating 

activities. However, in the absence of evidence to demonstrate otherwise, the 
proposal would adversely affect the living conditions of nearby residents by 

reason of noise and disturbance. 
 
 

8.  CONCLUSION 

 

8.1   Having regard to the above, the development in the manner proposed is 
considered unacceptable as it would: (1) constitute inappropriate use in the 
Green Belt which, in the absence of very special circumstances, is contrary to 

adopted Green Belt policy; and (2) in the absence of evidence to demonstrate 
otherwise, the proposal would adversely affect the living conditions of nearby 

residents by reason of noise and disturbance. 
 

8.2    Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all  
correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, 

excluding exempt information. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Application Refused 
 

 
Reasons for refusal: 

 

 
1. The proposal constitutes inappropriate use in the Green Belt and, in the 

absence of very special circumstances, is contrary to Policy 49 of the Local 
Plan and Policy G2 of the London Plan. 

 

2. In the absence of evidence to demonstrate otherwise, the proposal would 
adversely affect the living conditions of nearby residents by reason of noise 

and disturbance, thereby contrary to Policies 37 and 119 of the Local Plan. 

Page 113



This page is left intentionally blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125022 March 2022

21/02546/FULL1

 

Page 115



This page is left intentionally blank



  

 
Committee Date 

 
31st March 2022 

 
 
Address 

2 Bromley Avenue 
Bromley  

BR1 4BQ  
  

  
 

Application 
Number 

21/04122/FULL1 Officer  - Stephanie Gardiner 

Ward Bromley Town 

Proposal Demolition of existing 2-storey dwelling house and construction of 3-
storey building including accommodation in the roofspace 
comprising of 5 apartment units with associated parking, amenity 

space & cycle storage for 14 bikes. 
Applicant 
 

Mr Ian Dollamore 

Agent 
 

Mr Ian Dollamore  

Urban Infill Ltd  

33 Newman Street 
London 
W1T 1PY 

United Kingdom 
 

33 Newman Street  

London  
W1T 1PY  
United Kingdom  

  
 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

 
 

Call-In 

 

Councillor call in 
 

  Yes   

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

 

Application Permitted  
 

 
KEY DESIGNATIONS 

 
 

Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  
London City Airport Safeguarding  

Open Space Deficiency  
Smoke Control SCA 3 
  
 

 
Land use Details  

Page 117

Agenda Item 4.5



 Use Class or Use 
description   
 

 
Floor space  (GIA SQM) 

 
Existing  
 

 

 
Residential  

 
164 

 
Proposed  

 
 

 
Residential  

 
379.5 

 
 

Vehicle parking  Existing number 
of spaces 
 

Total proposed 
including spaces 
retained  

 

Difference in spaces  
(+ or -) 

Standard car spaces  
2 

 
6 

 

 
4 

Disabled car spaces  
 

 
0 
 

 
0 

 
0 

Cycle  0 

 

14 14 

 
Electric car charging points  0 

 

 

Representation  
summary  

 

 

Local neighbours were notified of the development by letter. 

Total number of responses  106 

Number in support  0 

Number of objections 106 

 
1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  

 

 The development would provide 5 residential units  

 The development would have an acceptable impact on neighbouring amenities. 
 
2. LOCATION 

 

 

2.1 The site is located on the north side of Bromley Avenue and currently has a two-
storey detached property offset to the eastern side of a large plot. The building dates 
to the 1960's period of architecture. To the east are further two storey detached 

properties of a similar period, situated in large plots with generous spatial standards. 

Page 118



To the west are a line of large two storey 1930's era detached properties of a period 
mock Tudor design with side garages.  

 
2.2 The topography of the streetscape slopes upwards from west to east. Properties 

opposite the site appear to be on a higher grounds level.               
 
2.3 The site is not in a conservation area nor is the building listed. A blanket TPO exists 

(Ref BB 9 1960) covering the application site and much of the local area. The site is 
located in Flood Zone 1. 

 
 

  
 

 
 

3. PROPOSAL 

 
3.1 The application seeks permission for the demolition of existing 2-storey dwelling 

house and construction of 3-storey building which includes accommodation in the 
roof space, comprising 5 apartment units with associated parking, amenity space & 
cycle storage. 

 
3.2 Amendments have been made to the design of the original submission. These 

amendments include removing the bulk of the chimney to the west of the proposal 

and dormer area behind it. This has resulted in unit 3 changing from a 3-bed unit to 
a 2-bed unit. The parking area to the front also been modified to allow for more 

planting. 

Page 119



 

 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 85/01132/FUL: Single storey side and rear extension to detached house. 
Approved13.06.1985 

 

5.  CONSULTATION SUMMARY 
 

A) Statutory 
 
Highways – No objection 

 

 The site is in an area with PTAL rate of 1b on a scale of 0 – 6b, where 6b is the 

most accessible.  
Vehicular access- via a modified access from Bromley Avenue leading to the front 
car parking area which is acceptable.  

Car parking – six spaces are indicated; however only 5 spaces are required. The 
applicant should remove one space.  

Cycle parking – 12 spaces indicated which is satisfactory.  
Bin store- indicated; however please also consult the Waste Management Team.  
No objection in principle. if minded to approve please include the following with any 

permission:  
CONDITION  

OC03 (5 Car Parking are required)  
OC11 (Provision of sightline …43m x 2.4m x 43m.. ..1m.. )  
AG11 (Refuse storage)  

AG12 (Cycle parking)  
AG24 (Highway Drainage)  

PC17 (Construction Management Plan)  
INFORMATIVE  
Nonstandard informative – Street furniture/ Statutory Undertaker’s apparatus “Any 

repositioning, alteration and/ or adjustment to street furniture or Statutory 

Page 120



Undertaker’s apparatus, considered necessary and practical to help with the 
modification of vehicular crossover hereby permitted, shall be undertaken at the 

cost of the applicant 
  
Environmental Health - No objections. 

 No objections subject to conditions relating to Air Quality and standard informative 

relating to Bromley’s code of Construction and contaminated land.  

 
Drainage – No objections 
 

 Request surface water drainage condition. 
 

B) Adjoining Occupiers (addressed in Para 7 - 8) 
 

Objections: 

 Out of keeping with the detached single houses of the area which have 

architectural interest  

 Higher than neighbouring properties 

 Additional parking problems and pressure on a busy road 

 Misleading application  

 Inappropriate for the road 

 Additional housing density would add to problems of parking, noise and pollution  

 Development would diminish unique character of Bromley Avenue 

 Scale of the building would make it largest on the street and would dominate view.  

 Scale of development large relative to the size of the plot and too big. It would be 

out of character with other properties which are typically smaller properties with 

bigger plots. 

 The street only has detached and semi-detached houses. A flatted development 

would be out of character. 

 Parking has no screening and would be an eyesore and further out of character. 

 Accommodation at the rear is north facing and looking at a steep slope with 

retaining walls. Those flats will be very dark, with a poor outlook and living 

conditions.  

 Loss of privacy and overshadowing. 

 Substantial intensification. 

 Bulk and mass would dominate street scene.  

 The first floor footprint would overhang the existing building line by approx. 1m 

rising to 1.5m, serves to further impose the bulk and mass on the street scene.  

 The building would be less than 1m to boundary to the west. For such a large 

building a larger side space is appropriate. 

 Frontage given over almost entirely to car parking. No meaningful room for soft 

landscaping. It would appear as a car park.  

 Detrimental in character and close to Shortland’s Conservation Area.  

 Will set a precedent. 

 Inappropriate in scale and usage.  

Page 121



 Properties within the area are for single families. Also only three storey building. 

Both mean the development is out of character.  

 Dominate the whole road, particularly as it is located right at the top of the hill.  

 The Avenue consists of detached and semi-detached, single-family residences of a 

pleasing variety of architectural and period designs, with gardens and many trees 

making it a desirable and attractive suburban environment.  

 New and alien presence. Three-storey bulk would occupy most of the frontage of 

the current plot.  

 Road is a cut through. The already concerning combination of traffic density and 

on-street parking can only be exacerbated by the proposed overdevelopment.  

 Twice as dense as present house and has little merit except.  

 The pretence of a ‘mock’ Tudor makes the façade ridiculous.  

 Close to rear and will cause a loss of privacy.  

 The size of the development will be overbearing, dominant and cause overlooking.  

 Will ‘loom over’ neighbours and will impact well-being.  

 Overlooking from balconies.  

 Quotes from an Inspector of a dismissed appeal at Oaklands Road re. the 

introduction of a large expanse of hardstanding being out-of-character and 

unacceptable.  

 The steep gradient provides little opportunity for external amenity space. 

 Concerns about the assessment of the impact on garden G2 (4a Bromley Avenue) 

regarding amenity sunlight. Unclear whether the assessment covered the whole of 

G2 or just part which is not under the tree canopy. 

 Could be a significant reduction in sunlight. 

 Minimal detail regarding soft landscaping. 

 Concerns about build time and disruption during construction. 

 Beauty of area is one of green, with birds and animals. Consideration needs to be 

given to TPO across site. 

 Only flat 1 would allow access by a wheelchair. Concerns about fire access to 

certain flats.  

 Entrance lobby has no waiting space. Easy access to gardens only from ground 

floor flats.  

 Noise  

 Traffic congestion  

 The streets character is mixed, with renewal being an inherent part of its character, 

however the scale and proportion of individual houses is broadly consistent as it 

ratio of building to plot size.  

 The scale, height and mass of building is incongruous. Cannot be likened to any 

building locally. 

 Complicated mansard roof, dormer windows, jetting features and broad chimney 

breast are all features not present locally. Disregards local character.  

 Contrary to policy 4. Space left open around building is significantly smaller than 

others. This plot is wider and unlike others the proposals sprawl full width spanning 

two levels.  Rather than complimenting the qualities of surrounding areas, the 

Page 122



proposals height, scale, massing complicated mansard, dormers are in stark 

contrast. 

 Share amenity space for number of residents is questionable.  

 No clarification on whether they meet building regulations M4(2 and or 3).  

 Contrary to Policy 37. 

 Will demolish an attractive historical building. 

 Contrary to Policy 3 of the Local Plan.  

 Only building with three obvious storeys. 

 Substantial intensification of small irregular site. 

 Site has a sloping hillside but there is no topographical survey. This suggests 

design is compromised.  

 Failed to consider impact on the area and neighbours. 

 There are no purpose built flats in Bromley Avenue. Only house conversions, which 

match the size and proportions of nearby buildings. 

 Significant areas of hardstanding. 

 Loss of greenery  

 Run-off increase and flooding in wet weather. 

 No measurements and no indication of electric vehicle charging points. 

 Extension of crossover will lead to loss of the grass verge. 

 Unsafe highway impact due to proximity with Grasmere Road. Add to queues and 

pollution. 

 The existing building should be preserved.  

Please note the above is a summary of objections received and full text is available on the 
Council's website. 

 
The agent has provided a response to the objections raised.  
 

 
6.  POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 

 
 

6.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out 

 that in considering and determining applications for planning permission the local 

 planning authority must have regard to:  

 (a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 

 (b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 

 (c) any other material considerations. 

6.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear 

 that any determination under the planning acts must be made in accordance with 

 the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   

6.3 The National Planning Policy Framework was published on 24 July 2018 and 

 updated on 19 February 2019.  

Page 123



6.4 The development plan for Bromley comprises the, the London Plan (March 2021) 

 and Bromley Local Plan (Jan 2019).  

London Plan (March 2021) 
 
SD1 Opportunity Areas 

D1 London's form and characteristics 
D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities 

D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 
D4 Delivering good design  
D5 Inclusive design 

D6 Housing quality and standards 
D7 Accessible housing 

D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency  
D12 Fire safety 
D13 Agent of change 

D14 Noise   
H1 Increasing Housing Supply 

H2 Small sites  
H5 Threshold Approach to application  
H8 Loss of existing housing and estate redevelopment 

H9 Ensuring the best use of stock 
H10 Housing Size Mix 

S4 Play and informal recreation 
G5 Urban greening 
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 

G7 Trees and woodlands 
SI1 Improving air quality 

SI4 Managing heat risk 
SI5 Water infrastructure 
SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 

SI12 Flood risk management 
SI13 Sustainable drainage  

T2 Healthy Streets 
T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding  
T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 

T5 Cycling 
T6 Car parking 

T6.1 Residential Parking 
T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction 
 

Bromley Local Plan (January 2019) 
 

1 Housing supply 
4 Housing design 
8 Side Space 

30 Parking  
32 Road Safety 

33 Access for All 
34 Highway Infrastructure Provision   

Page 124



37 General design of development 
77 Landscape Quality and Character 

112 Planning for Sustainable Waste management  
113 Waste Management in New Development  

115 Reducing flood risk 
116 Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)  
117 Water and Wastewater Infrastructure Capacity 

118 Contaminated Land 
119 Noise Pollution  

120 Air Quality  
121 Ventilation and Odour Control 
122 Light Pollution 

123 Sustainable Design and Construction 
124 Carbon dioxide reduction, Decentralise Energy networks and Renewable Energy 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Housing: Supplementary Planning Guidance. (March 2016) 

Technical housing standards - Nationally Described Space Standard (March 2015) 
SPG1 General Design Principles 

SPG2 Residential Design Guidance 
National Design Guide - (September 2019) 
 
7. ASSESSMENT 

 

The main issues relating to the application are: 
 

- Principle - Housing Supply 

- Design 
- Standard of residential accommodation  

- Neighbouring Amenity 
- Highways 
- Trees 

- Other  
- CIL 

 
 Principle - Housing Supply 
 

7.1 The current position in respect of Bromley’s Five Year Housing Land Supply 
 (FYHLS) was agreed at Development Control Committee on 2nd November 2021. 

 7.3The current position is that the FYHLS (covering the period 2021/22 to 2025/26) 
 is 3,245 units, or 3.99 years supply. This is acknowledged as a significant 
 undersupply and for the purposes of assessing relevant planning applications 

 means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply.  
 

7.2 The NPPF (2021) sets out in paragraph 11 a presumption in favour of sustainable
  development. In terms of decision-making, the document states that where a 
 development accords with an up-to-date local plan, applications should be 

 approved without delay. Where a plan is out of date, permission should be granted 
 unless the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 

 particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

Page 125



 proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
 outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken 

 as a whole. 
  

7.3 According to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF in the absence of a 5 year Housing Land 
 Supply the Council should regard the Development Plan Policies for the supply of 
 housing including Policy 1 Housing Supply of the Bromley Local Plan as being 'out 

 of date'. In accordance with paragraph 11(d), for decision taking this means where 
 there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most 

 important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
 unless: 
  

 i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
 particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

 proposed; or 
  
 ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

 the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
 whole. 

  
7.4 London Plan Policy H1 sets Bromley’s housing target at 774 homes per annum. In 
 order to deliver this target, boroughs are encouraged to optimise the potential for 

 housing delivery on all suitable and available brownfield sites. This approach is 
 consistent with Policy 1 of the Bromley Local Plan, particularly with regard to the 

 types of locations where new housing delivery should be focused. 
 
7.5 Policy H2 requires Boroughs to pro-actively support well-designed new homes on 

 small sites (below 0.25 hectares in size). Policy D3 requires all development to 
 make the best use of land by following a design led approach.   

 
7.6 This application includes the provision of 5 residential dwellings, which is an uplift of 

4 units. This represents a modest contribution to the supply of housing within the 

Borough. This will be considered in the overall planning balance set out in the 
conclusion of this report, having regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. 
 

Optimising Sites 

 
7.7 Policy H1 Increasing Housing Supply of the London Plan states that to ensure 

 housing targets are achieved boroughs should optimise the potential for housing 
 delivery on all suitable and available brownfield sites through their Development 
 Plans and planning decisions.  Policy 1 of the Local Plan and Policy H1 of the 

 London Plan set the context in the use of sustainable brownfield sites for new 
 housing delivery.  

 
7.8 Policy H2 Small Sites of the London Plan states that Boroughs should pro-actively 
 support well-designed new homes on small sites (below 0.25 hectares in size) 

 through both planning decisions and plan-making in order to significantly increase 
 the contribution of small sites to meeting London’s housing needs.  

 

Page 126



7.9 The London Plan does not include a prescriptive density matrix and promotes a 
 design-led approach in Policy D3 to optimise the capacity of sites. The design-led 

 approach requires consideration of design options to determine the most 
 appropriate form of development that responds to a site’s context and capacity for 

 growth, and existing and planned supporting infrastructure capacity. Policies D2 
 and D4 are also relevant to any assessment of development proposals, including 
 whether the necessary infrastructure is in place to accommodate development at 

 the density proposed. 
 

7.10 Local Plan Policies 4 and 37 accord with paragraph 130 of the National Planning 
 Policy Framework, which requires development to be sympathetic to local character 
 whilst optimising the potential of sites. 

 
7.11 Therefore, in this location, the Council will consider a higher density residential 

 development provided that it is designed to complement the character of 
 surrounding developments, the design and layout make suitable residential 
 accommodation, and it provides for garden and amenity space. Any adverse impact 

 on neighbouring amenity, conservation and historic issues, biodiversity or open 
 space will need to be addressed. 

 
Design  

 

7.12 The site is occupied by an existing 1950s/1960s style dwelling, which appears as a 
standalone property separate from its predominantly traditional mock Tudor 

neighbours. It is of limited architectural merit, and it is considered that its loss would 
have limited impact on the overall character and appearance of the street scene. 
Therefore, the principle of demolition is considered unobjectionable. 

 
7.13 Design is a key consideration in the planning process. Good design is an important 

aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people.  

 

7.14 Policy 4 of the Local Plan details that all new housing developments will need to 
achieve a high standard of design and layout whilst enhancing the quality of local 

places respecting local character, spatial standards, physical context and density. To 
summarise the Council will expect all of the following requirements to be 
demonstrated: The site layout, buildings and space around buildings be designed to 

a high quality, recognising as well as complimenting the qualities of the surrounding 
areas; compliance to minimum internal space standards for dwellings; provision of 

sufficient external, private amenity space; provision of play space, provision of 
parking integrated within the overall design of the development; density that has 
regard to the London Plan whilst respecting local character; layout giving priority to 

pedestrians and cyclists over vehicles; safety and security measures included in the 
design and layout of buildings; be accessible and adaptable dwellings. 

 
7.15 Policy 8 of the Local Plan details that when considering applications for new 

residential development, including extensions, the Council will normally require for a 

proposal of two or more storeys in height, a minimum 1 metre space from the side 
boundary of the site should be retained for the full height and length of the building 

Page 127



or where higher standards of separation already exist within residential areas, 
proposals will be expected to provide a more generous side space. 

 
7.16 Policy 37 of the Local Plan details that all development proposals, including 

extensions to existing buildings, will be expected to be of a high standard of design 
and layout. To summarise developments will be expected to meet all of the following 
criteria where they are relevant; be imaginative and attractive to look at, of a good 

architectural quality and should complement the scale, proportion, form, layout and 
materials of adjacent buildings and areas; positively contribute to the existing street 

scene and/or landscape and respect important views, heritage assets, skylines, 
landmarks or landscape features; create attractive settings; allow for adequate 
daylight and sunlight to penetrate in and between buildings; respect the amenity of 

occupiers of neighbouring buildings and those of future occupants; be of a 
sustainable design and construction; accessible to all; secure; include; suitable waste 

and refuse facilities and respect non designated heritage assets. 
 
7.17 The site is located on the north side of Bromley Avenue. It has a low Public Transport 

Accessibility Level (PTAL 1) but is within walking distance of the Metropolitan 
Bromley Town Centre (less than a mile). It is also less than a mile to Bromley North 

Station, various bus routes and other shops/services. It is therefore considered to be 
site which is relatively well connected and sustainable.  

 

7.18 The site itself slopes upwards from west to east. The topography of the land also 
steps upwards to the rear of the site. On the south side of the road there are 

residential properties which are set significantly higher than the highway.  
 
7.19 Bromley Avenue is residential in character, comprising various two-storey detached 

and semi-detached dwellings, which are set behind landscaped frontages and a 
number benefit from off-street parking. The spatial standards within the street vary 

but is noted that the spacing between properties is less generous to the west of the 
site. 

 

7.20 Generally, the road has a pleasant suburban character. Purpose built flatted 
developments are noted on surrounding roads, but such development is not typical 

of Bromley Avenue.  
 
7.21 The proposed development would be notionally two storeys in height, but additional 

accommodation would be in the roof with the inclusion of front facing dormers. Front 
facing dormers are not a characteristic feature within the road. The property would, 

however, be traditional in terms of its form and the architectural approach seeks to 
respond to the local vernacular with a red brick finish, projecting bays and mock 
Tudor detailing, which is considered appropriate within this context.  

 
7.22 The proposed building footprint is larger than neighbouring properties and existing 

building, extending deep into the rear garden and to within proximity with the 
boundary. Nevertheless a c. 1.2m space would be retained to the western flank at its 
narrowest point and c.1.5 would be retained east. It would have a width of c.17.8m 

across the plot, but the site tapers inwards to the rear and the spacing is more 
generous between the side boundary and development towards the frontage. The 

elevated ridge height also steps down to the west in response to the site topography 

Page 128



and neighbouring properties, and this, together with a varied front building line, would 
help break-up the overall massing of the development from the street scene. The 

spacing to the side boundaries and general separation between the development and 
neighbours would not be out-of-character with the pattern of the development to the 

west.  
 
7.23 Additionally, the principle building line varies but the spacing (c.8m) to the front 

boundary would not be too dissimilar to the immediate neighbours, which have a 
setback ranging between c.6 - 7.5m.  

 
7.24 The proposal would include parking on the frontage, which can accommodate 6 

vehicles. The amount of hardstanding required for the above, together with refuse 

and bicycle storage represents a notable contrast to the existing green character of 
the site. Additionally, the proposal represents a considerable amount of built 

development which extends deep into the plot, which tapers inwards to the rear and 
has a steep topography. This would also be at odds with layout and appearance of 
the immediate neighbours, this would result in development which is more cramped 

than the existing situation. Although there are flats in the wider area, the replacement 
of this house in the manner proposed would run contrary to the established pattern 

of development in the road. In this respect the proposal would result in some harm 
to the character and appearance of the road by introducing an uncharacteristic 
denser development of small flats.  

 
7.25 In summary, the proposal would result in some harm to the character and appearance 

of the area due to the introduction of a denser form of development both in terms of 
its flatted nature, scale, and amount of built development on site relative to the size 
of the plot. It is also however, considered to be within a sustainable location, close to 

the Bromley Town Centre and other local services. Flats and other higher density 
developments are situated on surrounding roads. The proposal does also respond to 

the local site characteristics with its traditional form, complimentary materials, and 
stepped massing.  

 

Standard of residential accommodation  
 

7.26 Policy 4 of the BLP sets out the requirements for new residential development to 
 ensure a good standard of amenity. The Mayor's Housing SPG sets out guidance in 
 respect of the standard required for all new residential accommodation to 

 supplement London Plan policies. The standards apply to new build, conversion 
 and change of use proposals. Part 2 of the Housing SPG deals with the quality of 

 residential accommodation setting out standards for dwelling size, room layouts 
 and circulation space, storage facilities, floor to ceiling heights, outlook, daylight 
 and sunlight, external amenity space (including refuse and cycle storage facilities) 

 as well as core and access arrangements to reflect the Governments National 
 Technical Housing Standards.  

 
7.27 The London Plan makes clear that ninety percent of new housing should meet 
 Building Regulation requirement M4 (2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' and 

 ten per cent of new housing should meet Building Regulation requirement M4 (3) 
 'wheelchair user dwellings', i.e. is designed to be wheelchair accessible, or easily 

Page 129



 adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users. The relevant category of Building 
 Control Compliance should be secured by planning conditions.  

 
7.28 The applicant confirms within the design and access statement that 4 of the units 

would comply with requirements of Part M (2). The remaining unit flat 1 will be able 
to be converted. A condition could be imposed to ensure this standard is met.  

 

7.29 The proposal includes 5 residential units comprising four 2-bedroom units and 1 
three-bedroom unit. The proposed units would comply with the minimum technical 

floor space standards. 
 
7.30 The shape, room size and layout of the rooms in the proposed building is 

considered satisfactory. Neighbouring concerns have been raised with regards to 
the outlook/light from the lower flats due to their proximity with a steep bank and 

retaining wall to the rear. However, this retaining wall appears to be c.3m away 
from the rear ground windows. It is not considered that the arrangement would lead 
to units within an unacceptable level of light or outlook. 

 
7.31 The shape, room size and layout of the rooms in the proposed building is considered 

satisfactory. Neighbouring concerns have been raised with regards to the 
outlook/light from the lower flats due to their proximity with a steep bank and retaining 
wall to the rear. However, this retaining wall appears to be c.3m away from the rear 

ground windows. It is not considered that the arrangement would lead to units within 
an unacceptable level of light or outlook. 

 
7.32 In terms of amenity space, a communal rear amenity area is provided at the rear.  
 

7.33 The standard of accommodation is therefore considered acceptable.  
 

 
Highways 

 

7.34 London Plan and Bromley Local Plan Policies encourage sustainable transport 
modes whilst recognising the need for appropriate parking provision. Car parking 

standards within the London Plan and Bromley Local Plan should be used as a basis 
for assessment. 

 

7.35 In terms of parking 5 parking spaces are required in line with Policy requirements, 
however 6 off-street spaces would be provided. The existing vehicular access will be 

widened to facilitate the parking area.  
 
7.36 The Council's Highways Officer has not raised objection in this regard or raised 

concerns about the impact from a road safety perspective.  
 

7.37 A sufficient level of cycle parking would be provided. An area has also been allocated 
for refuse storage on the frontage. A condition could be imposed to ensure their 
means of enclosure are satisfactory.  

 
 

 

Page 130



 Neighbouring amenity 
 

7.38 Policy 37 of the BLP seeks to protect existing residential occupiers from 
 inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a development 

 proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss of light, 
 overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and disturbance. 
 

7.39 Policy 4 of the Bromley Local Plan also seeks to protect existing residential occupiers 
from inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a development 

proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss of light, 
overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and disturbance. 

 

7.40 Kynance is located to the east of the site and this detached property is set at a higher 

ground level. The main residential building is set away from the common boundary 
by c.10m. Habitable windows appear to be situated within the side elevation and 
these face the development site. There is also a garage structure, which is set 

forward of the current application property and this also extends up the boundary. 
This neighbour benefits from a generous garden which is considered to be both wide 

and deep, but the rear of the garden also appears to have a higher ground level with 
various trees and shrubs. There is large dense hedge running along the shared 
boundary between the properties. The existing application property already extends 

partially beyond the rear of this neighbour. There is also single storey structure, which 
is extends to the boundary within the application site, but this is also at a lower ground 

level. The roof of the existing building has a shallow hipped roof which pitches away 
from this neighbour.  

 

7.41 The proposal development would be c. 2.2 deeper than the existing building adjacent 
to the shared boundary. The proposed building would be setback by c. 1.5m at 

ground floor level and a c.2.7m at first floor level. Whilst the development would be 
larger in scale and visually bulkier, given the site characteristics, arrangement of the 
building and it is not considered that it would be unacceptably intrusive or overbearing 

due to the above.   
 

7.42 In terms of the fenestration arrangement, main windows are situated to the front and 
rear of the building. Two roof lights serving bathrooms are located within the western 
roof slope, these could be conditioned to be obscured. There are projecting rear bay 

windows and the side facing panels could also be obscured. When considering the 
layout of the proposal and fenestration it is not considered that there would be an 

unacceptable level of overlooking or loss of privacy.  
 
7.43 The application is accompanied by a daylight and sunlight report, which does not 

identify significant harm for this neighbour. Together with the site characteristics and 
orientation it is not considered that there would be an unacceptable loss of light or 

overshadowing.  
 
7.44 The impact on the visual and residential amenities of Kynance is therefore 

considered to be acceptable.  
 

7.45 To the west of the site is 4A Bromley Avenue. This is a detached residential property 
which is located at a lower ground level. This neighbour also benefits from a garden 

Page 131



which is both wide and deep, but again is also partially constrained by the rising 
topography towards the rear. At present the existing building is set away by c.11m 

from this neighbour. The proposal would extend the built form significantly closer to 
the above property, with a separation of c. 4.3m between the two flank walls. It would 

project beyond the rear of Number 4A by c.2.9m and this would be set back from the 
boundary by c.1.2m at its narrowest point. The building then steps back again and 
with a depth of 5.6m beyond the rear of 4A. The boundary line however tapers away 

from the rear elevation of 4A and the ridge height of the development steps down 
towards this neighbour to reduce its massing and subsequent visual prominence. 

Visually, the greater proximity to the boundary would mean that the proposed building 
would be more prominent and intrusive for this neighbour. However, it is considered 
that the lower roof height and staggered rear elevation immediately adjacent to 

boundary, together with the tapering nature of the plot, generous gardens and 
detached nature of the properties would go a significant way to alleviate the visual 

harm and would not result in unacceptable overbearing impact, significant visual 
dominance or a materially harmful loss of outlook. 

 

7.46 The accompanying daylight and sunlight report does not identify significant harm for 
this neighbour.  

 
7.47 In terms of the fenestration arrangement, main windows are situated to the front and 

rear of the building. A single secondary roof light serving a bedroom is located within 

the western roof slope. As this is a secondary window this could be conditioned to be 
obscured. When considering the layout of the proposal and fenestration it is not 

considered that there would be an unacceptable level of overlooking or loss of 
privacy. 

 

7.48 The impact on the visual and residential amenities of 4A is therefore considered to 
be acceptable.  

 
7.49 In relation to other surrounding properties, including those opposite the site and to 

the rear it is not considered that there would be unacceptable harm to their residential 

or visual amenities due the degree of separation, site topography and layout of the 
development. 

 
 
 Drainage  

 
7.50 Policy SI 13 Sustainable Drainage of the London Plan states that development 

proposals should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure that surface 
water run-off is managed as close to its source as possible. Policy 116 of the Local 
Plan details that all developments should seek to incorporate sustainable Urban 

Drainage Systems (SUDS) or demonstrate alternative sustainable approaches to the 
management of surface water as far as possible. 

 
7.51 The Councils Drainage Officer has reviewed the scheme and raised no objections 

and has recommended a surface water drainage condition.  

 
 

 

Page 132



 Trees 
 

7.51 Policy 73 of the Bromley Local Plan states that proposals for new development will 
be required to take particular account of existing trees on the site and on adjoining 

land, which in the interests of visual amenity and/or wildlife habitat, are considered 
desirable to be retained. 

 

7.52 The site is subject to a blanket Tree Preservation Order; however the Council’s tree 
officer has confirmed that the trees within the development boundary are not subject 

to the TPO and are replaceable. Retained trees and off-site trees should be protected 
during demolition and construction and accordingly a pre-commencement condition 
could be imposed to ensure any retained/off-site trees are protected for the duration 

of the works. 
 

7.53 Basic details of landscaping have been submitted for the areas given over to planting 
in the front and rear curtilages of each dwelling. The Council’s tree officer has 
indicated further tree planting could be introduced to the front of the site. 

Notwithstanding this point, full details of hard and soft landscaping including species 
details can be sought by condition with any permission.  

 
 
 CIL  

 
7.54 The Mayor of London's CIL and Bromley Local CIL is a material consideration.  CIL 

 is payable on this application.  
 
 
8. CONCLUSION 

 

8.1 The proposal would provide 5 good sized residential units, within this relatively 
sustainable location. The building has been designed to account for the site 
topography and the local vernacular. The impact on neighbouring residential 

amenities is considered acceptable and the development would provide vehicular 
and cycle parking which meets and exceeds the minimum requirements. However, 

the proposal would also result in some harm to the character and appearance of 
the street because of its scale, along with the introduction of a denser flatted 
development within this lower density residential road.  

 
8.2 In respect of the Council's 5-year housing land supply and the current position 

outlined within the 'principle' section above, paragraph 11d (ii) of the Framework 
would be applicable. In this case, when weighing up benefits of the development 
and the current undersupply of housing, it is considered that the identified harm 

arising from the proposal would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits of the development. Therefore, in the planning balance the proposal is 

considered to be acceptable. 
 
8.3 Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all 

 correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, 
 excluding exempt information. 

 

Page 133



As amended by docs received on 08.12.2021 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Application Permitted 
 

Subject to the following conditions: 
 
SUMMARY OF CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES  

Standard Condition(s)  

 
1.  Time limit of 3 years  

2.  Drawing number  

 
Prior to commencement Condition(s) 

 

3.  Surface Water Drainage details 
4. Construction Management Plan 
5.  Tree Protection Plan  

 
Prior to commencement of Groundwork 

 
6.  Materials  
7.  Landscaping 

8. Refuse storage details  
9.  Cycle Parking details  

 
Prior to Occupation  
 

10. Parking Space Arrangements  
11. Sight Lines 

12.  Window details with Obscured Glazing  
 
Compliance Conditions 

 
13. M4(2) Compliance.  

 
Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Assistant Director of     
Planning      

 
      Informatives 

 

CIL  
 

 
 
 

 

Page 134



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125022 March 2022

21/04122/FULL1

 

Page 135



This page is left intentionally blank



 
Committee Date 

 
31.03.2022 
 

 
Address 

66 High Street 
Beckenham  
BR3 1ED  

  
  

 
Application 
Number 

21/05366/FULL1 Officer  - Louisa Bruce 

Ward Copers Cope 
Proposal Retention of replacement shopfront (Retrospective Application) 
Applicant 

 

Mr M Pelou 

Agent 

 

Mr Joe Alderman  

c/o Agent  
Downe House 
303 High Street 

Orpington 
BR6 0NN 

 

303 Downe House  
High Street  
Orpington  

BR6 0NN  
  

 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

 
 

Call-In 
 

Councillor call in 
 

  Yes   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
Application Permitted 
 

 
KEY DESIGNATIONS 

 

Conservation Area: Beckenham Town Centre 
Areas of Archeological Significance  

Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  
London City Airport Safeguarding  
Secondary Shopping Frontage  

Smoke Control SCA 12 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 4.6



Land use Details  

 Use Class or Use 
description   

 

 
Floor space  (GIA SQM) 

 
Existing  
 

 

 
Class E (Formerly A3) 

 
80sqm 

 
Proposed  

 
 

 
Class E (Formerly A3) 

 
80sqm 

 

 
Representation  
summary  

 

 

A site notice was displayed at the premises on the 9th December 
2021. Neighbours were notified on 6th December 2021.  
 

Total number of responses  0 

Number in support  0 

Number of objections 0 

 
 

 
1.  SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  

 

 The development would not result in a harmful impact on the character and 
appearance of the area 

 The character and appearance of the Conservation Area would be preserved 

 The development would not adversely affect the amenities of neighbouring residential 

properties 
 

 
2.  LOCATION 

 

 
2.1 The application relates to the ground floor unit (Agora, a mediterranean restaurant) 

 sited within a wider three storey building on the western side of High Street, 
 Beckenham. The property is located along a secondary retail frontage comprising 
 ground floor commercial units with some residential units above. The building is not 

 listed but is located within the Beckenham Town Centre Conservation Area.  

Page 138



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



3.  PROPOSAL 
 

3.1 Retrospective planning permission is sought for a replacement shopfront and 
 elevational alterations at No.66 High Street, Beckenham. The shopfront has been 

 upgraded with the installation of openable bi-folding doors onto the High Street with 
 fixed windows above. The existing access door position is unchanged. The plans 
 indicate the use of full height timber effect glazed bi-folding doors.  

 
3.2 A planning, heritage and design and access statement accompanies the 

 application.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 140



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

4.  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 Under planning application reference: 91/00819/FUL planning permission was 

 granted for change of use from retail shop to restaurant and single storey rear 
 extension and shopfront.  
 

4.2 Under planning application reference: 91/01015/ADVILL advertisement consent 
 was granted for an externally illuminated fascia sign.  

 
 

 

5.  CONSULTATION SUMMARY 
 

A)  Statutory  
 
 

Conservation: No objection in this case as this is undoubtedly an improvement on the 
previous shopfront.  

 
Highways: no objections 
 

Environmental Health (Pollution): no objections  
 

 
 
B)  Local Groups 

 
No comments have been received from local residents groups.  

 

 

Page 141



 
 

C)  Adjoining Occupiers 
 

 No letters of representation have been received from local residents.  
 
 

 
6.  POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 

 
National Policy Framework 2019 
 

NPPG 
 

The London Plan 
 

D1  London's form, character and capacity for growth 

D3  Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach  
D4  Delivering good design  

HC1  Heritage conservation and growth  
SD6  Town centres and high streets  
 

 
Bromley Local Plan 2019 

 

37  General Design of Development  
41  Conservation Areas  

42  Development adjacent to a Conservation Area  
94  District Centres  

101  Shopfronts and Security Shutters 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 
SPG1 - General Design Principles  

SPG2 - Residential Design Guidance  
Beckenham Town Centre Conservation Area Guidance 
Beckenham Design Guide for Shopfronts  

 
*A Beckenham Design Guide for Shopfronts was informally approved at the meeting of the 

Development Control Committee on 2nd November 2021.  The content of the Guide is 
noted insofar as the Committee considered it to represent best practice but the informal 
status of the document will affect the weight that can be given to it in the assessment and 

determination of the application.   

 
 
 
7.  ASSESSMENT 

 

7.1 The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are:   

 

Page 142



 o Design and heritage impact 
 o Neighbouring amenity 

 
  

 Design and heritage impact  -  ACCEPTABLE  
 
7.2 Design is a key consideration in the planning process. Good design is an important 

 aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
 contribute positively to making places better for people. The NPPF states that it is 

 important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive design 
 for all development, including individual buildings, public and private spaces and 
 wider area development schemes.  

 
7.3 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that 

 developments function well and add to the overall quality of the area, are not just 
 for the short term but over the lifetime of the development, and are visually 
 attractive and sympathetic to the local character and history, including the 

 surrounding built environment and landscape setting. It also seeks to ensure that 
 developments establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement 

 of streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
 distinctive places to live. 
 

7.4 London Plan and Bromley Local Plan policies further reinforce the principles of the 
 NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality design. Similarly, policies 6 and 

 37 aim to ensure that new developments are of good architectural quality and 
 respect the scale, spaces and form of the host property as well as developments in 
 the wider area.  

 
7.5 Policy 41 (Conservation Areas) of the Bromley Local Plan relates to development 

 within Conservation Areas. This requires new development, alterations or 
 extensions to a building within a conservation area to preserve and enhance its 
 characteristics and appearance by respecting or complementing the layout, scale, 

 form and materials of existing buildings and spaces and using high quality 
 materials. 

 
7.6 Policy 101 (Shopfronts) states that when considering applications for shopfronts 
 and security shutters the Council will resist the removal of shop fronts of 

 architectural or historic merit; proposals for new shop fronts or alterations need to 
 demonstrate a high quality which complements the original design, materials and 

 surrounding street scene and building of which it forms. Blinds, canopies or shutters 
 where acceptable in principle must be appropriate to the character of the shop front 
 and its setting. 

 
7.7 The main considerations for this application with regards to design and scale 

 relates to how the proposed development would impact the character of the 
 property and wider area. The application relates to a ground floor commercial unit 
 located along a secondary retail frontage. The character of the area is mixed 

 comprising commercial units with some residential flats above. The front elevations 
 of commercial units within the locality are predominantly glazed with shop signs 

 above. 

Page 143



 
7.8 The works have already been carried out. The planning application forms state that 

 the changes were carried out in August 2021. The new shopfront incorporates a full 
 height timber effect aluminium & glazed panelled bi-fold door with windows above. 

 
7.9 The previous shopfront had an entrance which included a glazed entrance door to 
 the premises and a large glazed display window to the left with small stallriser 

 below. The entrance door to the premises remains in the same position. The 
 Conservation Officer considers the changes acceptable and an improvement to the 

 previous shopfront.  
 
7.10 The accompanying Planning, Heritage and Design and Access Statement states 

 that  the development was undertaken to improve the aesthetic of the frontage 
 while also increasing natural ventilation which was required to reduce the 

 transmission of covid particularly in the spring and summer months.  
 
 

7.11 The site is located within the Beckenham Town Centre Conservation Area. It is 
 noted that High Street Beckenham encompasses a variety of shop fronts, with 

 traditional and modern designs. These vary in terms of their materiality, glazing 
 pattern and stall riser depth. 
 

7.12 It is also noted that a number of the more modern shop fronts, with large areas of 
 uninterrupted glazing, bi-folding doors and low stallrisers within the High Street. 

 Some bi-folding doors were installed prior to the Conservation Area designation in 
 2015 but similarly the last application approving bi-folding doors was at No. 82 High 
 St under  planning application ref: 21/03068/FULL1. Similar examples can be also 

 be seen at No.’s 78 (Sapore Vero), 82 (The Cosy Kitchen), 49 (Branded) and 59-
 63 (My Place) High Street. 

 
7.13 The proposed materials complement the surrounding ground floor commercial units 
 within the locality. There are several shopfronts with similar glazed frontages so the 

 proposed development would not appear out of keeping with the character of the 
 wider area.  

 
7.14 Having regard to the above, it is considered that, on balance, the shopfront is of an 
 acceptable design and would preserve the character and appearance of the 

 Conservation Area within which it lies. 
 

 
7.15 The NPPF sets out in section 16 the tests for considering the impact of a 
 development proposal upon designated and non-designated heritage assets. The 

 test is whether the proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total 
 loss of significance of a designated heritage asset and whether it can be 

 demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial 
 public benefits. A range of criteria apply.  
 

7.16 Paragraph 196/197 state where a development proposal will lead to less than 
 substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 

 should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 

Page 144



 appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. The effect of an application on the 
 significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 

 determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect 
 non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 

 regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
7.17 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 places a requirement on a local planning authority in relation to development in a 
 Conservation Area, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 

 enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 
 
7.18 Interpretation of the 1990 Act in law has concluded that preserving the character of 

 the Conservation Area can not only be accomplished through positive contribution 
 but also through development that leaves the character or appearance of the area 

 unharmed.  
 
7.19 The host property lies within the Beckenham Town Centre Conservation Area.  

 London Plan Policy HC1 and Policy 41 of the Bromley Local Plan are relevant to 
 this application.  These policies seek to preserve and enhance the character and 

 appearance of the Conservation Areas. The shopfronts of the commercial units 
 within the locality are generally glazed however there are some examples of some 
 more traditional frontages that reflect the historical context of the area. It is also 

 considered that the application accords with the aims and objectives of the Shop 
 Front Guidance which seeks use of appropriate materials and creating well 

 proportioned frontages.  
 
7.20 Overall the design does adequately preserve the appearance of the CA when 

 compared to the previous shopfront at the site. The Council's Conservation Officer 
 has advised that, on balance, the shopfront is considered to be acceptable from a 

 conservation perspective. APCA also raise no objections to the application. 
 
 

 Neighbouring amenity  -  ACCEPTABLE  
 

7.21 Policy 37 of the Bromley Local Plan seeks to protect existing residential occupiers 
 from inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a 
 development proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss 

 of light, overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and 
 disturbance. 

 
7.22 The proposed works would not materially impact the appearance of the property 
 nor is it likely to significantly impact the amenities of any neighbouring property. As 

 such, having regard to the scale, siting, separation distance, orientation, existing 
 boundary treatment of the development, it is considered that a significant loss of 

 amenity with particular regard to light, outlook, prospect and privacy would not 
 arise. 
 

 
 

 

Page 145



8.  CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 Having had regard to the above it is considered that the shop front changes would 
 not result in a significant loss of amenity to local residents nor impact detrimentally 

 on the character of the area and would preserve and enhance the Beckenham 
 Town Centre Conservation Area. 
 

8.2 Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all 
 correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, 

 excluding exempt information. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Permission  
 

 

Subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Compliance with plans 
2. Materials as per approved plans 

 
 
Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Assistant Director of     

Planning      
 

 
  
 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 146



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125022 March 2022

21/05366/FULL1

 

Page 147



This page is left intentionally blank



Report No.  London Borough of Bromley  

HPR2022/XXX      

PART ONE - PUBLIC  

 

___ 

 

   

1.  Reason for report  

Under application reference 20/02234/FULL1 Members resolved to refuse planning permission 

at the Planning Sub-Committee of 7 January 2021. Permission was refused for the following 

reasons: 

 

i. No justification of the need for additional gypsy and traveller pitches in this location has 

been provided and the proposal would, by reason of the increase in the number of pitches 

on the site and associated development, result in an overdevelopment which would be 

harmful to the amenities of neighbouring residential properties, including by reason of 

visual impact, contrary to Policies 12 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan. 

 

ii. The proposal would result in an intensification in the use of the existing access which has 

inadequate sight lines and would be prejudicial to highway safety including the safety of 

occupiers of the development and other road users, thereby contrary to Policy 32 of the 

Bromley Local Plan. 

 

2. Following on from the Council’s refusal of the application, work was undertaken on the site in 

May/June 2021, following its acquisition by the current owner. The Council has recently visited 

the site, and it clear that works have not been implemented in accordance with the refused 2020 

application, although the site does contain three mobile homes which would accord with the 

three pitches which were sought under application reference 20/02234/FULL1. Additionally, 

virtually the entire site has been given over to hardstanding in the form of gravel and concrete 

      

Decision Maker:  PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 1  

Date:   Thursday 31 March 2022  

Decision Type:  Urgent   Non-Executive  Key Non-Key  

      

Title:  ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, BR8 

7QN 
  

Contact Officer:  John Stephenson, Enforcement & Appeals Manager  

Tel: 0208 461 7887    E-mail:  John.Stephenson@bromley.gov.uk  

  

Chief Officer:  Assistant Director (Planning)  

Ward:  Cray Valley East 

Page 149

Agenda Item 4.7



slabs to accommodate mobile homes and touring caravans. None of the soft landscaping which 

was proposed as part of the refused planning application has been provided. 

 

3. The refused application is now the subject of a planning appeal which was submitted on 16 July 

2021. The appeal submission addresses both of the Council’s grounds of refusal which are 

discussed in Section 2 of this report.    

 ________________________________________________________________________________  

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)  

It is recommended that Members agree to contest the appeal; however, it is recommended the 

Members amend the ground of refusal: in effect the grounds for contesting the appeal.   

 

3. COMMENTARY  

1. Starting with the second (highways) ground of refusal, in support of his case the Appellant has 

now provided a Highway Statement which, in part, was based on a speed survey undertaken in 

May 2021. Reference has been made to Manual for Streets and Manual for Streets 2, whilst there 

have been discussions between the Appellant’s highways consultant and the Council’s Highways 

Engineer. It was recognised that lateral visibility was restricted by existing vegetation along the 

site frontage which would have to be trimmed, removed or cut back.     

 

2. Based on the findings of the Appellant’s highways consultant a proposed sightline drawing has 

been submitted in Appendix JPH-D of the Highway Statement entitled Figure 1 which requires 

some vegetation to be trimmed. The Council’s Highways Engineer has accepted the proposed 

sightlines shown in Figure 1 and suggested that if that can be included as a condition in any 

permission, then the second ground of refusal of refusal should not be pursued. Accordingly, 

Members are advised not to contest the second ground of refusal, since these concerns have 

now been satisfactorily addressed.  

 

3. Turning to the first ground of refusal, this may be broken down accordingly:  

(a) No justification of the need for additional gypsy and traveller pitches in this location has been 

provided. 

(b) The proposal would, by reason of the increase in the number of pitches on the site and 

associated development, result in an overdevelopment which would be harmful to the amenities 

of neighbouring residential properties, including by reason of visual impact. 

 

4. In regard to the first part of the first ground of refusal, the site was previously in the ownership of 

another traveller, a Mr Smith, who had obtained planning permission for the site, most recently 

under reference 15/04653/FULL1 in December 2015 for its continued use for stationing of 

residential caravans to provide one gypsy pitch, together with associated works. Subsequently, 

the land was purchased by its current owner in January 2020 (according to Land Registry records) 

and the refused application was lodged in June 2020. No specific details relating to the applicant 

or his family were included as part of the planning application, aside from a reference to their 

traveller status in the planning application form.   

 

5. Importantly, the site in question is designated a Traveller Site by the Council (“Traveller Site Inset 
Within The Green Belt”), following the adoption of the Bromley Local Plan in January 2019. The 
site is allocated as a Traveller Site in Policy 12 of the Local Plan (see also Appendix 10.3, Site 
19). Policy 12 advises that “the Council will seek to meet the identified need for provision by first 

Page 150



considering the potential within allocated traveller sites.” The evidence base for the Local Plan 
has identified the potential for additional pitches on this allocated Traveller Site. 

 

6. In response to the first ground of refusal, the Appellant has provided, within his appeal statement, 

details of the current occupiers of the site, comprising of himself and various members of his 

family. Officers have no reason to dispute that the current occupiers are travellers. As the 

Government’s Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) (August 2015) sets out, local planning 

authorities “should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those with local 

connections.” Accordingly, whilst the former traveller owner of the site is no longer in occupation, 

the mere fact that the site continues to be occupied by travellers means that the first part of the 

first ground of refusal has been addressed. Accordingly, Members are advised not to contest this 

element of the first ground of refusal.  

 

7. The second part of the first ground of refusal concerns the overdevelopment of the site and harm 

to the amenities of neighbouring residential properties, including by reason of visual impact. As 

already explained, works have not been implemented in accordance with the refused 2020 

application, although the site does contain three mobile homes which would accord with the three 

pitches for which planning permission was sought. Virtually the entire site has been given over to 

hardstanding in the form gravel and concrete slabs to accommodate mobile homes and touring 

caravans. None of the soft landscaping which was proposed as part of the refused planning 

application has been included. Prior to the undertaking of these works, approximately half of the 

site was soft landscaped whilst the site frontage was sympathetically landscaped in such way that 

it contributed positively to its setting. In its current form, the site appears out of character with its 

surroundings; despite the boundary enclosures, the extent of development of the site is evident 

within from views to the north at the front and from the south-west. The lopping and felling of trees 

has enabled open views into the site, whilst undermining its landscape setting.  

 

8. Clearly, the works have not been undertaken in accordance with the submitted plans. Given its 

current state, it is considered that the site has been overdeveloped and adversely affected visual 

amenity by reason of the excessive hardstanding and the actual siting of mobile homes within the 

site. Notwithstanding that the site has been removed from the Green Belt, Policy 37 of the Local 

Plan remains applicable. This policy requires that all development proposals meet a high standard 

of design and layout. The following criteria of this policy are considered relevant: 

a) Be imaginative and attractive to look at, of a good architectural quality and should 

complement the scale, proportion, form, layout and materials of adjacent buildings and 

areas;  

b) Positively contribute to the existing street scene and/or landscape and respect important 

views, heritage assets, skylines, landmarks or landscape features; and 

c) Space about buildings should provide opportunities to create attractive settings with hard or 

soft landscaping (including enhancing biodiversity). 

 

9. Additionally, paragraph 26 of the PPTS states that when considering applications, local planning 

authorities should (amongst other things) attached weight to the following matter: (d) “not 

Page 151



enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that the impression may be 

given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from the rest of the community.”   

 

10. In conclusion, it is considered that the second part of the first ground of refusal should be 

contested.  

 

 

Appendix 1 to this report contains the officer’s report to committee of 15 October 2020 which 

includes details of the proposal, planning history and policy context.  

  

Appendix 2 contains the Appellant’s Highways Statement. 

  

  

  

Non-Applicable Sections:  IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN,  

POLICY IMPLICATONS, PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS,  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

Background Documents:  

(Access via Contact  

Officer)  

Background papers referred to during production of this 

report comprise all correspondence for planning application 

ref. 20/02334/FULL1  

  

   

Page 152



Committee Date 07.01.2021 

Address 
Rosedale 
Hockenden Lane 
Swanley  
BR8 7QN  

Application 
Number 

20/02234/FULL1 Officer  - Gill Lambert 

Ward Cray Valley East 

Proposal Use of land for the stationing of residential caravans to provide 3 
gypsy and traveller pitches with associated works including amenity 
blocks, hardstanding, fencing, septic tank and landscaping on land 
adjacent to Vinsons Cottage, Hockenden Lane, Swanley 

Applicant 

Mrs Crimea Jones 

Agent 

Dr Angus Murdoch 

Rosedale  
Hockenden Lane 
Swanley 
BR8 7QN 

PO Box 71 
Ilminster 
TA19 0WF 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

Significant Objections/ 
Controversial 

Councillor call in 

 No 

RECOMMENDATION Application Permitted 

KEY DESIGNATIONS 

Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  
Green Belt  
London City Airport Safeguarding 
Smoke Control SCA 20 

Vehicle parking Existing number 
of spaces 

Total proposed 
including spaces 
retained  

Difference in spaces 
(+ or -) 

APPENDIX 1 - Committee Report

Page 153



 

Standard car spaces 1 
 

3 +2 

Light goods 
vehicles/public carrier 
vehicles  
 

1 3 +2 

Cycle   
 

  

 

Representation  
summary  
 
 

Residents letters were sent on 1st July 2020 
A Site Notice was displayed between 8th July – 29th July 2020 
 

Total number of responses  11 

Number in support  0 

Number of objections 11 

 

1 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  
 

• The development would not have a harmful impact on the visual amenities of the Green 
Belt 

• The proposals would not result in an overdevelopment of the site 

• The development would not adversely affect the amenities of neighbouring residential 
properties 

• The proposals would not have adverse impacts on parking or highway safety 
 

2 LOCATION 
 

2.1 This site is located on the southern side of Hockenden Lane, adjacent to Vinsons Cottages 
and opposite the junction with Cookham Road. It measures 0.15ha in area, and lies within 
the Green Belt. 

 

2.2 The site is currently occupied by a static caravan, a touring van, a stable block, an amenity 
block and 3 sheds, and altogether comprises one gypsy/traveller pitch. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



2.3 Site location plan: 
 

 

 

3 PROPOSAL 

3.1 Planning permission is sought for the use of this land for the stationing of residential 
caravans to provide 3 gypsy and traveller pitches with associated works including amenity 
blocks, hardstanding, fencing, septic tank and landscaping 

 

3.2 National pitch guidance indicates that a pitch accommodates 1 static, 1 tourer, provides 
parking and has an 'amenity block'. In this case, each pitch would have one static caravan, 
one touring van and an amenity block, and space would be provided for 2 car parking 
spaces on each plot. 

 

3.3 Double amenity block (for two pitches): 
 

 
 

Page 155



 
 
3.4 Proposed site plan: 

 

 
 
 

 

4 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

4.1 The relevant planning history relating to the application site is summarised as follows: 
 

4.2 Under ref.08/02489, a 5-year temporary planning permission was granted on appeal in 
February 2010 for the change of use of this land for the stationing of residential caravans to 
provide 1 gypsy pitch, whilst a permanent permission was granted for the retention of the 
stable block consisting of 3 loose boxes and a store. 
 

4.3 The Inspector concluded that inappropriate development had taken place which reduced the 
openness of the Green Belt, led to encroachment into the countryside and failed to prevent 
urban sprawl. She found that the harm identified to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness was not sufficiently outweighed by other considerations to allow a 
permanent permission to be granted, but concluded that a temporary 5 year permission 
could be granted due to the significant unmet need for gypsy and traveller sites (which would 
not be resolved in the immediate short term), and the limited harm caused to the Green Belt 
by the temporary permission when compared with the significant harm that would be caused 
to the appellant’s home and family life if they were forced to leave the site. For that reason, 
the Inspector also limited the temporary permission to the applicant, Mr Robbie Smith, and 
his resident dependants. The temporary permission would enable the Council to bring 
forward allocated traveller sites. 

 

Page 156



4.4 The guidance around plan making subsequently changed with the simultaneous publication 
in March 2012 of the  

 

• National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

• Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) 
 
4.5 Once the 2010 temporary permission expired, an application (ref.15/00500) was made on 

the basis of the former appeal and the emerging Local Plan policy direction which indicated 
this as a location for a traveller site, however this application was refused in July 2015 as it 
was considered to be contrary to Green Belt policy in the absence of very special 
circumstances. 

 
4.6 Under ref.15/04653/FULL1, a permanent permission was granted in December 2015 for 

the continued use of the land for the stationing of residential caravans to provide 1 gypsy 
pitch, with associated works (hardstanding, fencing, septic tank and landscaping) and 
stable block and paddock. It was allocated as a gypsy/traveller site in the Bromley Local 
Plan (2019). 

   

5 CONSULTATION SUMMARY 
 

A) Statutory/Non Statutory  
 

Highways – No objection 
 

• The siting of one pitch was allowed at appeal in 2008 and the time limit was subsequently 
extended under a further application 

• This proposal is for 3 pitches which will increase the amount of traffic using the access onto 
Hockenden Lane. The main concern is the sightlines which need to be made as good as 
possible and may affect some of the planting shown on the block plan 

• If permission is granted, a sightline condition is recommended. 
 

Drainage – No objection 
 

• There are no public foul and surface water sewers near the site, therefore, the applicant 
should submit further details by condition to demonstrate how to dispose of foul and 
surface water run-off generated from the site.  

 
B) Adjoining Occupiers  

 
Detrimental impact on Green Belt (addressed in paras 7.1.6, 7.2.1–7.2.3) 

 

• Only one pitch should be allowed as it is on Green Belt land 

• The site was originally occupied by one pitch without planning permission, and permission 
was subsequently granted for one pitch only 

• The proposals would have a negative effect on the appearance of the site and the 
surrounding countryside 

• The proposals would be detrimental to the openness of the Green Belt 
 

Increased noise and disturbance (addressed in para.7.3.2) 
 

• Proposals would treble the occupancy thus increasing noise and disturbance to 
neighbouring properties 

 
Increased vehicular traffic (addressed in para.7.4.1) 

Page 157



 

• Proposals would increase vehicular traffic to the site 

• Site is on a very busy rat run road leading to Orpington 

• The site has a hazardous access on a bend  
 

Increased size of site (addressed in para.7.5.1) 
 

• The site has encroached onto adjoining fields  
 

Other matters (addressed in para.7.3.2) 
 

• If the applicant is not a Traveller, then the application should be dealt with in the same 
way as an application from the settled population 

• Health and safety risk from a large number of residents living in a small development 
 

6 POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

6.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out that in 
considering and determining applications for planning permission the local planning authority 
must have regard to:- 

 
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 
(c) any other material considerations. 

 

6.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear that any 
determination under the planning acts must be made in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

6.3 The development plan for Bromley comprises the London Plan (March 2016) and the 
Bromley Local Plan (2019). The NPPF does not change the legal status of the development 
plan. 
 

6.4 The ‘Intend to Publish’ version of draft London Plan (December 2019) is a material 
consideration in the determination of this planning application. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF 
states that decision makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according 
to: (1) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; (2) the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to relevant policies in the emerging plan; and (3) the degree of 
consistency of relevant policies to the policies in the Framework.  

  
6.5 The draft New London Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State (SoS) on 9 December 

2019, following the Examination in Public which took place in 2019. This was version of the 
London Plan which the Mayor intended to publish, having considered the report and 
recommendations of the panel of Inspectors.  

 
6.6 The London Assembly considered the draft new London Plan at a plenary meeting on 6 

February 2020 and did not exercise their power to veto the plan. 
 
6.7 After considering the ‘Intend to Publish’ Plan, on 13 March 2020 the Secretary of State for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government wrote to the Mayor identifying directed 
changes to a number of policies in the draft plan. The SoS considered these changes were 
necessary to address concerns regarding inconsistencies with national policy. The Mayor 
cannot publish the New London Plan until the directed changes have been incorporated, or 

Page 158



until alternative changes to address identified concerns have been agreed with the SoS.  
This could affect the weight given to the draft plan with regard to the directed policies.  

  
6.8 At this stage, the Council’s up-to-date Local Plan is generally considered to have primacy 

over the draft London Plan in planning determinations.  However, where no modifications 
have been directed the draft London Plan policies are capable of having significant weight 
(as seen in a recent SoS call-in decision in the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea). 
Where specific draft London Plan policies have been given particular weight in the 
determination of this application, this is discussed in this report. 
 

6.9 The application falls to be determined in accordance with the following policies:- 
 
6.10 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
  
6.11 The London Plan 
 

3.8 Housing choice 
6.13 Parking 
7.4 Local character 

 
6.12 Draft London Plan 
 

H14 Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation 
 
6.13 Bromley Local Plan 2019 
 

12 Traveller’s Accommodation 
30 Parking 
37 General Design of Development 
49 The Green Belt 

 
6.14 Bromley Supplementary Guidance   
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 1 - General Design Principles 
 

7 ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 Principle - Acceptable   
 

7.1.1 Policy 3.8 Housing Choice of The London Plan (2016) requires boroughs to  identify the 
range of needs likely to arise within their areas and ensure that (i) the accommodation 
requirements of gypsies and travellers (including travelling show people) are identified and 
addressed, with sites identified in line with national policy, in coordination with neighbouring 
boroughs and districts as appropriate. 

 

7.1.2 Policy H14 Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation of the Draft London Plan (2019) requires 
Boroughs to plan to meet the identified need for permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches. 
The Secretary of State has directed changes to this policy relating to the Mayor’s definition 
of Gypsies & Travellers, and as such, limited weight can be afforded. However, an 
uncontested element of the policy advises that where Boroughs have not undertaken a 
needs assessment since 2008, the identified need should be as set out in Table 4.4. In 
Bromley’s case, this would set a need for 74 additional pitches, were it not for Bromley’s 
more recent needs assessments set out below. 
 

Page 159



7.1.3 The site is allocated as a Traveller Site in Policy 12 of the Bromley Local Plan (2019) - (see 
also Appendix 10.3 Site 19). Policy 12 advises that “the Council will seek to meet the 
identified need for provision by first considering the potential within allocated traveller 
sites”. 
 

7.1.4 The need for traveller pitches was most recently assessed in 2016 as part of the evidence 
base for the then draft Local Plan which met the ‘current assessed need’ at that time 
through the Local Plan allocations. The 2016 assessment also suggested a need for an 
additional 6 pitches by 2021 and a subsequent need for 13–14 pitches for the remainder of 
the plan period to 2031. 
 

7.1.5 The Local Plan evidence base also included a Site Assessment paper which looked at the 
potential of the proposed allocated sites at that time for allocation to accommodate 
projected future need (necessary for a sound Local Plan). Table 5 of the evidence base 
indicated a potential for an additional 2 pitches on this site which matches what is currently 
proposed. The Local Plan allocations and the supporting evidence were found sound and 
the Local Plan was adopted in 2019. 
 

7.1.6 The proposal for 3 pitches on this allocated traveller site accords with the intention of Policy 
12 which seeks to address needs firstly within existing sites. The proposal for 3 pitches 
would not result in an overdevelopment of this traveller site but reflects the potential 
indicated within the site assessments presented to the Local Plan Inspector when the Plan 
was being examined. 
 

7.2 Green Belt – Acceptable 
 

7.2.1 Whilst the site lies within the Green Belt, it has been allocated as an inset in the Green Belt 
for a Traveller site, and although the use of the site would intensify with the introduction of 
two additional Traveller pitches, the proposals would not result in a material change of use 
of land within the Green Belt. 

 
7.2.2 Policy 12 of the BLP requires proposals for new development within allocated traveller sites 

to be sensitively located and landscaped in order to minimise adverse impacts on the visual 
amenity of the site and adjoining land in the Green Belt.  

  
7.2.3 The proposed additional pitches have been sensitively located within the site with the 

amenity blocks provided next to each other in a double block, and appropriate landscaped 
areas have been provided. The proposals are not therefore considered to have a significant 
detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the Green Belt. 

 

7.3 Residential Amenity – Acceptable 
 

7.3.1 The site lies within a small residential enclave, and the proposals are not considered to 
result in any undue loss of light, privacy or prospect to neighbouring properties. 

 
7.3.2 Neighbours have raised concerns about increased noise and disturbance and health and 

safety risk from the intensification of the use of the site, but this is a large site with good 
separations maintained to neighbouring residential properties. No undue noise disturbance 
or health and safety risks would therefore occur.  
 

7.4 Highways – Acceptable/Unacceptable 
 

Page 160



7.4.1 No highways objections are raised to the proposals so long as adequate sightlines are 
provided at the entrance. 

 

7.5 Other matters 
 

7.5.1 In relation to queries raised from local residents regarding the site boundary, the site 
location plan appears to match the allocated Traveller Site. 

 

8 CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 The proposals would not result in an overdevelopment of this Traveller site, and would not 
have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the Green Belt, nor unduly affect the 
amenities of neighbouring residential properties or parking and traffic in surrounding roads. 
 

8.2 Conditions are recommended to secure an acceptable form of development which protects 
the amenities of the Green Belt and highway safety. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Application Permitted 

 
Subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. Standard time limit of 3 years 
2. Standard compliance with approved plans 
3. Scheme for surface water drainage 
4. Landscaping (Soft and Hard) and boundary details 
5. Car parking details to be implemented 
6. Provision of Sight Lines 
7. Restrict number of caravans 

 8. Restrict weight of vehicles 
     

Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Assistant Director of     
Planning      
 

Page 161



Page 162



The Hurlstone Partnership 

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, KENT, BR8 7QN 
JPH/210202/D1 
July 2021 

i

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, 
KENT, BR8 7QN 

Document Status –1st Draft 

Produced by: - - - - - - J P Hurlstone Date: July 2021 

Transportation Planning, Highway Design and Environmental Assessment 

Page 163



The Hurlstone Partnership 

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, KENT, BR8 7QN 
JPH/210202/D1 
July 2021 

ii

CONTENTS 

APPENDICES 

JPH-A e-mail correspondence 
JPH-B Manual for Streets / Manual for Streets 2 Extracts  
JPH-C Speed Survey Summaries 
JPH-D Figure 1 

Page 164



The Hurlstone Partnership 

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, KENT, BR8 7QN 
JPH/210202/D1 
July 2021 

Appendix JPH-A 

e-mail correspondence

Page 165



Page 166



2
Page 167



3
Page 168



1

Jeremy Hurlstone

From: Hammond, Mike 
Sent: 22 April 2021 14:54
To: Jeremy Hurlstone
Subject: RE: 20/02234/FULL1 - Rosedale, Hockenden Lane, Swanley

Good afternoon Jeremy, 

Further to our telephone conversation, I can confirm that I am OK with the ATC’s going down now 
to establish the traffic speeds and hence the sightline requirements. 

Kind regards 

Mike 

Mike Hammond 
Highway Development Engineer  
Place Department 
London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, BR1 3UH 
www.bromley.gov.uk  

From: Jeremy Hurlstone Sent: 22 April 2021 11:49 
To: Hammond, Mike 
Subject: 20/02234/FULL1 - Rosedale, Hockenden Lane, Swanley 
Importance: High 

Dear Mike, 

Your colleague kindly provided your contact details and I called and left a voice message about this.  As you are 
probably aware, despite no objection from the Highway Authority, planning permission was refused on highway 
grounds (see reason 2 of attached notice).  I have been instructed to review the refusal and to prepare evidence for 
an appeal which is to be lodged.  I visited the site on 8th April (when the road was closed to the north). 

On the basis that the reason for refusal suggests the visibility is inadequate, despite the evidence of use and lack of 
injury accidents indicating otherwise, which is unsurprising based on the forward visibility splays I measured and 
the posted speed limit.  However, the lateral visibility is restricted to a degree by existing vegetation, which the 
applicant can sort out.  However, the extent of vegetation to be trimmed / removed/set-back will obviously depend 
upon traffic speeds.  To establish those I propose to instruct the installation of a couple of ATCs for a week.  I am 
hoping that now the schools are back and shops are open again, the Highway Authority would be content if the 
surveys are undertaken and that the data recorded would be an acceptable basis to work from.  I do not want to 
undertake surveys if the data would be considered unacceptable or unrepresentative.  Hockenden Lane has now 
been open for a couple of weeks following its temporary closure. 

I trust the foregoing is acceptable and look forward to hearing from you.  Should you have any queries or wish to 
discuss this, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Page 169



2

Kind regards 

Jeremy Hurlstone 
The Hurlstone Partnership Limited 
Tel:  

Page 170



The Hurlstone Partnership 

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, KENT, BR8 7QN 
JPH/210202/D1 
July 2021 

APPENDIX JPH-B 

Manual for Streets / Manual for Streets 2 Extracts  

Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



The Hurlstone Partnership 
 

 

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, KENT, BR8 7QN  
JPH/210202/D1  
July 2021  

 

Appendix JPH-C 
 

Speed Survey Summaries 
  

Page 185



10430

Site Location Start Date End Date Average 

85%ile Speed

Average  

Mean Speed

Tue 11-May-21 Mon 17-May-21 3884 616 555 25.7 22.1

Tue 11-May-21 Mon 17-May-21 3206 503 458 25.1 21.1

Site No: 

10430001

Site 1 - Hockenden Lane, 

Swanley                             

W of Cookham Rd            

51.401983  0.149525

30

SWANLEY

MAY 2021

Direction

Channel: Eastbound

Channel: Westbound

5 Day Ave. 7 Day Ave.

Total 

Vehicles

Posted 

Speed 

Limit 

(PSL)

1 of 1
Data produced by 

Auto Surveys Ltd

P
age 186



P
age 187



10430

Site Location Start Date End Date Average 

85%ile Speed

Average  

Mean Speed

Tue 11-May-21 Mon 17-May-21 4307 681 615 31.0 25.2

Tue 11-May-21 Mon 17-May-21 3607 565 515 32.7 26.7

Site No: 

10430002

Site 2 - Hockenden Lane, 

Swanley                              

E of Cookham Rd       

51.402016   0.150700

30

SWANLEY

MAY 2021

Direction

Channel: Eastbound

Channel: Westbound

5 Day Ave. 7 Day Ave.

Total 

Vehicles

Posted 

Speed 

Limit 

(PSL)

1 of 1
Data produced by 

Auto Surveys Ltd

P
age 188



P
age 189



The Hurlstone Partnership 
 

 

APPEAL BY CRIMEA JONES - ROSEDALE, HOCKENDEN LANE, SWANLEY, KENT, BR8 7QN  
JPH/210202/D1  
July 2021  

 

Appendix JPH-D 
 

Figure 1 

 

Page 190



P
age 191



T
his page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	3 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 3rd FEBRUARY 2022
	Minutes

	4.1 (17/02468/CONDT8) - St Hugh's Playing Fields, Bickley Road, Bromley
	Community use statement 2016.pdf
	St Hugh's Playing Fields - Updated

	4.2 (20/05047/FULL1) - Woodhayes, 76A The Avenue, Beckenham, BR3 5ES
	Map for Item 4.2--76 The Avenue

	4.3 (20/05254/FULL1) 85A Royston Road, SE20 7QW.
	85 Royston Road

	4.4 (21/02546/FULL1) - Land Opposite Econ House, Old Maidstone Road, Sidcup, Bromley
	Land Opposite Econ House

	4.5 (21/04122/FULL1) - 2 Bromley Avenue, BR1 4BQ
	2 Bromley Avenue

	4.6 (21/05366/FULL1) - 66 High Street, Beckenham, BR3 1ED
	66 High Street

	4.7 (20/02234/FULL1) - Rosedale, Hockenden Lane, Swanley, BR8 7QN
	Supplementary Committee Report 31 March 2022
	Committee Report - Appendix 1
	Highway Statement - Appendix 2




